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Introduction 
 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) represents the future of financial 
accounting and reporting in the United States. Most of the world already communicates with 
investors and stakeholders about corporate financial performance in the language of IFRS. The 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and its U.S. equivalent (the FASB) have made 
commitments towards the convergence of U.S. GAAP and IFRS, and are working to eliminate 
as many differences between the two Standards as possible. The Securities and Exchange 
Commission has endorsed the outright adoption of IFRS in the United States. This growing 
acceptance of IFRS as a basis for U.S. financial reporting represents a fundamental change for 
the U.S. accounting profession. 
 
This course provides an introductory overview of International Financial Reporting Standards, 
including detailed discussions of the impact that IFRS will have on U.S. businesses. This course 
also includes comprehensive reviews of the IASB structure and its standard-setting process, the 
basic framework that serves as the foundation for IFRS, and the differences that exist between 
U.S. GAAP and IFRS.  
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Chapter 1: Introduction to IFRS 
 
Learning Objectives: 
 
After studying this chapter, participants should be able to: 
 

• Define “IFRS.” 
• Describe the IASB Structure and the roles that each governing body serves 

within the Structure. 
• Explain the due process followed by the IASB when developing and issuing 

IFRS. 
 
1.1 The IASB Structure 
 
Exhibit 1.1 – The IASB Structure 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IFRS Foundation 
22 Trustees, Appoint, Oversee, Raise Funds 

International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) 

Set technical agenda, Approve Standards, 
Exposure Drafts and Interpretations 

International 
Financial Reporting 

Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) 

Standards Advisory 
Council (SAC) 

 
 

Working Groups 
For major agenda topics 

 
  Appoints 
    

Reports to 
    

Advises 
 
 
1.1.1 IFRS FOUNDATION 
 
The IFRS Foundation, (formerly known as the International Accounting Standards 
Committee Foundation), was founded in February 2001 and is currently governed by a 
board of 22 trustees, including a minimum of six representatives each from North 
America, Europe, and Asia.  
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The objectives of the IFRS Foundation are:  
 

a) To develop, in the public interest, a single set of high quality, understandable and 
enforceable global accounting standards that require high quality, transparent 
and comparable information in financial statements and other financial reporting 
to help participants in the world's capital markets and other users make economic 
decisions; 

 
b) To promote the use and rigorous application of those standards; and 
 
c) In fulfilling the objectives associated with (a) and (b), to take account of, as 

appropriate, the special needs of small and medium-sized entities and emerging 
economies; and 

 
d) To bring about convergence of national accounting standards and International 

Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards to high 
quality solutions. 

 
The responsibilities of the IFRS Foundation include: 
  

• Appointing the members of the IASB, the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee and the Standards Advisory Council; 

 
• Reviewing annually the strategy of the IFRS Foundation and the IASB and its 

effectiveness, including consideration, but not determination, of the IASB's 
agenda; 

 
• Reviewing broad strategic issues affecting accounting standards;  

 
• Promoting the IFRS Foundation and its work and promoting the objective of 

rigorous application of International Accounting Standards and International 
Financial Reporting Standards, provided that the Trustees shall be excluded from 
involvement in technical matters relating to accounting standards; 

 
• Establishing and amending operating procedures, consultative arrangements and 

due process for the IASB, the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee and the Standards Advisory Council; 

 
• Exercising all powers of the IFRS Foundation except for those expressly 

reserved to the IASB, the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee and the Standards Advisory Council;  

 
• Fostering and reviewing the development of educational programs and materials 

that are consistent with the IFRS Foundation's objectives.  
 
1.1.2 INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD (IASB) 
 
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), based in London, began 
operations in 2001. The Board is selected, overseen and funded by the IFRS 
Foundation. The IASB is committed to developing, in the public interest, global 
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accounting standards that require transparent and comparable information in general 
purpose financial statements. In pursuit of this objective, the IASB cooperates with 
national accounting standard-setters to achieve convergence in accounting standards 
around the world.  
 
The IASB members have a broad range of professional responsibilities throughout the 
world. Current members include: 
 

• Hans Hoogervorst, Chairman-Elect (Netherlands) – Mr. Hoogervorst 
succeeded Sir David Tweedie as chairman of the IASB in June 2011. Mr. 
Hoogervorst is a former chairman of the executive board, the Netherlands 
Authority for the Financial Markets (AFM), chairman of the IOSCO technical 
committee, co-chair of the Financial Crisis Advisory Group to the International 
Accounting Standards Board and chair of the IFRS Foundation Monitoring Board. 
 

• Ian Mackintosh, Vice Chairman-Elect (Australia) – Former chair of the UK 
Accounting Standards Board. He stepped down from this position in order to join 
the IASB in July 2011. 

 
• Stephen Cooper (UK) – Managing Director and head of valuation and 

accounting research at UBS Investment Bank. 
 

• Philippe Danjou (France) – former director in the accounting division of the 
AMF (the French version of the SEC). 
 

• Martin Edelmann (Germany) – former member of the German Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) from 2006 until 2011. He is a former Head of Group 
Reporting at Deutsch Bank AG, where he was responsible for internal and 
external reporting activities between 1997 and 2011. He will join the IASB in July 
2012. 

 
• Jan Engstrom (Sweden) – former executive at the Volvo Group. 

 
• Prabhakar Kalavacherla (India) – former partner at KPMG LLP. 

 
• John T. Smith (USA) – former partner at Deloitte & Touche and former member 

of FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) and Derivatives Implementation 
Group (DIG). 

 
• Zhang Wei-Guo (China) – former Chief Accountant of the China Securities 

Regulatory Commission (CSRC) and former Professor at the Shanghai 
University of Finance and Economics. 
 

• Patrick Finnegan (USA) – former Director of the Financial Reporting Policy 
Group at CFA Institute Centre for Financial Market Integrity. 
 

• Amaro Luiz de Oliveira Gomes (Brazil) – former Head of Financial System 
Regulation Department of the Central Bank of Brazil. 
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• Patricia McConnell (USA) – former Senior Managing Director in Equity 
Research and Accounting, and Tax Policy Analyst for Bear Stearns & Co. 
 

• Takatsugu Ochi (Japan) – former Assistant General Manager, Financial 
Resources Management Group of Sumitomo Corporation. He was also a 
member of the IFRS Interpretations Committee. He joined the IASB in July 2011. 
 

• Paul Pacter (USA) – Director in the Global IFRS Office of Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu in Hong Kong; IASB membership effective July 2010. 
 

• Darrel Scott (South Africa) – CFO of the FirstRand Banking Group, one of the 
largest financial institutions in South Africa; IASB membership effective October 
2010. 
 

• Chungwoo Suh – currently serves as an advisor to the Korea Accounting 
Standards Board (KASB) and is a Professor of Accounting at Kookmin 
University, Seoul. He will join the IASB in July 2012. 

 
Within the IFRS Foundation structure, the IASB has complete responsibility for all IFRS 
Foundation technical matters including the preparation and issuing of International 
Accounting Standards and Exposure Drafts, both of which include any dissenting 
opinions, and final approval of Interpretations by the Standing Interpretations Committee. 
The IASB has full discretion over the technical agenda of the IFRS Foundation and over 
project assignments on technical matters.  
 
1.1.3 INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING INTERPRETATIONS COMMITTEE 
(IFRIC) 
 
The International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) is 
appointed by the Trustees to assist the IASB in establishing and improving standards of 
financial accounting and reporting for the benefit of users, preparers and auditors of 
financial statements. The Trustees established the IFRIC in March 2002, when it 
replaced the previous interpretations committee, the Standing Interpretation Committee 
(SIC). The role of the IFRIC is to provide timely guidance on newly identified financial 
reporting issues not specifically addressed in IFRS or issues where unsatisfactory or 
conflicting interpretations have developed, or seem likely to develop. It thus promotes 
the rigorous and uniform application of IFRS. The U.S. (FASB) equivalent to the IFRIC 
would be the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF). 
 
1.1.4 STANDARDS ADVISORY COUNCIL (SAC) 
 
The Standards Advisory Council (SAC) provides a forum for participation by 
organizations and individuals with an interest in international financial reporting, and 
diverse geographical and functional backgrounds. The objectives of the SAC are to: (1) 
give the IASB advice on agenda decisions and priorities in its work, (2) inform the IASB 
of the views of SAC members on major standard-setting projects, and (3) give other 
advice to the IASB or the Trustees. 
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REVIEW QUESTIONS 1.1 
 
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of 
the information presented in the chapter. They do not need to be submitted in order to 
receive CPE credit. They are included as an additional tool to enhance your learning 
experience. 
 
We recommend that you answer each review question and then compare your response to 
the suggested solution before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter. 
 
1. A new international accounting standard has been proposed for the recognition of 

revenue. Which of the following best describes the role that a trustee of the IFRS 
Foundation would have in this process: 
  
a) drafting the new accounting standard 
b) issuing a discussion paper related to the topic of revenue recognition 
c) establishing the IASB’s policies and procedures for developing the new 

accounting standard 
d) formally adding the item to the IASB’s agenda 
 

2. The Controller at ABC Co. is currently researching an inconsistency in the 
accounting for one of the Company’s products. Two separate IFRS accounting 
standards address the accounting for this product; however, each standard appears 
to give conflicting guidance on how to properly reflect the revenue generated from 
sales of this product. When assessing whether the IASB is aware of this financial 
reporting issue, the Controller should review: 
 
a) the SEC Roadmap 
b) the mission statement of the IFRS Foundation 
c) the meeting minutes of the IFRIC 
d) the IASB due process handbook 
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES 1.1 
 

1. A: Incorrect. Drafting new accounting standards is the responsibility of the IASB. The 
IFRS Foundation has no direct involvement in this process. 

 
B: Incorrect. The issuance of discussion papers is handled by the IASB. The IFRS 
Foundation has no direct involvement in this process. 

 
C: Correct. A trustee of the IFRS Foundation would be involved in establishing the 
IASB’s policies and procedures for developing the new accounting standard. 

 
D: Incorrect. Setting the technical agenda of the IASB is the responsibility of the 
IASB. The IFRS Foundation has no direct involvement in this process. 
 
(See page 1-2 of the course material.) 
 

 
2. A: Incorrect. The SEC Roadmap would not provide this information. This document is 

a proposal outlining seven milestones that would influence the SEC’s decision on 
whether to formally adopt IFRS in the United States. 

 
B: Incorrect. The mission statement of the IFRS Foundation would not provide this 
information. 

 
C: Correct. The role of the IFRIC is to provide timely guidance on newly identified 
financial reporting issues not specifically addressed in IFRS or issues where 
unsatisfactory or conflicting interpretations have developed, or seem likely to 
develop. Therefore, the IFRIC meeting minutes would be the best source to 
determine whether or not the IASB is aware of a particular accounting issue. 

 
D: Incorrect. The IASB due process handbook would not provide this information. 
This handbook merely outlines the general process in which international accounting 
standards are issued. 
 
(See page 1-4 of the course material.) 
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1.2 IASB Due Process 
 
The IASB’s standard-setting process is comprised of six stages, with the Trustees 
having the opportunity to ensure compliance at various points throughout the process. 
 
1.2.1 SETTING THE AGENDA 
 
When developing accounting standards, the IASB seeks to address the demand for high 
quality information that is of value to all users of financial statements. The IASB believes 
that better quality information will also be of value to preparers of financial statements. 
 
The IASB evaluates the merits of adding potential items to its agenda mainly by 
considering the needs of financial statement users. 
 
The IASB considers: 
 

• The relevance to users of the information and the reliability of information that 
could be provided. 

 
• Existing guidance available. 

 
• The possibility of increasing convergence. 

 
• The quality of the standard to be developed. 

 
• Resource constraints. 

 
To assist the IASB in considering its future agenda, the IASB staff members are asked 
to identify, review and raise issues that might warrant the Board’s attention. New issues 
may also arise from a change in the IASB’s conceptual framework. In addition, the IASB 
raises and discusses potential agenda items in light of comments from other standard-
setters and other interested parties (including the FASB), the SAC and the IFRIC, 
and staff research and other recommendations. 
 
In addition, the IASB often receives requests from constituents to interpret, review or 
amend existing publications. Staff members consider all such requests, summarize 
major or common issues raised, and present them to the IASB. 
 
IASB Meetings 
  
The IASB’s discussion of potential projects and its decisions to adopt new projects take 
place in public IASB meetings. 
  
Before reaching such decisions the IASB consults the SAC and accounting standard-
setting bodies on proposed agenda items and setting priorities. In making decisions 
regarding its agenda priorities, the IASB also considers factors related to its 
convergence initiatives with accounting standard-setters.  
 
The IASB’s approval to add agenda items, as well as its decisions on their priority, is 
decided by a simple majority vote. 
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1.2.2 PROJECT PLANNING 
 
When adding an item to its active agenda, the IASB also decides whether to conduct the 
project alone or jointly with another standard-setter. Similar due process is followed 
under both approaches. 
 
After considering the nature of the issues and the level of interest among constituents, 
the IASB may establish a working group at this stage. 
 
The Director of Technical Activities and the Director of Research, the two most senior 
members of the technical staff, select a project team for the project, and the project 
manager draws up a project plan under the supervision of those Directors. The project 
team may also include members of staff from other accounting standard-setters, as 
deemed appropriate by the IASB. 
 
1.2.3 DEVELOPMENT AND PUBLICATION OF A DISCUSSION PAPER  
 
Although a discussion paper is not a mandatory step in its due process, the IASB 
normally publishes a discussion paper as its first publication on any major new topic as a 
vehicle to explain the issue and solicit early comment from constituents. If the IASB 
decides to omit this step, it will state its reasons. 
 
Typically, a discussion paper includes a comprehensive overview of the issue, possible 
approaches in addressing the issue, the preliminary views of its authors or the IASB, and 
an invitation to comment. This approach may differ if another accounting standard-setter 
develops the research paper. 
 
Discussion papers may result either from a research project being conducted by another 
accounting standard-setter or as the first stage of an active agenda project carried out by 
the IASB. In the first case, the discussion paper is drafted by another accounting 
standard-setter and published by the IASB. Issues related to the discussion paper are 
discussed in IASB meetings, and publication of such a paper requires a simple majority 
vote by the IASB. If the discussion paper includes the preliminary views of other authors, 
the IASB reviews the draft discussion paper to ensure that its analysis is an appropriate 
basis on which to invite public comments. 
 
For discussion papers on agenda items that are under the IASB’s direction, or include 
the IASB’s preliminary views, the IASB develops the paper or its views on the basis of 
analysis drawn from staff research and recommendations, as well as suggestions made 
by the SAC, working groups and accounting standard-setters and presentations from 
invited parties. All discussions of technical issues related to the draft paper take place in 
public sessions. 
 
When the draft is completed and the IASB has approved it for publication, the discussion 
paper is published to invite public comment. The IASB normally allows a period of 120 
days for comment on a discussion paper, but may allow a longer period on major 
projects (which are those projects involving pervasive or difficult conceptual or practical 
issues). 
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After the comment period has ended the project team analyses and summarizes the 
comment letters for the IASB’s consideration. Comment letters are posted on the IASB 
website. In addition, a summary of the comments is posted on the website as a part of 
IASB meeting observer notes. 
 
If the IASB decides to explore the issues further, it may seek additional comment and 
suggestions by conducting field visits, or by arranging public hearings and round-table 
meetings. 
 
1.2.4 DEVELOPMENT AND PUBLICATION OF AN EXPOSURE DRAFT 
 
Publication of an exposure draft is a mandatory step in due process. Irrespective of 
whether the IASB has published a discussion paper, an exposure draft is the IASB’s 
main vehicle for consulting the public. Unlike a discussion paper, an exposure draft sets 
out a specific proposal in the form of a proposed standard (or amendment to an existing 
standard). 
 
The development of an exposure draft begins with the IASB considering issues on the 
basis of staff research and recommendations, as well as comments received on any 
discussion paper, and suggestions made by the SAC, working groups and accounting 
standard-setters, and arising from public education sessions. 
 
After resolving issues at its meetings, the IASB instructs the staff to draft the exposure 
draft. When the draft has been completed, and the IASB has voted on it, the IASB 
publishes it for public comment. 
 
An exposure draft contains an invitation to comment on a draft standard, or amendment 
to a standard, that proposes requirements on recognition, measurement and 
disclosures. The draft may also include mandatory application guidance and 
implementation guidance, and will be accompanied by a basis for conclusions on the 
proposals and the alternative views of dissenting IASB members (if any). 
 
The IASB normally allows a period of 120 days for comment on an exposure draft. If the 
matter is exceptionally urgent, the document is short, and the IASB believes that there is 
likely to be a broad consensus on the topic, the IASB may consider a comment period of 
no less than 30 days. For major projects, the IASB will normally allow a period of more 
than 120 days for comments. 
 
The project team collects, summarizes and analyzes the comments received for the 
IASB’s deliberation. A summary of the comments is posted on the website as a part of 
IASB meeting observer notes. 
 
After the comment period ends, the IASB reviews the comment letters received and the 
results of other consultations. As a means of exploring the issues further, and soliciting 
further comments and suggestions, the IASB may conduct field visits, or arrange public 
hearings and round-table meetings. The IASB is required to consult the SAC and 
maintains contact with various groups of constituents. 
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1.2.5 DEVELOPMENT AND PUBLICATION OF AN IFRS 
 
The development of an IFRS is carried out during IASB meetings, when the IASB 
considers the comments received on the exposure draft. Changes from the exposure 
draft are posted on the IASB website. 
 
After resolving issues arising from the exposure draft, the IASB considers whether it 
should expose its revised proposals for public comment, for example by publishing a 
second exposure draft. 
 
In considering the need for re-exposure, the IASB: 
 

• Identifies substantial issues that emerged during the comment period on the 
exposure draft that it had not previously considered. 

 
• Assesses the evidence that it has considered. 

 
• Evaluates whether it has sufficiently understood the issues and actively sought 

the views of constituents. 
 

• Considers whether the various viewpoints were aired in the exposure draft and 
adequately discussed and reviewed in the basis for conclusions on the exposure 
draft. 

 
The IASB’s decision on whether to publish its revised proposals for another round of 
comment is made in an IASB meeting. If the IASB decides that re-exposure is 
necessary, the due process to be followed is the same as for the first exposure draft. 
 
When the IASB is satisfied that it has reached a conclusion on the issues arising from 
the exposure draft, it instructs the staff to draft the IFRS. A pre-ballot draft is usually 
subject to external review, normally by the IFRIC. Finally, after the due process is 
completed, all outstanding issues are resolved, and the IASB members have voted in 
favor of publication, the IFRS is issued.  
 
1.2.6 PROCEDURES AFTER AN IFRS IS ISSUED 
 
After an IFRS is issued, the staff and the IASB members hold regular meetings with 
interested parties, including other standard-setting bodies, to help understand 
unanticipated issues related to the practical implementation and potential impact of its 
proposals. The IFRS Foundation also fosters educational activities to ensure 
consistency in the application of IFRSs. 
 
After a suitable time, the IASB may consider initiating studies in the light of: 
 

a) Its review of the IFRS’s application, 
 

b) Changes in the financial reporting environment and regulatory requirements, and 
 

c) Comments by the SAC, the IFRIC, standard-setters and constituents about the 
quality of the IFRS. 
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Those studies may result in items being added to the IASB’s agenda. 
 
1.3 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) are Standards and Interpretations 
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). They comprise: 
 

a) International Financial Reporting Standards; 
 

b) International Accounting Standards; and 
  

c) Interpretations developed by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) or the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC). 

 
Exhibit 1.2 below provides a summary of the provisions of all International Financial 
Reporting Standards in issue as of June 2011. 
 
Exhibit 1.2 – Summary of International Financial Reporting Standards 
 

Standard 
 

Objective / Core Principle 

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 
International Financial 
Reporting Standards 
 

To prescribe the procedures when an entity adopts 
IFRSs for the first time as the basis for preparing its 
general purpose financial statements. 

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment To prescribe the accounting for transactions in which an 
entity receives or acquires goods or services either as 
consideration for its equity instruments or by incurring 
liabilities for amounts based on the price of the entity’s 
shares or other equity instruments of the entity. 
 

IFRS 3 (2008) Business 
Combinations 

An acquirer of a business recognizes the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition-date 
fair values and discloses information that enables users 
to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the 
acquisition. 
 

IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts To prescribe the financial reporting for insurance 
contracts until the IASB completes the second phase of 
its project on insurance contracts. 
 

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations 
 

To prescribe the accounting for non-current assets held 
for sale, and the presentation and disclosure of 
discontinued operations. 

IFRS 6 Exploration for and 
Evaluation of Mineral 
Resources 
 

To prescribe the financial reporting for the exploration 
for and evaluation of mineral resources until the IASB 
completes a comprehensive project in this area. 
 

IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures 

To prescribe disclosures that enable financial statement 
users to evaluate the significance of financial 
instruments to an entity, the nature and extent of their 
risks, and how the entity manages those risks. 
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IFRS 8 Operating Segments An entity shall disclose information to enable users of 
its financial statements to evaluate the nature and 
financial effects of the business activities in which it 
engages and the economic environments in which it 
operates. 
 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments To establish principles for recognizing and measuring 
financial assets. This Standard serves to replace the 
existing guidance on financial instruments (IAS 39). 
 

IFRS 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

To establish principles for the presentation and 
preparation of consolidated financial statements when 
an entity controls one or more other entities. 
 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements To establish principles for financial reporting by entities 
that have an interest in arrangements that are 
controlled jointly (i.e., joint arrangements). 
 

IFRS 12 Disclosures of 
Interest in Other Entities 

To require an entity to disclose information that enables 
users of its financial statements to evaluate: (a) the 
nature of, and risks associated with, its interests in 
other entities; and (b) the effects of those interests on 
its financial position, financial performance, and cash 
flows. 

IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement 

To define fair value, provide a single IFRS framework 
for measuring fair value, and require disclosures about 
fair value measurement. 

IAS 1 (2007) Presentation of 
Financial Statements 

To set out the overall framework for presenting general 
purpose financial statements, including guidelines for 
their structure and the minimum content. 
 

IAS 2 Inventories To prescribe the accounting treatment for inventories, 
including cost determination and expense recognition. 
 

IAS 7 Statement of Cash 
Flows 

To require the presentation of information about 
historical changes in an entity’s cash and cash 
equivalents by means of a statement of cash flows that 
classifies cash flows during the period according to 
operating, investing and financing activities. 
 

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and 
Errors 
 

To prescribe the criteria for selecting and changing 
accounting policies, together with the accounting 
treatment and disclosure of changes in accounting 
policies, changes in estimates, and errors. 
 

IAS 10 Events after the 
Reporting Period 

To prescribe: 
 

 When an entity should adjust its financial 
statements for events after the end of the 
reporting period; and 

 
 Disclosures about the date when the financial 

statements were authorized for issue, and 
about events after the end of the reporting 
period. 
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IAS 11 Construction 
Contracts 

To prescribe the accounting treatment for revenue and 
costs associated with construction contracts in the 
financial statements of the contractor. 
 

IAS 12 Income Taxes To prescribe the accounting treatment for income taxes. 
 
To establish the principles and provide guidance in 
accounting for the current and future tax consequences 
of: 
 

 The future recovery (settlement) of carrying 
amounts of assets (liabilities) recognized in an 
entity’s statement of financial position, and 

 
 Transactions and other events of the current 

period that are recognized in an entity’s 
financial statements. 

 
IAS 16 Property, Plant and 
Equipment 

To prescribe the principles for the initial recognition and 
subsequent accounting for property, plant and 
equipment. 
 

IAS 17 Leases To prescribe, for lessees and lessors, the appropriate 
accounting policies and disclosures for finance and 
operating leases. 
 

IAS 18 Revenue To prescribe the accounting treatment for revenue 
arising from sales of goods, rendering of services and 
from interest, royalties and dividends. 
 

IAS 19 Employee Benefits To prescribe the accounting and disclosure for 
employee benefits, including short-term benefits 
(wages, annual leave, sick leave, annual profit-sharing, 
bonuses and non-monetary benefits); pensions; post-
employment life insurance and medical benefits; other 
long-term employee benefits (long-service leave, 
disability, deferred compensation, and long-term profit-
sharing and bonuses), and termination benefits. 
 

IAS 20 Accounting for 
Government Grants and 
Disclosure of Government 
Assistance 
 

To prescribe the accounting for, and disclosure of, 
government grants and other forms of government 
assistance. 

IAS 21 The Effects of 
Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates 
 

To prescribe the accounting treatment for an entity’s 
foreign currency transactions and foreign operations. 

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs To prescribe the accounting treatment for borrowing 
costs. 
 

IAS 24 (2009) Related Party 
Disclosures 

To ensure that financial statements draw attention to 
the possibility that the financial position and results of 
operations may have been affected by the existence of 
related parties. 
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IAS 26 Accounting and 
Reporting by Retirement 
Benefit Plans 
 

To specify the measurement and disclosure principles 
for the financial reports of retirement benefit plans. 

IAS 27 (2008) Consolidated 
and Separate Financial 
Statements 

To prescribe: 
 

 Requirements for preparing and presenting 
consolidated financial statements for a group of 
entities under the control of a parent; 

 
 How to account for changes in the level of 

ownership interests in subsidiaries, including 
the loss of control of a subsidiary; and 

 
 How to account for investments in subsidiaries, 

jointly controlled entities and associates in 
separate financial statements. 

 
IAS 28 Investments in 
Associates 

To prescribe the investor’s accounting for investments 
in associates over which it has significant influence. 
 

IAS 29 Financial Reporting in 
Hyperinflationary Economies 

To prescribe specific standards for entities reporting in 
the currency of a hyperinflationary economy, so that the 
financial information provided is meaningful. 
 

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation 

To prescribe principles for classifying and presenting 
financial instruments as liabilities or equity, and for 
offsetting financial assets and liabilities. 
 

IAS 33 Earnings per Share To prescribe principles for determining and presenting 
earnings per share (EPS) amounts in order to improve 
performance comparisons between different entities in 
the same period and between different accounting 
periods for the same entity. Focus of IAS 33 is on the 
denominator of the EPS calculation. 
 

IAS 34 Interim Financial 
Reporting 

To prescribe the minimum content of an interim 
financial report and the recognition and measurement 
principles for an interim financial report. 
 

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets To ensure that assets are carried at no more than their 
recoverable amount, and to prescribe how recoverable 
amount is calculated. 
 

IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets 

To prescribe criteria for recognizing and measuring 
provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets, 
and to ensure that sufficient information is disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements to enable users to 
understand their nature, timing and amount. 
 

IAS 38 Intangible Assets To prescribe the accounting treatment for recognizing, 
measuring and disclosing all intangible assets that are 
not dealt with specifically in another IFRS. 
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IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and 
Measurement 
 

To establish principles for recognizing, derecognizing 
and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities. 

IAS 40 Investment Property 
 

To prescribe the accounting treatment for investment 
property and related disclosures. 
 

IAS 41 Agriculture To prescribe accounting for agricultural activity – the 
management of the biological transformation of 
biological assets (living plants and animals) into 
agricultural produce. 
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REVIEW QUESTIONS 1.2 
 
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of 
the information presented in the chapter. They do not need to be submitted in order to 
receive CPE credit. They are included as an additional tool to enhance your learning 
experience. 
 
We recommend that you answer each review question and then compare your response to 
the suggested solution before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter. 

 
1. The IASB has completed a joint research project with the FASB and wishes to 

publish a discussion paper that includes its findings. However, per the guidelines that 
govern IASB due process, the development and publication of such a discussion 
paper is: 
 
a) not mandatory 
b) not permitted for joint projects 
c) not normally performed with an invitation for public comment 
d) prohibited 
 

2. The IASB and FASB completed a joint research project on fair value measurements. 
Based on the conclusions reached as part of this project, the FASB issued a new 
accounting standard on fair value last year. The IASB now wishes to issue an 
exposure draft of a similar (but not identical) accounting standard. Per the guidelines 
that govern IASB due process, the development and publication of such an exposure 
draft is: 
 
a) not mandatory if the FASB has issued an identical standard 
b) not permitted 
c) not normally performed with an invitation for public comment 
d) mandatory 

 
Use the following for questions 3 and 4: The IASB has decided to propose a new 
accounting standard for financial instruments. The Board successfully completes and 
issues an exposure draft of the new standard for comment. The Board receives several 
comments from its constituents, many of whom express concern that the new standard 
is too complex and does not provide useful information to financial statement users. 

 
3. When developing the new exposure draft, the IASB is required to: 

 
a) allow a period of at least 120 days for public comment 
b) arrange public hearings and round-table meetings 
c) conduct field visits 
d) consult the Standards Advisory Council (SAC) 

 
4. After resolving the issues arising from the initial exposure draft, the IASB must: 

 
a) issue the final Standard immediately 
b) receive approval from the IFRS Foundation before issuing the final standard 
c) consider whether it should expose its revised proposals for public comment 
d) not re-expose its proposals for public comment 
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5. A staff level auditor has been assigned to audit the U.S.-based subsidiary of a 
foreign (publicly owned) bank. He is referred by his manager to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), International Accounting Standards (IASs), 
and Interpretations developed by the IFRIC as sources of authoritative guidance 
applicable to his client. These three sources are collectively referred to as: 

 
a) the IFRS Framework 
b) International Financial Reporting Standards 
c) Financial Accounting Standards 
d) the IASB Collective 
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES 1.2 
 
1. A: Correct. The development and publication of a discussion paper is not a 

mandatory step in IASB due process. 
 
B: Incorrect. Discussion papers are permitted for joint projects. 
 
C: Incorrect. Discussion papers are specifically published to invite public comment. 
 
D: Incorrect. The development and publication of discussion papers by the IASB is 
not prohibited. 
 
(See page 1-8 of the course material.) 
 
 

2. A: Incorrect. The IASB must issue an exposure draft even if the FASB has issued an 
identical standard. 

 
B: Incorrect. The development and publication of an exposure draft is required. 
 
C: Incorrect. Exposure drafts must be published to invite public comment. 

 
D: Correct. The development and publication of an exposure draft is a mandatory 
step in IASB due process. 
 
(See page 1-9 of the course material.) 
 

 
3. A: Incorrect. The IASB normally allows a period of 120 days for comment on an 

exposure draft, but it is not required to do so. In some cases, comment periods may 
be a little as 30 days.  

 
B: Incorrect. The IASB may arrange public hearings and round-table meetings, but it 
is not required to do so. 

 
C: Incorrect. The IASB may conduct field visits, but it is not required to do so. 

 
D: Correct. The IASB is required to consult the SAC as part of the exposure draft 
issuance process. 
 
(See page 1-9 of the course material.) 
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4. A: Incorrect. The IASB may reconsider the proposed Standard and publish a second 
exposure draft if necessary. 

 
B: Incorrect. The IASB may reconsider the proposed Standard and publish a second 
exposure draft if necessary. 

 
C: Correct. After resolving issues arising from the exposure draft, the IASB 
considers whether it should expose its revised proposals for public comment, for 
example by publishing a second exposure draft. 

 
D: Incorrect. The IASB is not prohibited from re-exposing its proposals for public 
comment if necessary. 
 
(See page 1-10 of the course material.) 

 
 

5. A: Incorrect. These three sets of pronouncements are not collectively known as the 
“IFRS Framework.” 

 
B: Correct. These three sets of pronouncements are collectively known as “IFRS.” 

 
C: Incorrect. These three sets of pronouncements are not collectively known as the 
“Financial Accounting Standards.” 

 
D: Incorrect. These three sets of pronouncements are not collectively known as the 
“The IASB Collective.” 
 
(See page 1-11 of the course material.) 
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CHAPTER 1 SUMMARY 
 

• International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) are Standards and 
Interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

 
• IASB Members are appointed by the IFRS Foundation. The primary objective of 

the IFRS Foundation is to develop, in the public interest, a single set of high 
quality, understandable and enforceable global accounting standards that require 
high quality, transparent and comparable information in financial statements and 
other financial reporting to help participants in the world's capital markets and 
other users make economic decisions. 

 
• The International Financial Reporting Committee (IFRIC) assists the IASB in 

establishing and improving standards of financial accounting and reporting for the 
benefit of users, preparers and auditors of financial statements. The Standards 
Advisory Council (SAC) provides the IASB with advice on agenda decisions and 
priorities in its work. 

  
• The IASB’s standard-setting process is comprised of six stages: 

 
1. Setting the agenda. This stage involves evaluating the merits of adding 

potential items to its agenda mainly by considering the needs of financial 
statement users 

 
2. Project planning. This stage involves considering the nature of the 

issues and the level of interest among constituents, as well as deciding 
whether or not to conduct the project alone or jointly with another 
standard-setter. 

 
3. Development and publication of a discussion paper. This optional 

stage involves publishing a comprehensive overview of an issue, possible 
approaches in addressing the issue, the preliminary views of its authors 
or the IASB, and an invitation to comment. 

 
4. Development and publication of an exposure draft. This mandatory 

stage sets out a specific proposal in the form of a proposed standard (or 
amendment to an existing standard). 

 
5. Development and publication of an IFRS. This stage is carried out at 

IASB meetings, and may involve issuing a revised exposure draft prior to 
final issuance. 

 
6. Procedures after an IFRS is issued. After an IFRS is issued, the staff 

and the IASB members hold regular meetings with interested parties, 
including other standard-setting bodies, to help understand unanticipated 
issues related to the practical implementation and potential impact of its 
proposals. 
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Chapter 2: IFRS Financial Statements 
 
Learning Objectives: 
 
After studying this chapter, participants should be able to: 
 

• Identify financial reports that are within the scope of the IASB Framework. 
• Recognize practices that are consistent with the underlying assumptions and 

qualitative characteristics of financial statements prepared in accordance with the 
IASB Framework. 

• List the general purpose financial statements required under IFRS and describe 
the characteristics of each statement. 

• Properly identify and classify the various elements of IFRS financial statements. 
 
2.1 Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements 
 
The IASB's Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements 
describes the basic concepts by which financial statements are prepared under IFRS. 
The Framework serves as a guide to the Board in developing accounting standards and 
as a guide to resolving accounting issues that are not addressed directly in an 
International Accounting Standard or International Financial Reporting Standard or 
Interpretation.  
 
2.1.1 PURPOSE AND STATUS 
 
The purpose of the Framework is to: 
 

a) Assist the Board in the development of future International Accounting Standards 
and in its review of existing International Accounting Standards; 

 
b) Assist the Board in promoting harmonization of regulations, accounting standards 

and procedures relating to the presentation of financial statements by providing a 
basis for reducing the number of alternative accounting treatments permitted by 
International Accounting Standards; 

 
c) Assist national standard-setting bodies in developing national standards; 
 
d) Assist preparers of financial statements in applying International Accounting 

Standards and in dealing with topics that have yet to form the subject of an 
International Accounting Standard; 

 
e) Assist auditors in forming an opinion as to whether financial statements conform 

with International Accounting Standards; 
 

f) Assist users of financial statements in interpreting the information contained in 
financial statements prepared in conformity with International Accounting 
Standards; and 
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g) Provide those who are interested in the work of the IFRS Foundation with 
information about its approach to the formulation of International Accounting 
Standards. 

 
The Framework is not an International Accounting Standard and therefore does not 
define standards for any particular measurement or disclosure issue. Nothing in the 
Framework overrides any specific International Accounting Standard. 
 
2.1.2 SCOPE 
 
The scope of the Framework includes: 
 

a) The objective of financial statements; 
b) The qualitative characteristics that determine the usefulness of information in 

financial statements; 
c) The definition, recognition and measurement of the elements from which financial 

statements are constructed; and 
d) Concepts of capital and capital maintenance. 

 
The Framework applies to general purpose financial statements, including consolidated 
financial statements. Special purpose financial reports (such as prospectuses and 
computations prepared for taxation purposes) are outside the scope of the Framework. 
Nevertheless, the Framework may be applied in the preparation of such special purpose 
reports where their requirements permit. 
 
Financial statements form part of the process of financial reporting. A complete set of 
financial statements normally includes a balance sheet, an income statement, a 
statement of changes in financial position (which may be presented in a variety of 
ways, for example, as a statement of cash flows or a statement of funds flow), and those 
notes and other statements and explanatory material that are an integral part of the 
financial statements. They may also include supplementary schedules and information 
based on or derived from, and expected to be read with, such statements. Such 
schedules and supplementary information may deal, for example, with financial 
information about industrial and geographical segments and disclosures about the 
effects of changing prices. However financial statements do not include such items as 
reports by directors, statements by the chairman, discussion and analysis by 
management and similar items that may be included in a financial or annual report. 
 
The Framework applies to the financial statements of all commercial, industrial and 
business reporting entities, whether in the public or the private sectors. A reporting entity 
is an entity for which there are users who rely on the financial statements as their major 
source of financial information about the entity. 
 
2.1.3 THE OBJECTIVE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
According to the Framework, the objective of financial statements is to provide 
information about the financial position, performance and changes in financial position of 
an entity that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic decisions. Financial 
statements prepared for this purpose meet the common needs of most users. However, 
financial statements do not provide all the information that users may need to make 
economic decisions since they largely portray the financial effects of past events and do 
not necessarily provide non-financial information. 
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Financial statements also show the results of the stewardship of management, or the 
accountability of management for the resources entrusted to it. Those users who wish to 
assess the stewardship or accountability of management do so in order that they may 
make economic decisions; these decisions may include, for example, whether to hold or 
sell their investment in the entity or whether to reappoint or replace the management. 
 
2.1.4 UNDERLYING ASSUMPTIONS 
 
The underlying assumptions of financial statements include: 
 

• Accrual basis. Financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting. Under this basis, the effects of transactions and other events are 
recognized when they occur (and not as cash or its equivalent is received or 
paid) and they are recorded in the accounting records and reported in the 
financial statements of the periods to which they relate. 

 
• Going concern. Financial statements are normally prepared on the assumption 

that an entity is a going concern and will continue in operation for the foreseeable 
future. 

 
2.1.5 QUALITATIVE CHARACTERISTICS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Qualitative characteristics are the attributes that make the information provided in 
financial statements useful to users. The four principal qualitative characteristics are: 
 

1. Understandability. Information provided in financial statements should be 
readily understandable by users. 

 
2. Relevance. Information must be relevant to the decision-making needs of users. 

The relevance of information is affected by its nature and materiality. 
 
3. Reliability. Information has the quality of reliability when it is free from material 

error and bias and can be depended upon by users to represent faithfully that 
which it either purports to represent or could reasonably be expected to 
represent. To be reliable, information must: 

 
• Represent faithfully the transactions and other events it either purports to 

represent or could reasonably be expected to represent. In order for this 
to be the case, it is necessary that the transactions are accounted for and 
presented in accordance with their substance and economic reality and 
not merely their legal form. 

 
• Be neutral, that is, free from bias.  

 
• Be complete within the bounds of materiality and cost. 

 
4. Comparability. Users must be able to compare the financial statements of an 

entity through time in order to identify trends in its financial position and 
performance. Users must also be able to compare the financial statements of 
different entities in order to evaluate their relative financial position, performance 
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and changes in financial position. Hence, the measurement and display of the 
financial effect of like transactions and other events must be carried out in a 
consistent way throughout an entity and over time for that entity and in a 
consistent way for different entities. 

 
2.1.6 THE ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Financial statements portray the financial effects of transactions and other events by 
grouping them into broad classes according to their economic characteristics. These 
broad classes are termed the elements of financial statements. The elements directly 
related to the measurement of financial position in the balance sheet are assets, 
liabilities and equity. The elements directly related to the measurement of performance 
in the income statement are income and expenses. 
 
The presentation of these elements in the balance sheet and the income statement 
involves a process of sub-classification. For example, assets and liabilities may be 
classified by their nature or function in the business of the entity in order to display 
information in the manner most useful to users for purposes of making economic 
decisions. 
 
Financial Position 
 
The elements directly related to the measurement of financial position are assets, 
liabilities and equity. These are defined as follows: 
    

a) An asset is a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from 
which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity. 

 
b) A liability is a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the 

settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow from the entity of 
resources embodying economic benefits. 

 
c) Equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its 

liabilities. 
 
Performance 
 
Profit is frequently used as a measure of performance or as the basis for other 
measures, such as return on investment or earnings per share. The elements of income 
and expenses are defined as follows: 
 

a) Income represents increases in economic benefits during the accounting period 
in the form of inflows or enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities that 
result in increases in equity, other than those relating to contributions from equity 
participants. The definition of income encompasses both revenue and gains. 

 
b) Expenses represent decreases in economic benefits during the accounting 

period in the form of outflows or depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities 
that result in decreases in equity, other than those relating to distributions to 
equity participants. The definition of expenses encompasses losses as well as 
those expenses that arise in the course of the ordinary activities of the entity.  
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2.1.7 RECOGNITION OF THE ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Recognition is the process of incorporating in the balance sheet or income statement 
an item that meets the definition of an element and satisfies the criteria for recognition 
set out in paragraph 83 of the IFRS Framework. Paragraph 83 states that an item that 
meets the definition of an element should be recognized if: 
 

a) It is probable that any future economic benefit associated with the item will flow 
to or from the entity; and 

 
b) The item has a cost or value that can be measured with reliability. 

 
In assessing whether an item meets these criteria and therefore qualifies for recognition 
in the financial statements, regard needs to be given to the materiality considerations. 
The interrelationship between the elements means that an item that meets the definition 
and recognition criteria for a particular element, for example, an asset, automatically 
requires the recognition of another element, for example, income or a liability. 
 
Recognition of Assets and Liabilities 
 

• An asset is recognized in the balance sheet when it is probable that the future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and the asset has a cost or value that 
can be measured reliably. 

 
• An asset is not recognized in the balance sheet when expenditure has been 

incurred for which it is considered improbable that economic benefits will flow to 
the entity beyond the current accounting period. Instead such a transaction 
results in the recognition of an expense in the income statement.  

 
• A liability is recognized in the balance sheet when it is probable that an outflow of 

resources embodying economic benefits will result from the settlement of a 
present obligation and the amount at which the settlement will take place can be 
measured reliably.  

 
Recognition of Income and Expenses 
 

• Income is recognized in the income statement when an increase in future 
economic benefits related to an increase in an asset or a decrease of a liability 
has arisen that can be measured reliably. This means, in effect, that recognition 
of income occurs simultaneously with the recognition of increases in assets or 
decreases in liabilities (for example, the net increase in assets arising on a sale 
of goods or services or the decrease in liabilities arising from the waiver of a debt 
payable). 

 
• Expenses are recognized in the income statement when a decrease in future 

economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an increase of a liability 
has arisen that can be measured reliably. This means, in effect, that recognition 
of expenses occurs simultaneously with the recognition of an increase in 
liabilities or a decrease in assets (for example, the accrual of employee 
entitlements or the depreciation of equipment). 
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2.1.8 MEASUREMENT OF THE ELEMENTS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Measurement is the process of determining the monetary amounts at which the 
elements of the financial statements are to be recognized and carried in the balance 
sheet and income statement. This involves the selection of the particular basis of 
measurement. 
 
A number of different measurement bases are employed to different degrees and in 
varying combinations in financial statements. They include the following: 
 

a) Historical cost. Assets are recorded at the amount of cash or cash equivalents 
paid or the fair value of the consideration given to acquire them at the time of 
their acquisition. Liabilities are recorded at the amount of proceeds received in 
exchange for the obligation, or in some circumstances (for example, income 
taxes), at the amounts of cash or cash equivalents expected to be paid to satisfy 
the liability in the normal course of business. 

 
b) Current cost. Assets are carried at the amount of cash or cash equivalents that 

would have to be paid if the same or an equivalent asset was acquired currently. 
Liabilities are carried at the undiscounted amount of cash or cash equivalents 
that would be required to settle the obligation currently. 

 
c) Realizable (settlement) value. Assets are carried at the amount of cash or cash 

equivalents that could currently be obtained by selling the asset in an orderly 
disposal. Liabilities are carried at their settlement values; that is, the 
undiscounted amounts of cash or cash equivalents expected to be paid to satisfy 
the liabilities in the normal course of business. 

 
d) Present value. Assets are carried at the present discounted value of the future 

net cash inflows that the item is expected to generate in the normal course of 
business. Liabilities are carried at the present discounted value of the future net 
cash outflows that are expected to be required to settle the liabilities in the 
normal course of business. 

 
2.1.9 CONCEPTS OF CAPITAL AND CAPITAL MAINTENANCE 
 
A financial concept of capital is adopted by most entities in preparing their financial 
statements. Under a financial concept of capital, such as invested money or invested 
purchasing power, capital is synonymous with the net assets or equity of the entity. 
Under a physical concept of capital, such as operating capability, capital is regarded as 
the productive capacity of the entity based on, for example, units of output per day. 
 
The concept of capital gives rise to the following concepts of capital maintenance: 
 

a) Financial capital maintenance. Under this concept a profit is earned only if the 
financial (or money) amount of the net assets at the end of the period exceeds 
the financial (or money) amount of net assets at the beginning of the period, after 
excluding any distributions to, and contributions from, owners during the period. 
Financial capital maintenance can be measured in either nominal monetary units 
or units of constant purchasing power. 
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b) Physical capital maintenance. Under this concept a profit is earned only if the 
physical productive capacity (or operating capability) of the entity (or the 
resources or funds needed to achieve that capacity) at the end of the period 
exceeds the physical productive capacity at the beginning of the period, after 
excluding any distributions to, and contributions from, owners during the period. 

 
The concept of capital maintenance is concerned with how an entity defines the capital 
that it seeks to maintain. It provides the linkage between the concepts of capital and the 
concepts of profit because it provides the point of reference by which profit is measured; 
it is a prerequisite for distinguishing between an entity's return on capital and its return of 
capital; only inflows of assets in excess of amounts needed to maintain capital may be 
regarded as profit and therefore as a return on capital. Hence, profit is the residual 
amount that remains after expenses (including capital maintenance adjustments, where 
appropriate) have been deducted from income. If expenses exceed income the residual 
amount is a loss. 
 
The physical capital maintenance concept requires the adoption of the current cost basis 
of measurement. The financial capital maintenance concept, however, does not require 
the use of a particular basis of measurement. Selection of the basis under this concept is 
dependent on the type of financial capital that the entity is seeking to maintain. 
 
The principal difference between the two concepts of capital maintenance is the 
treatment of the effects of changes in the prices of assets and liabilities of the entity. In 
general terms, an entity has maintained its capital if it has as much capital at the end of 
the period as it had at the beginning of the period. Any amount over and above that 
required to maintain the capital at the beginning of the period is profit. 
 
Under the concept of financial capital maintenance where capital is defined in terms of 
nominal monetary units, profit represents the increase in nominal money capital over the 
period. Thus, increases in the prices of assets held over the period, conventionally 
referred to as holding gains, are, conceptually, profits. They may not be recognized as 
such, however, until the assets are disposed of in an exchange transaction. When the 
concept of financial capital maintenance is defined in terms of constant purchasing 
power units, profit represents the increase in invested purchasing power over the period. 
Thus, only that part of the increase in the prices of assets that exceeds the increase in 
the general level of prices is regarded as profit. The rest of the increase is treated as a 
capital maintenance adjustment and, hence, as part of equity. 
 
Under the concept of physical capital maintenance when capital is defined in terms of 
the physical productive capacity, profit represents the increase in that capital over the 
period. All price changes affecting the assets and liabilities of the entity are viewed as 
changes in the measurement of the physical productive capacity of the entity; hence, 
they are treated as capital maintenance adjustments that are part of equity and not as 
profit. 
 
The selection of the measurement bases and concept of capital maintenance will 
determine the accounting model used in the preparation of the financial statements. 
Different accounting models exhibit different degrees of relevance and reliability and, as 
in other areas, management must seek a balance between relevance and reliability.  
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REVIEW QUESTIONS 2.1 
 
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of 
the information presented in the chapter. They do not need to be submitted in order to 
receive CPE credit. They are included as an additional tool to enhance your learning 
experience. 
 
We recommend that you answer each review question and then compare your response to 
the suggested solution before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter. 
 
1. The Controller at Ortiz Energy is preparing the first set of the company’s IFRS 

financial statements. Which of the following normally included in Ortiz Energy’s 
annual report would most likely be considered outside of the scope of the IASB 
Framework: 

  
a) a consolidated balance sheet 
b) a statement of cash flows prepared under the direct method 
c) a special purpose financial report prepared for regulatory purposes 
d) a note that explains the company’s methodology for determining the fair value of 

its energy derivatives 
 

2. Which of the following scenarios would most likely comply with the IFRS 
requirements for the preparation of financial statements: 

  
a) Company A prepares their financial statements using the cash basis of 

accounting 
b) Company B prepares their financial statements using the tax basis of accounting 
c) Company C prepares their financial statements using the accrual basis of 

accounting 
d) Company D prepares their financial statements using the equity basis of 

accounting 
 

3. An auditor is reviewing the IFRS financial statements of Bard Co., a manufacturing 
company. Which of the following represents an underlying assumption of the 
financial statements prepared by the management of Bard: 

 
a) Bard will continue as an operating entity for the foreseeable future 
b) Bard prepares their financial statements using the cash basis of accounting 
c) Bard accounts for all of their property, plant & equipment at fair value 
d) Bard reports their cash flows from operating activities using the direct method 

 
4. An auditor uncovers a material error in the presentation of his client’s inventory. After 

reviewing the IFRS Framework for guidance, the auditor concludes that the financial 
statements are not _______ as they cannot be depended upon by users. 

 
a) reliable 
b) understandable 
c) relevant 
d) comparable 
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5. Which of the following accounting practices involves the proper recognition of a 
financial statement element: 

 
a) Company A recognizes all financial instruments as liabilities 
b) Company B recognizes cash received from customers for the sale of goods as 

an expense 
c) Company C recognizes salaries paid to employees as an expense 
d) Company D recognizes property, plant & equipment as equity 
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES 2.1 
 
1. A: Incorrect. A consolidated balance sheet is within the scope of the Framework. 
 

B: Incorrect. A statement of cash flows is within the scope of the Framework. 
 

C: Correct. The Framework is concerned with general purpose financial statements, 
including consolidated financial statements. Special purpose financial reports (such 
as prospectuses and computations prepared for taxation purposes) are outside the 
scope of the Framework. Nevertheless, the Framework may be applied in the 
preparation of such special purpose reports where their requirements permit. 

 
D: Incorrect. A note explaining the company’s methodologies is within the scope of 
the Framework. 
 
(See page 2-2 of the course material.) 
 

 
2. A: Incorrect. IFRS financial statements are not prepared on the cash basis of 

accounting. 
 

B: Incorrect. IFRS financial statements are not prepared on the tax basis of 
accounting. 

 
C: Correct. IFRS financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting. 

 
D: Incorrect. IFRS financial statements are not prepared on the equity basis of 
accounting. 
 
(See page 2-3 of the course material.) 
 

 
3. A: Correct. IFRS financial statements are normally prepared on the assumption that 

an entity is a going concern and will continue in operation for the foreseeable future. 
 

B: Incorrect. IFRS financial statements are not prepared on the cash basis of 
accounting. 

 
C: Incorrect. This is not an underlying assumption of IFRS financial statements. 

 
D: Incorrect. Preparing a statement of cash flows using the direct method is 
permitted under IFRS, but such preparation is not an underlying assumption. 
 
(See page 2-3 of the course material.) 
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4. A: Correct. Information is considered reliable when it is free from material error and 
bias and can be depended upon by users to represent faithfully that which it either 
purports to represent or could reasonably be expected to represent. 

 
B: Incorrect. Information is understandable if it is capable of being understood. 

 
C: Incorrect. Information is relevant if it is pertinent to the decision-making needs of 
financial statement users. 

 
D: Incorrect. Information is comparable if it is capable of being compared. Users 
must be able to compare the financial statements of an entity through time in order to 
identify trends in its financial position and performance. 
 
(See page 2-3 of the course material.) 

 
 
5. A: Incorrect. Financial instruments may be recognized as either assets or liabilities 

depending on whether the reporting entity has purchased or issued the instrument. 
 

B: Incorrect. Cash received from customers for the sale of goods would be 
recognized as income under the IASB’s framework. 

 
C: Correct. Salaries paid to employees would be recognized as an expense under 
the IASB’s framework. 

 
D: Incorrect. Property, plant & equipment would be recognized as assets under the 
IASB’s framework. 
 
(See page 2-5 of the course material.) 
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2.2 Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
International Accounting Standard 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (IAS 1), 
prescribes the basis for presentation of general purpose financial statements1 to ensure 
comparability both with a reporting entity's financial statements of previous periods and 
with the financial statements of other entities. It sets out overall requirements for the 
presentation of financial statements, guidelines for their structure and minimum 
requirements for their content. Reporting entities must apply this Standard in 
preparing and presenting general purpose financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 
 
Under IAS 1, a complete set of financial statements includes: 
 

1. A statement of financial position as at the end of the period; 
 

2. A statement of comprehensive income for the period; 
 

3. A statement of changes in equity for the period; 
 

4. A statement of cash flows for the period; 
 

5. Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information; and 

 
6. A statement of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative 

period when an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a 
retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it 
reclassifies items in its financial statements. 

 
An entity may use titles for the statements other than those used in this Standard. 
 
2.2.1 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
At a minimum, the statement of financial position must include line items that present the 
following amounts: 
 

a) Property, plant and equipment; 
 

b) Investment property; 
 

c) Intangible assets; 
 

d) Financial assets (excluding amounts shown under (e), (h) and (i)); 
 

e) Investments accounted for using the equity method; 
 

f) Biological assets; 

                                                 
1 General purpose financial statements (referred to as "financial statements") are those intended to meet the 
needs of users who are not in a position to require an entity to prepare reports tailored to their particular 
information needs. 
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g) Inventories; 
 

h) Trade and other receivables; 
 

i) Cash and cash equivalents; 
 

j) The total of assets classified as held for sale and assets included in disposal 
groups classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5, Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations; 

 
k) Trade and other payables; 

 
l) Provisions; 

 
m) Financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown under (k) and (l)); 

 
n) Liabilities and assets for current tax, as defined in IAS 12, Income Taxes; 

 
o) Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets, as defined in IAS 12; 

 
p) Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale in accordance 

with IFRS 5; 
 

q) Minority interest, presented within equity; and 
 

r) Issued capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent. 
 
An entity should present additional line items, headings and subtotals in the statement of 
financial position when such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity's 
financial position. 
 
Current/Non-Current Distinction 
 
An entity must present current and non-current assets, and current and non-current 
liabilities, as separate classifications in its statement of financial position in accordance 
with IAS 1 (except when a presentation based on liquidity provides information that is 
reliable and more relevant). When that exception applies, an entity shall present all 
assets and liabilities in order of liquidity.  
 
Whichever method of presentation is adopted, an entity must disclose the amount 
expected to be recovered or settled after more than twelve months for each asset and 
liability line item that combines amounts expected to be recovered or settled: (1) no 
more than twelve months after the reporting period, and (2) more than twelve months 
after the reporting period. 
 
An entity must classify an asset as current when: 
 

a) It expects to realize the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in its normal 
operating cycle; 

 
b) It holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading; 
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c) It expects to realize the asset within twelve months after the reporting period; or 
 

d) The asset is cash or a cash equivalent (as defined in IAS 7) unless the asset is 
restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period. 

 
An entity must classify all other assets as non-current. 
 
An entity must classify a liability as current when: 
 

a) It expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle; 
 

b) It holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading; 
 

c) The liability is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 
 

d) The entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 

 
An entity shall classify all other liabilities as non-current. 
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Exhibit 2.1 – Illustrative Presentation of Statement of Financial Position 
 

XYZ Group – Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 20X7 
(in thousands of currency units) 

 
 December 31, 

20X7 
December 31, 

20X6 
ASSETS   
Non-current assets   
Property, plant, and equipment 350,700 360,020 
Goodwill 80,800 91,200 
Other intangible assets 227,470 227,470 
Investments in associates 100,150 110,770 
Available-for-sale financial assets 142,500 156,000 
 901,620 945,460 
   
Current assets   
Inventories 135,230 132,500 
Trade receivables 91,600 110,800 
Other current assets 25,650 12,540 
Cash and cash equivalents 312,400 322,900 
 564,800 578,740 
   
Total assets 1,466,500 1,524,200 
   

continued 
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Exhibit 2.1 – Illustrative Presentation of Statement of Financial Position 
(continued) 
 

XYZ Group – Statement of Financial Position as of December 31, 20X7 
(in thousands of currency units) 

 
 December 31, 

20X7 
December 31, 

20X6 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   
Equity attributable to owners of the parent   
Share capital 650,000 600,000 
Retained earnings 243,500 161,700 
Other components of equity 10,200 21,200 
 903,700 782,900 
Non-controlling interest 70,050 48,600 
Total equity 973,750 831,500 
   
Non-current liabilities   
Long-term borrowings 120,000 160,000 
Deferred tax 28,800 26,040 
Long-term provisions 28,850 52,240 
Total non-current liabilities 177,650 238,280 
   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 115,100 187,620 
Short-term borrowings 150,000 200,000 
Current portion of long-term borrowings 10,000 20,000 
Current tax payable 35,000 42,000 
Short-term provisions 5,000 4,800 
Total current liabilities 315,100 454,420 
Total liabilities 492,750 692,700 
Total equity and liabilities 1,466,500 1,524,200 
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2.2.2 STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
IAS 1 requires IFRS reporting entities to present all items of income and expense 
recognized in a period: 
 

a) In a single statement of comprehensive income, or 
 

b) In two statements: a statement displaying components of profit or loss (separate 
income statement) and a second statement beginning with profit or loss and 
displaying components of other comprehensive income (statement of 
comprehensive income). 

 
As a minimum, the statement of comprehensive income must include line items that 
present the following amounts for the period: 
 

a) Revenue; 
b) Finance costs; 
c) Share of the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for using 

the equity method; 
d) Tax expense; 
e) A single amount comprising the total of: 

i. The post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations and 
ii. The post-tax gain or loss recognized on the measurement to fair value less 

costs to sell or on the disposal of the assets or disposal group(s) 
constituting the discontinued operation; 

f) Profit or loss; 
g) Each component of other comprehensive income classified by nature (excluding 

amounts in (h)); 
h) Share of the other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures 

accounted for using the equity method; and 
i) Total comprehensive income. 

 
An entity must also disclose the following items in the statement of comprehensive 
income as allocations of profit or loss for the period2: 
 

a) Profit or loss for the period attributable to: 
i. Non-controlling interests, and 
ii. Owners of the parent. 

 
b) Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to: 

i. Non-controlling interests, and 
ii. Owners of the parent. 

 
 

                                                 
2 This requirement is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009. 
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Exhibit 2.2 – Illustrative Presentation of Comprehensive Income in One Statement 
and the Classification of Expenses Within Profit by Function 
 

XYZ Group – Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended   
December 31, 20X7 

(illustrating the presentation of comprehensive income in one statement  
and the classification of expense within profit by function) 

(in thousands of currency units) 
 

 20X7 20X6 
Revenue 390,000 355,000 
Cost of sales (245,000) (230,000) 
Gross profit 145,000 125,000 
Other income 20,667 11,300 
Distribution costs (9,000) (8,700) 
Administrative expenses (20,000) (21,000) 
Other expenses (2,100) (1,200) 
Finance costs (8,000) (7,500) 
Share of profit in associates 35,100 30,100 
Profit before tax 161,667 128,000 
Income tax expense (40,417) (32,000) 
Profit for the year from continuing 
operations 

 
121,250 

 
96,000 

Loss for the year from discontinued operations -0- (30,500) 
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 121,250 65,600 
Other comprehensive income:   
Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations 

 
5,334 

 
10,667 

Available-for-sale financial assets (24,000) 26,667 
Cash flow hedges (667) (4,000) 
Gains on property revaluation 933 3,367 
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit 
pension plans 

 
(667) 

 
1,333 

Share of other comprehensive income of 
associates 

 
400 

 
(700) 

Income tax relating to components of other 
comprehensive income 

 
4,667 

 
9,334 

Other comprehensive income for the year, 
net of tax 

 
(14,000) 

 
28,000 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 
THE YEAR 

 
107,250 

 
93,500 
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2.2.3 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 
An entity must present a statement of changes in equity showing in the statement: 
 

• Total comprehensive income for the period, showing separately the total 
amounts attributable to owners of the parent and to non-controlling interests; 

 
• For each component of equity, the effects of retrospective application or 

retrospective restatement recognized in accordance with IAS 8; and 
 

• For each component of equity, a reconciliation between the carrying amount at 
the beginning and the end of the period, separately disclosing changes resulting 
from: 

i. profit or loss; 
ii. each item of other comprehensive income; and 
iii. transactions with owners in their capacity as owners, showing separately 

contributions by and distributions to owners and changes in ownership 
interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control. 

 
An entity must also present, either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes, 
the amount of dividends recognized as distributions to owners during the period, and the 
related amount per share. 
 
Exhibit 2.3 – Illustrative Presentation of a Statement of Changes in Equity 
(Footnotes omitted) 
 
 

XYZ Group – Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended December 31, 20X7 
(in thousands of currency units) 

  
 
 

Share 
Capital 

 
 
 

Retained 
Earnings 

 
 

Translation 
of Foreign 
Operations 

 
Available
-for-sale 
Financial 

assets 

 
 

Cash 
Flow 

Hedges 

 
 

Revalua-
tion 

Surplus 

 
 
 
 

Total 

 
 

Non-
controlling 

Interest 

 
 
 

Total 
Equity 

Balance at 
January 1, 
20X6 

 
 

600,000 

 
 

118,100 

 
 

(4,000) 

 
 

1,600 

 
 

2,000 

 
 

-0- 

 
 

717,700 

 
 

29,800 

 
 

747,500 
Changes in 
accounting 
policy 

 
 

-0- 

 
 

400 

 
 

-0- 

 
 

-0- 

 
 

-0- 

 
 

-0- 

 
 

400 

 
 

100 

 
 

500 
Restated 
balance 

 
600,000 

 
118,500 

 
(4,000) 

 
1,600 

 
2,000 

 
-0- 

 
718,100 

 
29,900 

 
748,000 

Changes in equity for 20X6 
 
Dividends -0- (10,000) -0- -0- -0- -0- (10,000) -0- (10,000) 
Total 
comprehensive 
income for the 
year (k) 

 
 
 

-0- 

 
 
 

53,200 

 
 
 

6,400 

 
 
 

16,000 

 
 
 

(2,400) 

 
 
 

1,600 

 
 
 

74,800 

 
 
 

18,700 

 
 
 

93,500 
Balance at 
December 31, 
20X6 

 
 

600,000 

 
 

161,700 

 
 

2,400 

 
 

17,600 

 
 

(400) 

 
 

1,600 

 
 

782,900 

 
 

48,600 

 
 

831,500 
Changes in equity for 20X7 
 
Issue of share 
capital 

 
50,000 

 
-0- 

 
-0- 

 
-0- 

 
-0- 

 
-0- 

 
50,000 

 
-0- 

 
50,000 

Dividends -0- (15,000) -0- -0- -0- -0- (15,000) -0- (15,000) 
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Total 
comprehensive 
income for the 
year (l) 

 
 
 

-0- 

 
 
 

96,600 

 
 
 

3,200 

 
 
 

(14,400) 

 
 
 

(400) 

 
 
 

800 

 
 
 

85,800 

 
 
 

21,450 

 
 
 

107,250 
Transfer to 
retained 
earnings 

 
 

-0- 

 
 

200 

 
 

-0- 

 
 

-0- 

 
 

-0- 

 
 

200 

 
 

-0- 

 
 

-0- 

 
 

-0- 
Balance at 
December 31, 
20X7 

 
 

650,000 

 
 

243,500 

 
 

5,600 

 
 

3,200 

 
 

(800) 

 
 

2,200 

 
 

903,700 

 
 

70,050 

 
 

973,750 
 
(k) The amount included in retained earnings for 20X6 of 53,200 represents profit attributable to owners of the parent of 52,400 plus 
actuarial gains on defined benefit pension plans of 800 (1,333, less tax 333, less non-controlling interest 200). 
 
The amount included in the translation, available-for-sale and cash flow hedge reserves represent other comprehensive income for 
each component, net of tax and non-controlling interest, e.g., other comprehensive income related to available-for-sale financial 
assets for 20X6 of 16,000 is 26,667, less tax 6,667, less non-controlling interest 4,000. 
 
The amount included in the revaluation surplus of 1,600 represents the share of other comprehensive income of associates of (700) 
plus gains on property revaluation of 2,300 (3,367, less tax 667, less non-controlling interest 400). Other comprehensive income of 
associates relates solely to gains or losses on property revaluation. 
 
(l) The amount included in retained earnings for 20X7 of 96,600 represents profit attributable to owners of the parent of 97,000 plus 
actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans of 400 (667, less tax 167, less non-controlling interest 100). 
 
The amount included in the translation, available-for-sale and cash flow hedge reserves represent other comprehensive income for 
each component, net of tax and non-controlling interest, e.g., other comprehensive income related to the translation of foreign 
operations for 20X7 of 3,200 is 5,334, less tax 1,334, less non-controlling interest 800. 
 
The amount included in the revaluation surplus of 800 represents the share of other comprehensive income of associates of 400 
plus gains on property revaluation of 400 (933, less 333, less non-controlling interest 200). Other comprehensive income of 
associates related solely to gains or losses on property revaluation. 

 
2.2.4 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
An entity must prepare a statement of cash flows in accordance with the requirements of 
IAS 7 and must present it as an integral part of its financial statements for each period 
for which financial statements are presented. 
 
A statement of cash flows, when used in conjunction with the rest of the financial 
statements, provides information that enables users to evaluate the changes in net 
assets of an entity, its financial structure (including its liquidity and solvency) and its 
ability to affect the amounts and timing of cash flows in order to adapt to changing 
circumstances and opportunities. Cash flow information is useful in assessing the ability 
of the entity to generate cash and cash equivalents and enables users to develop 
models to assess and compare the present value of the future cash flows of different 
entities. It also enhances the comparability of the reporting of operating performance by 
different entities because it eliminates the effects of using different accounting 
treatments for the same transactions and events. 
 
Under IAS 7:  
 

• Cash is comprised of cash on hand and demand deposits. 
 

• Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. 
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• Cash flows are inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents. 
 
The statement of cash flows must report cash flows during the period classified by 
operating, investing and financing activities. 
 

• Cash flows from operating activities are primarily derived from the principal 
revenue-producing activities of the entity. Therefore, they generally result from 
the transactions and other events that enter into the determination of profit or 
loss. An entity must report cash flows from operating activities using either: 

 
o The direct method, whereby major classes of gross cash receipts and 

gross cash payments are disclosed; or 
 

o The indirect method, whereby profit or loss is adjusted for the effects of 
transactions of a non-cash nature, any deferrals or accruals of past or 
future operating cash receipts or payments, and items of income or 
expense associated with investing or financing cash flows. 

 
• Cash flows from investing activities include the acquisition and disposal of 

long-term assets and other investments not included in cash equivalents. 
 

• Cash flows from financing activities are generally the result of changes in the 
size and composition of the contributed equity and borrowings of the entity. 

 
Exhibit 2.4 – Illustrative Presentation of a Statement of Cash Flows 
 
  20X2
Cash flows from operating activities  
Interest and commission receipts 28,447 
Interest payments (23,463) 
Recoveries on loans previously written off 237 
Cash payments to employees and suppliers (997) 
  
 4,224 
(Increase) decrease in operating assets:  
Short-term funds (650) 
Deposits held for regulatory or monetary control purposes 234 
Funds advanced to customers (288) 
Net increase in credit card receivables (360) 
Other short-term negotiable securities (120) 
  
Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:  
Deposits from customers 600 
Negotiable certificates of deposit (200) 
Net cash from operating activities before income tax 3,440 
Income taxes paid (100) 
  
Net cash from operating activities  3,340
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Exhibit 2.4 – Illustrative Presentation of a Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 
 
  20X2
Cash flows from investing activities  
Disposal of subsidiary Y 50 
Dividends received 200 
Interest received 300 
Proceeds from sales of non-dealing securities 1,200 
Purchase of non-dealing securities (600) 
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (500) 
  
Net cash from investing activities  650
 
  20X2
Cash flows from financing activities  
Issue of loan capital 1,000 
Issue of preference shares by subsidiary undertaking 800 
Repayment of long-term borrowings (200) 
Net decrease in other borrowings (1,000) 
Dividends paid (400) 
  
Net cash from financing activities  200
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
600

  
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  4,790
  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  4,050
  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  8,840
 
2.2.5 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The notes to the financial statements must: 
 

a) Present information about the basis of preparation of the financial statements 
and the specific accounting policies used; 

 
b) Disclose the information required by IFRSs that is not presented elsewhere in the 

financial statements; and 
 

c) Provide information that is not presented elsewhere in the financial statements, 
but is relevant to an understanding of any of them. 

 
A reporting entity must, as far as practicable, present notes in a systematic manner. An 
entity shall cross-reference each item in the statements of financial position and of 
comprehensive income, in the separate income statement (if presented), and in the 
statements of changes in equity and of cash flows to any related information in the 
notes. 
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The notes should normally be presented in the following order, to assist users to 
understand the financial statements and to compare them with financial statements of 
other entities: 
 

a) Statement of compliance with IFRSs; A reporting entity whose financial 
statements comply with IFRSs must make an explicit and unreserved statement 
of such compliance in the notes. However the entity may not describe financial 
statements as complying with IFRSs unless they comply with all the 
requirements of IFRSs. 

 
b) Summary of significant accounting policies applied; An entity shall disclose in the 

summary of significant accounting policies: 
 

 The measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial 
statements,  

 The other accounting policies used that are relevant to an understanding of 
the financial statements, and 

 The judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that management has 
made in the process of applying the entity's accounting policies and that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 
statements. 

 
c) Supporting information for items presented in the statements of financial position 

and of comprehensive income, in the separate income statement (if presented), 
and in the statements of changes in equity and of cash flows, in the order in 
which each statement and each line item is presented; and 
 

d) Other disclosures, including: 
 

i. Contingent liabilities (see IAS 37) and unrecognized contractual 
commitments, and  

 
ii. Non-financial disclosures, e.g., the entity's financial risk management 

objectives and policies (see IFRS 7). 
 

iii. Information about the assumptions made by the entity about the future, and 
other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

 
iv. Information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate the 

entity's objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. 
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REVIEW QUESTIONS 2.2 
 
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of 
the information presented in the chapter. They do not need to be submitted in order to 
receive CPE credit. They are included as an additional tool to enhance your learning 
experience. 
 
We recommend that you answer each review question and then compare your response to 
the suggested solution before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter. 
 
1. Which of the following scenarios would most likely comply with the requirements for 

the presentation of assets on an IFRS balance sheet: 
 

a) Company A categorizes cash as a non-current asset 
b) Company B categorizes all of its assets by year of acquisition 
c) Company C categorizes all of its assets in order of liquidity 
d) Company D categorizes its trading assets as non-current 

 
Use the following for questions 2-5: The Controller at Okajima Inc. is in the process of 
preparing the company’s 12/31/X9 IFRS financial statements. The following is a 
sample of account balances that have been provided to her: 
 

Accounts receivable (due in 6 months) $1,000,000 
Administrative expenses $200,000 
Cash and cash equivalents $4,000,000 
Cash flows from operating activities $2,000,000 
Cost of sales $500,000 
Investments (held-to-maturity) $5,000,000 
Investments (held-for-trading) $3,000,000 
Loan liability (due in 3 years) $1,750,000 
Income tax liability (due in 3 months) $1,500,000 
Property, plant & equipment $10,000,000 
Revenue $1,000,000 

 
2. Given the items above, the total amount that would be presented on Okajima’s 

12/31/X9 IFRS statement of financial position as non-current liabilities equals: 
 

a) $0 
b) $1,500,000 
c) $1,750,000 
d) $3,250,000 
 

3. Given the items above, the total amount that would be presented on Okajima’s 
12/31/X9 IFRS statement of financial position as current assets equals: 

 
a) $4,000,000 
b) $5,000,000 
c) $7,000,000 
d) $8,000,000 

IFRS Financial Statements 2-24 
 



4. Assuming that all revenues and expenses for the year have been included in the list 
above, Okajima’s net profit reported in their IFRS statement of comprehensive 
income for the period ending 12/31/X9 equals: 

 
a) $300,000 
b) $500,000 
c) $800,000 
d) $1,000,000 

 
5. Given the items above, the total amount that would be included in Okajima’s 

12/31/X9 IFRS statement of cash flows equals: 
 

a) $0 
b) $2,000,000 
c) $4,000,000 
d) $6,000,000 

 
6. Orsillo Bank is preparing their IFRS financial statements for 2009. The bank 

distributed dividends to its shareholders during the reporting period. These dividends 
must be disclosed: 

 
a) in either the statement of changes in equity or the notes to the financial 

statements 
b) in the statement of comprehensive income 
c) in the statement of financial position 
d) in the statement of changes in equity 
 

7. An investor in Orsillo Bank is looking to analyze the changes in the Bank’s net 
assets, its financial structure and its ability to affect the amounts and timing of cash 
flows. Which of the following IFRS financial statements would most likely provide this 
information: 

 
a) statement of changes in equity 
b) statement of financial position 
c) statement of comprehensive income 
d) statement of cash flows 

 
Use the following for questions 8-10: A senior accountant at Wally Corp. is preparing 
their IFRS statement of cash flows for 20X9. The following is the cash flow data for the 
company: 
 

Purchase of equipment ($500,000) 
Payment of dividends ($35,000) 
Interest received on investments $200,000 
Interest payments on debt ($100,000) 
Cash bonuses paid to employees ($25,000) 
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8. Which of the following amounts should Wally Corp. report as cash flows from 
operating activities for 20X9: 

 
a) $125,000 net cash outflow 
b) $100,000 net cash outflow 
c) $25,000 net cash outflow 
d) $75,000 net cash inflow 
 

9. Which of the following amounts should Wally Corp. report as cash flows from 
investing activities for 20X9: 

 
a) $535,000 net cash outflow 
b) $335,000 net cash outflow 
c) $300,000 net cash outflow 
d) $200,000 net cash inflow 
 

10. Which of the following amounts should Wally Corp. report as cash flows from 
financing activities for 20X9: 

 
a) $135,000 net cash outflow 
b) $35,000 net cash outflow 
c) $0 
d) $65,000 net cash inflow 
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES 2.2 
 
1. A: Incorrect. Cash is considered a current asset under the IASB Framework. 
 

B: Incorrect. Presenting assets and liabilities by year of acquisition is not permitted.  
 

C: Correct. An entity must present current and non-current assets, and current and 
non-current liabilities, as separate classifications in its statement of financial position 
(except when a presentation based on liquidity provides information that is reliable 
and more relevant). When that exception applies, an entity shall present all assets 
and liabilities in order of liquidity. 

 
D: Incorrect. Trading assets are considered current assets under IAS 1. 
 
(See page 2-13 of the course material.) 

 
 
2. A: Incorrect. The loan liability would be classified as a non-current liability on the 

balance sheet. 
 

B: Incorrect. This amount equals the income tax liability, which would be classified as 
a current liability on the balance sheet (as it is due in less than one year). 

 
C: Correct. The total amount that would be included in the balance sheet as non-
current liabilities is $1,750,000, which equals the loan liability. 

 
D: Incorrect. This amount equals the income tax liability plus the loan liability. As 
discussed above, the income tax liability would be classified as a current liability. 
 
(See pages 2-12+ of the course material.)  

 
 

3. A: Incorrect. This amount includes only the cash and cash equivalents; however, the 
accounts receivable and investments held-for-trading would also be recognized as 
current assets. 

 
B: Incorrect. This amount includes only the investments held-for-trading and the 
accounts receivable; however, the cash and cash equivalents would also be 
recognized as current assets. 

 
C: Incorrect. This amount includes only the investments held-for-trading and the cash 
and cash equivalents; however, the accounts receivable would also be recognized 
as current assets.  

 
D: Correct. The total amount that would be included in the balance sheet as current 
assets is $8,000,000, which equals the sum of the balances for the accounts 
receivable, cash and cash equivalents and investments held-for-trading. 
 
(See page 2-12+ of the course material.) 
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4. A: Correct. Okajima’s net profit for the year equals $300,000; this amount equals the 
company’s revenue minus their cost of sales and administrative expenses. 

 
B: Incorrect. This amount incorrectly excludes the company’s administration 
expenses from the net profit calculation. 

 
C: Incorrect. This amount incorrectly excludes the company’s cost of sales from the 
net profit calculation. 

 
D: Incorrect. This amount incorrectly excludes the company’s cost of sales and 
administration expenses from the net profit calculation. 
 
(See page 2-17 of the course material.) 
  

 
5. A: Incorrect. The cash flows from operating activities would be included on the 

statement of cash flows. 
 

B: Correct. The total amount that would be included in the statement of cash flows is 
$2,000,000, which equals the cash flows from operating activities. 

 
C: Incorrect. This amount equals the cash and cash equivalents, which would be 
reported on the balance sheet. The statement of cash flows reports the changes in 
cash and cash equivalents for the reporting period. 

 
D: Incorrect. This amount equals the cash and cash equivalents plus the cash flows 
from operating activities. As discussed above, the cash and cash equivalents would 
be reported on the balance sheet, not the statement of cash flows. 
 
(See page 2-21 of the course material.) 

 
 

6. A: Correct. An entity must present, either in the statement of changes in equity or in 
the notes, the amount of dividends recognized as distributions to owners during the 
period, and the related amount per share. 

 
B: Incorrect. The amount of dividends recognized as distributions to owners during 
the period would not normally be disclosed on the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

 
C: Incorrect. The amount of dividends recognized as distributions to owners during 
the period would not normally be disclosed on statement of financial position. 

 
D: Incorrect. Such items must be disclosed, but not necessarily in the statement of 
changes in equity. These disclosures may be included in either the statement of 
changes in equity or in the notes. 
 
(See page 2-19 of the course material.) 
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7. A: Incorrect. The statement of changes in equity presents changes in equity that 
occurred during the reporting period. 

 
B: Incorrect. The statement of financial position presents the current balances of 
assets, liabilities and equity as of a specified reporting date. 

 
C: Incorrect. The statement of comprehensive income presents all items of income 
and expense recognized in a period. 

 
D: Correct. The statement of cash flows provides this information. 
 
(See page 2-20 of the course material.) 
 
 

8. A: Correct. The total amount that would be reported in the statement of cash flows 
as cash flows from operating activities is a $125,000 net cash outflow, which equals 
the sum of the cash outflows for interest payments on debt and the cash bonuses 
paid to employees. 

 
B: Incorrect. This amount incorrectly excludes the cash bonuses paid to employees 
from the calculation of cash flows from operating activities. 

 
C: Incorrect. This amount incorrectly excludes the interest payments on debt from 
the calculation of cash flows from operating activities. 

 
D: Incorrect. This amount incorrectly treats the cash bonuses paid to employees as a 
cash inflow (i.e., positive amount), not a cash outflow (i.e., a negative amount). 
 
(See pages 2-20 to 2-22 of the course material.) 
 

 
9. A: Incorrect. This amount incorrectly includes the cash outflow for the payment of 

dividends in the calculation and incorrectly excludes the cash inflow for the interest 
received on investments from the calculation. The payment of dividends is 
considered a financing activity under IAS 1. 

 
B: Incorrect. This amount incorrectly includes the cash outflow for the payment of 
dividends in the calculation. The payment of dividends is considered a financing 
activity under IAS 1. 

 
C: Correct. The total amount that would be reported in the statement of cash flows 
as cash flows from investing activities is a $300,000 net cash outflow, which equals 
the net of the cash outflow for the purchase of equipment and the cash inflow for 
interest received on investments. 

 
D: Incorrect. This amount incorrectly excludes the cash outflow for the purchase of 
equipment from the calculation. 
 
(See pages 2-20 to 2-22 of the course material.) 
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10. A: Incorrect. This amount incorrectly includes the cash outflows for the interest 
payments on debt, which is an operating activity. 

 
B: Correct. The total amount that would be reported in the statement of cash flows 
as cash flows from financing activities is a $35,000 net cash outflow, which equals 
the cash outflow for the payment of dividends. 

 
C: Incorrect. The cash outflow for the payment of dividends is considered a financing 
activity under IAS 1. 

 
D: Incorrect. This does not represent the correct amount of cash flows from financing 
activities. 
 
(See pages 2-20 to 2-22 of the course material.) 
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CHAPTER 2 SUMMARY 
 

• The IASB's Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements describes the basic concepts by which financial statements are 
prepared under IFRS. The Framework deals with: 

- The objective of financial statements; 
- The qualitative characteristics that determine the usefulness of 

information in financial statements; 
- The definition, recognition and measurement of the elements from which 

financial statements are constructed; and 
- Concepts of capital and capital maintenance. 

 
• According to the IASB Framework, the primary objective of IFRS financial 

statements is to provide information about the financial position, performance 
and changes in financial position of an entity that is useful to a wide range of 
users in making economic decisions. In order to meet their objectives, financial 
statements are prepared on the (1) accrual basis of accounting and (2) 
assumption that the entity is a going concern. 

 
• The four principal qualitative characteristics of IFRS financial statements are 

understandability, relevance, reliability and comparability. 
 

• The five elements of IFRS financial statements are assets, liabilities, equity, 
income and expenses. Elements are recognized if (1) it is probable that any 
future economic benefit associated with the item will flow to/from the entity and 
(2) the item has a cost or value that can be measured with reliability. 

 
• Under IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, a complete set of IFRS 

financial statements includes: 
1. A statement of financial position 
2. A statement of comprehensive income 
3. A statement of changes in equity 
4. A statement of cash flows 
5. Notes to the financial statements 

 



Chapter 3: U.S. GAAP and IFRS: What Is the Difference? 
 
Learning Objectives: 
 
After studying this chapter, participants should be able to: 
 

• Identify and explain various similarities and differences that exist between IFRS 
and U.S. GAAP. 

• Describe specific areas of divergence that exist between the two principles. 
• Recognize scenarios that require different accounting treatments under IFRS and 

U.S. GAAP. 
 
It is not surprising that many people who follow the development of worldwide 
accounting standards today might be confused. Convergence is a high priority on the 
agendas of both the FASB and the IASB – and “convergence” is a term that suggests an 
elimination or coming together of differences. Yet much is still made of the many 
differences that exist between U.S. GAAP and IFRS, suggesting that the two sets of 
Standards continue to speak languages that are worlds apart. This apparent 
contradiction has prompted many to ask just how different are the two sets of standards? 
And where differences exist, why do they exist, and when, if ever, will they be 
eliminated? 
 
As the international standards were developed, the IASB and its predecessor, the 
International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC), had the advantage of being able 
to draw on the latest thinking of standard setters from around the world. As a result, the 
international standards contain elements of accounting standards from a variety of 
countries. And even where an international standard looked to an existing U.S. standard 
as a starting point, the IASB was able to take a fresh approach to that standard. In doing 
so, the IASB could avoid some of the perceived problems in the FASB standard – for 
example, exceptions to the standard’s underlying principles that had resulted from 
external pressure during the exposure process, or practice difficulties that had emerged 
subsequent to the standard’s issuance – and attempt to improve them. Further, as part 
of its annual “Improvements Project,” the IASB reviews its own existing standards to 
enhance their clarity and consistency, again taking advantage of more current thinking 
and practice. 
 
For these reasons, some of the differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS are embodied 
in the standards themselves – that is, they are intentional deviations from U.S. 
requirements. Still other differences have emerged through interpretation. As a general 
rule, IFRS standards are more broad and “principles-based” (with limited 
interpretive guidance) than their “rules-based” U.S. counterparts. 
 
The IASB has generally avoided issuing interpretations of its own standards, preferring 
to instead leave implementation of the principles embodied in its standards to preparers 
and auditors, and its official interpretive body, the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). While U.S. standards contain underlying principles as 
well, the strong regulatory and legal environment in U.S. markets has resulted in a more 
prescriptive approach – with far more “bright lines,” comprehensive implementation 
guidance, and industry interpretations.  
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Therefore, while some might read the broader IFRS standard to require an approach 
similar to that contained in its more detailed U.S. counterpart, others might not. 
Differences also result from this divergence in interpretation. 
 
The following sections provide an overview, by accounting area, both of where the 
standards are similar and also where they diverge. It should be noted that while the U.S. 
and international standards do contain differences, the general principles, conceptual 
framework, and accounting results between them are often the same or similar, even 
though the areas of divergence seem to have disproportionately overshadowed these 
similarities. The two sets of standards are generally more alike than different for most 
commonly encountered transactions, with IFRS being largely, but not entirely, grounded 
in the same basic principles as U.S. GAAP. 
 
3.1 Revenue Recognition 
 
Revenue recognition under both U.S. GAAP and IFRS is tied to the completion of the 
earnings process and the realization of assets from such completion. Under IAS 18, 
Revenue, revenue is defined as “the gross inflow of economic benefits during the period 
arising in the course of the ordinary activities of an entity when those inflows result in 
increases in equity.” Under U.S. GAAP, revenues represent actual or expected cash 
inflows that have occurred or will result from the entity’s ongoing major operations. 
Under both U.S. GAAP and IFRS, revenue is not recognized until it is both realized (or 
realizable) and earned. Ultimately, both U.S. GAAP and IFRS base revenue recognition 
on the transfer of risks and both attempt to determine when the earnings process is 
complete. Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS contain revenue recognition criteria that, while not 
identical, are similar. For example, under IFRS, one recognition criteria is that the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably, while U.S. GAAP requires that the 
consideration to be received from the buyer is fixed or determinable. 
 
Despite the similarities, differences in revenue recognition may exist as a result of 
differing levels of specificity between U.S. GAAP and IFRS. There is extensive guidance 
under U.S. GAAP, which can be very prescriptive and often applies only to specific 
industry transactions. For example, under U.S. GAAP there are specific rules relating to 
the recognition of software revenue and sales of real estate, while comparable guidance 
does not exist under IFRS. In addition, the detailed U.S. rules often contain exceptions 
for particular types of transactions. Further, public companies in the U.S. must follow 
additional guidance provided by the SEC. Conversely, a single standard (IAS 18) exists 
under IFRS which contains general principles and illustrative examples of specific 
transactions. 
 
Specific U.S. GAAP and IFRS differences related to revenue recognition include: 
 

• For the sale of goods under U.S. GAAP, public companies must follow ASC 
605, Revenue Recognition, which requires that delivery has occurred (the risks 
and rewards of ownership have been transferred), there is persuasive evidence 
of the sale, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably 
assured. Under IFRS, revenue is recognized only when risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred, the buyer has control of the goods, revenues 
can be measured reliably, and it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the company.  
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• The accounting for customer loyalty programs may result in fundamentally 
different results. The IFRS requirement to treat customer loyalty programs as 
multiple-element arrangements in which consideration is allocated to the goods 
or services and the award credits based on fair value through the eyes of the 
customer would be acceptable for U.S. GAAP purposes. Many U.S. GAAP 
reporting companies, however, use the incremental cost model, which is very 
different from the multiple-element approach required under IFRS. In this 
instance, the implication is that IFRS generally results in the deferral of more 
revenue and profit. 

 
• For service transactions, U.S. GAAP prohibits use of the percentage-of-

completion method (unless the transaction explicitly qualifies as a particular 
type of construction or production contract). Most service transactions that do not 
qualify for these types of construction contracts are accounted for by using a 
proportional-performance model. IFRS requires use of the percentage-of-
completion method in recognizing revenue under service arrangements unless 
progress toward completion cannot be estimated reliably (in which case a zero-
profit approach is used) or a specific act is much more significant than any other 
(in which case the service is treated like a sale of a product). Diversity in 
application of the percentage-of-completion method may also result in 
differences. 

 
3.2 Expense Recognition 
 
3.2.1 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
 
The guidance for share-based payments, ASC 718, Compensation – Stock 
Compensaion, and IFRS 2, Share-Based Payment, is largely convergent. U.S. GAAP 
and IFRS require a fair value-based approach in accounting for share-based payment 
arrangements whereby an entity: (a) acquires goods or services in exchange for issuing 
share options or other equity instruments (i.e., “shares”), or (b) incurs liabilities that are 
based, at least in part, on the price of its shares or that may require settlement in its 
shares. Under U.S. GAAP and IFRS, this guidance applies to transactions with both 
employees and non-employees, and is applicable to all companies. Both U.S. GAAP and 
IFRS define the fair value of the transaction to be the amount at which the asset or 
liability could be bought or sold in a current transaction between willing parties. Further, 
U.S. GAAP and IFRS require, if applicable, the fair value of the shares to be measured 
based on market price (if available) or estimated using an option-pricing model. In the 
rare cases where fair value cannot be determined, both standards allow the use of 
intrinsic value. Additionally, the treatment of modifications and settlement of share-based 
payments is generally similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Finally, U.S. GAAP and IFRS 
require similar disclosures in the financial statements to provide investors sufficient 
information to understand the types and extent to which the entity is entering into share-
based payment transactions. 
 
Despite the progress made by the FASB and the IASB toward converging the 
frameworks in this area, many differences remain. These differences include: 
 

• Companies that issue awards with graded vesting (e.g., awards that vest 
ratably over time, such as 25% per year over a four-year period) may encounter 
accelerated expense recognition as well as a different total value to be expensed 
(for a given award) under IFRS. The impact in this area could lead some 
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companies to consider redesigning how they structure their share-based 
payment plans. By changing the vesting pattern to cliff vesting (from graded 
vesting), companies can avoid a front loading of share-based compensation 
expense, which may be desirable to some organizations. 

 
• The deferred income tax accounting requirements for all share-based awards 

vary significantly from U.S. GAAP. Companies can expect to experience greater 
variability in their effective tax rate over the lifetime of share-based payment 
awards under IFRS. This variability will be linked with, but move counter to, the 
issuing company’s stock price. For example, as a company’s stock price 
increases, a greater income statement tax benefit will occur, to a point, under 
IFRS. Once a benefit has been recorded, subsequent decreases to a company’s 
stock price may increase income tax expense within certain limits. The variability 
is driven by the requirement to re-measure and record through earnings (within 
certain limits) the deferred tax attributes of share-based payments each reporting 
period. 

 
• Differences within the two frameworks may also result in different 

classifications of an award as a component of equity or as a liability. Once 
an award gets classified as a liability, its value needs to be remeasured each 
period through earnings based on current conditions, which is likely to increase 
earnings volatility while also impacting balance sheet metrics and ratios. Awards 
that are likely to have different equity-versus-liability-classification conclusions 
under the two frameworks include awards that are puttable; awards that give the 
recipient the option to require settlement in cash or shares; awards with vesting 
conditions outside of plain-vanilla service, performance or market conditions; and 
awards based on fixed monetary amounts to be settled in a variable number of 
shares. Further, certain other awards that were treated as a single award with a 
single classification under U.S. GAAP may need to be separated into multiple 
classifications under IFRS. 

 
3.2.2 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
Multiple standards apply under U.S. GAAP, while IAS 19, Employee Benefits, is the 
principal source of IFRS guidance for employee benefits other than share-based 
payments. Under U.S. GAAP and IFRS, the periodic pension cost under defined 
contribution plans is based on the contribution due from the employer in each period. 
The accounting for defined benefit plans has many similarities as well. The defined 
benefit obligation is the present value of benefits that have accrued to employees 
through services rendered to that date, based on actuarial methods of calculation. 
Additionally, both U.S. GAAP and IFRS provide for certain smoothing mechanisms in 
calculating the period pension cost. 
 
There are a number of significant differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP in the 
accounting for employee benefits. Some differences will result in less earnings volatility, 
while others will result in greater earnings volatility. The net effect depends on the 
individual facts and circumstances for a given company. Further differences could have 
a significant impact on presentation, operating metrics and key ratios. A selection of 
differences is summarized below. 
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• Under IFRS, a company can adopt a policy that would allow recognition of 
actuarial gains/losses in a separate primary statement outside of the statement 
of operations. Actuarial gains/losses treated in accordance with this election 
would be exempt from being subsequently recorded within the statement of 
operations. Taking such election generally reduces the volatility of pension 
expense recorded in a company’s statement of operations, because actuarial 
gains/losses would be recorded only within an IFRS equivalent (broadly 
speaking) of other comprehensive income (i.e., directly to equity). 

 
• U.S. GAAP permits the use of a calculated asset value (to spread market 

movements over periods of up to five years) in the determination of expected 
returns on plan assets. IFRS precludes the use of a calculated value and 
requires that the actual fair value of plan assets at each measurement date be 
used. 

 
• Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS can also result in different 

classifications of a plan as a defined benefit or a defined contribution plan. It is 
possible that a benefit arrangement that is classified as a defined benefit plan 
under U.S. GAAP may be classified as a defined contribution plan under IFRS. 
Differences in plan classification, although relatively rare, could have a significant 
effect on the expense recognition model and balance sheet presentation. Under 
IFRS, companies do not present the full funded status of their post-employment 
benefit plans on the balance sheet. However, companies are required to present 
the full funded status within the footnotes. 

 
3.3 Assets 
 
3.3.1 LONG-LIVED ASSETS 
 
Although U.S. GAAP does not have a comprehensive standard that addresses long-lived 
assets, its definition of property, plant, and equipment is similar to IAS 16, Property, 
Plant, and Equipment, which addresses tangible assets held for use that are expected to 
be used for more than one reporting period. Other concepts that are similar include the 
following: 
 

1. Cost. Both accounting models have similar recognition criteria, requiring that 
costs be included in the cost of the asset if future economic benefits are probable 
and can be reliably measured. The costs to be capitalized under both models are 
similar. Neither model allows the capitalization of startup costs, general 
administrative and overhead costs, or regular maintenance. However, both U.S. 
GAAP and IFRS require that the costs of dismantling an asset and restoring its 
site (that is, the costs of asset retirement under ASC 410-20, Accounting for 
Asset Retirement Obligations, or IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and 
Contingent Assets), be included in the cost of the asset. Both models require a 
provision for asset retirement costs to be recorded when there is a legal 
obligation, although IFRS requires provision in other circumstances as well. 

 
2. Capitalized Interest. ASC 835-20, Capitalization of Interest, and IAS 23, 

Borrowing Costs, address the capitalization of borrowing costs (for example, 
interest costs) directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production 
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of a qualifying asset. Qualifying assets are generally defined similarly under both 
accounting models. However, there are significant differences between U.S. 
GAAP and IFRS in the specific costs and assets that are included within these 
categories as well as the requirement to capitalize these costs. 

 
3. Depreciation. Depreciation of long-lived assets is required on a systematic basis 

under both accounting models. ASC 250, Accounting Changes and Error 
Corrections, and IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates, 
and Error Corrections, both treat changes in depreciation method, residual value, 
and useful economic life as a change in accounting estimate requiring 
prospective treatment. However, under IFRS, differences in asset 
componentization guidance may result in the need to track and account for 
property, plant and equipment at a more disaggregated level. Greater 
disaggregation may in turn trigger earlier disposal or retirement activity when 
portions of a larger asset group are replaced. 

 
4. Assets Held for Sale. Assets held for sale are discussed in ASC 360, Property, 

Plant, and Equipment, and IFRS 5, Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations, with both standards having similar held for sale criteria. 
Under both standards, the asset is measured at the lower of its carrying amount 
or fair value less costs to sell; the assets are not depreciated and are presented 
separately on the face of the balance sheet. Exchanges of non-monetary similar 
productive assets are also treated similarly under ASC 845, Non-monetary 
Transactions, and IAS 16, Property, Plant, and Equipment, both of which allow 
gain/loss recognition if the exchange has commercial substance and the fair 
value of the exchange can be reliably measured. 

 
3.3.2 INVENTORY 
 
ASC 330, Inventory, and IAS 2, Inventories, are both based on the principle that the 
primary basis of accounting for inventory is cost. Both define inventory as assets held for 
sale in the ordinary course of business, in the process of production for such sale, or to 
be consumed in the production of goods or services. The permitted techniques for cost 
measurement, such as standard cost method or retail margin method, are similar under 
both U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Further, under U.S. GAAP and IFRS, the cost of inventory 
includes all direct expenditures to ready inventory for sale, including allocable overhead, 
while selling costs are excluded from the cost of inventories, as are most storage costs 
and general administrative costs. 
 
Specific U.S. GAAP and IFRS differences related to inventory include: 
 

• The use of the LIFO costing method is prohibited under IFRS. Therefore, 
companies that utilize the LIFO-costing methodology under U.S. GAAP may 
experience significantly different operating results, as well as cash flows, under 
IFRS. 

 
• Under U.S. GAAP, any write-downs of inventory to the lower of cost or market 

create a new cost basis that subsequently cannot be reversed. Under IFRS, 
previously recognized impairment losses are reversed, up to the amount of the 
original impairment loss when the reasons for the impairment no longer exist. 
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3.3.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
The definition of intangible assets as non-monetary assets without physical substance is 
the same under both ASC 805, Business Combinations, and ASC 350, Intangibles – 
Goodwill, and the IASB’s IFRS 3, Business Combinations, and IAS 38, Intangible 
Assets. The recognition criteria for both accounting models require that there be 
probable future economic benefits and costs that can be reliably measured. However, 
some costs are never capitalized as intangible assets under both models, such as start-
up costs. Goodwill is recognized only in a business combination in accordance with ASC 
805 and IFRS 3. In general, intangible assets that are acquired outside of a business 
combination are recognized at fair value. With the exception of development costs, 
internally developed intangibles are not recognized as an asset under either ASC 350 or 
IAS 38. Moreover, internal costs related to the research phase of research and 
development are expensed as incurred under both accounting models. However, U.S. 
GAAP prohibits, with very limited exceptions, the capitalization of development costs. 
Development costs are capitalized under IFRS if certain criteria are met. 
 
Amortization of intangible assets over their estimated useful lives is required under both 
U.S. GAAP and IFRS, with one minor exception in ASC 985-20, Computer Software to 
Be Sold, Leased, or Marketed, related to the amortization of computer software assets. 
In both, if there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which an intangible asset is 
expected to generate net cash inflows to the entity, the useful life is considered to be 
indefinite and the asset is not amortized. Goodwill is never amortized. 
 
Differences may exist in such areas as software development costs, where U.S. 
GAAP provides specific detailed guidance depending on whether the software is for 
internal use or for sale. The principles surrounding capitalization under IFRS, by 
comparison, are the same, whether the internally generated intangible is being 
developed for internal use or for sale. 
 
3.3.4 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 
 
Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS contain similarly defined impairment indicators for assessing 
the impairment of long-lived assets. Both standards require goodwill and intangible 
assets with indefinite lives to be reviewed at least annually for impairment regardless of 
the existence of impairment indicators. Additionally, U.S. GAAP and IFRS require that an 
asset found to be impaired be written down and an impairment loss recognized. ASC 
350, ASC 360, and IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, apply to most long-lived and intangible 
assets, although some of the scope exceptions listed in the standards differ.  
 
Despite the similarity in overall objectives, differences exist in the way in which 
impairment is reviewed, recognized, and measured. These differences are noted in the 
following exhibit: 
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Exhibit 3.1 – U.S. GAAP and IFRS Differences in the Accounting for the 
Impairment of Assets 
 
 U.S. GAAP IFRS 

 
Review for 
impairment 
indicators – long-
lived assets 

Performed whenever events or 
changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying 
amount of the asset may not 
be recoverable. 
 

Assessed at each reporting 
date. 

Method of 
determining 
impairment – long-
lived assets 

Two-step approach requires a 
recoverability test be 
performed first (carrying 
amount of the asset is 
compared to the sum of future 
undiscounted cash flows 
generated through use and 
eventual disposition). If it is 
determined that the asset is 
not recoverable, an 
impairment loss is calculated. 
 

One-step approach requires 
that impairment loss be 
calculated if impairment 
indicators exist. 

Impairment loss 
Calculation – long-
lived assets 

The amount by which the 
carrying amount of the asset 
exceeds its fair value, as 
calculated in accordance with 
ASC 820. 

The amount by which the 
carrying amount of the asset 
exceeds its recoverable 
amount; recoverable amount is 
the higher of: (i) fair value less 
costs to sell, and (ii) value in 
use (the present value of future 
cash flows in use including 
disposal value). (Note that the 
definition of fair value in IFRS 
has certain differences from the 
definition in ASC 820.) 
 

Method of 
determining 
Impairment – 
goodwill  

Two-step approach requires a 
recoverability test to be 
performed first at the reporting 
unit level (carrying amount of 
the reporting unit is compared 
to the reporting unit fair value), 
then an impairment loss is 
calculated. 
 

One-step approach requires 
that an impairment test be done 
at the cash generating unit 
(CGU) level by comparing the 
CGU’s carrying amount, 
including goodwill, with its 
recoverable amount. 
 

Impairment loss 
calculation – 
goodwill  

The amount by which the 
carrying amount of goodwill 
exceeds the implied fair value 
of the goodwill within its 
reporting unit. 

Impairment loss on the CGU 
(amount by which the CGU’s 
carrying amount, including 
goodwill, exceeds its 
recoverable amount) is 
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allocated first to reduce goodwill 
to zero, then the carrying 
amount of other assets in the 
CGU are reduced pro rata, 
based on the carrying amount 
of each asset. 
 

Impairment loss 
calculation – 
indefinite life 
intangible assets 
 

The amount by which the 
carrying value of the asset 
exceeds its fair value. 

The amount by which the 
carrying value of the asset 
exceeds its recoverable 
amount. 

Reversal of loss Prohibited for all assets. Prohibited for goodwill. Other 
long-lived assets must be 
reviewed annually for reversal 
indicators. If appropriate, loss 
may be reversed up to the 
newly estimated recoverable 
amount, not to exceed the initial 
carrying amount adjusted for 
depreciation. 
 

 
Impairment is one of the short-term convergence projects agreed to by the FASB and 
IASB in their 2006 Memorandum of Understanding. 
 
3.3.5 LEASES 
 
The overall accounting for leases under U.S. GAAP and IFRS (ASC 840, Leases, and 
IAS 17, Leases, respectively) is similar, although U.S. GAAP has more specific rules 
than IFRS. Both focus on classifying leases as either capital (IAS 17 uses the term 
“finance”) or operating, and both separately discuss lessee and lessor accounting. 
 
Lessee accounting (excluding real estate) 
 
Both standards require that the party that bears substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the leased property recognize a lease asset and corresponding obligation, 
and specify criteria (ASC 840) or indicators (IAS 17) used to make this determination 
(that is, whether a lease is capital or operating). The criteria or indicators of a capital 
lease in the standards are similar in that both include the transfer of ownership to the 
lessee at the end of the lease term and a purchase option that, at inception, is 
reasonably expected to be exercised. Further, ASC 840 requires capital lease treatment 
if the lease term is equal to or greater than 75% of the asset’s economic life, while IAS 
17 requires such treatment when the lease term is a “major part” of the asset’s economic 
life. ASC 840 specifies capital lease treatment if the present value of the minimum lease 
payments exceeds 90% of the asset’s fair value, while IAS 17 uses the term 
“substantially all” of the fair value. In practice, while ASC 840 specifies bright lines in 
certain instances (for example, 75% of economic life), IAS 17’s general principles are 
interpreted similarly to the bright line tests. As a result, lease classification is often the 
same under ASC 840 and IAS 17. Under U.S. GAAP and IFRS, a lessee would record a 
capital (finance) lease by recognizing an asset and a liability, measured at the lower of 
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the present value of the minimum lease payments or fair value of the asset. A lessee 
would record an operating lease by recognizing expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. Any incentives under an operating lease are amortized on a straight line 
basis over the term of the lease. 
 
Lessor accounting (excluding real estate) 
 
Lessor accounting under ASC 840 and IAS 17 is similar and uses the above tests to 
determine whether a lease is a sales-type/direct financing lease or an operating lease. 
ASC 840 specifies two additional criteria (that is, collection of lease payments is 
reasonably expected and no important uncertainties surround the amount of un-
reimbursable costs to be incurred by the lessor) for a lessor to qualify for sales-
type/direct financing lease accounting that IAS 17 does not have. Although not specified 
in IAS 17, it is reasonable to expect that if these conditions exist, the same conclusion 
would be reached under each standard. If a lease is a sales-type/direct financing lease, 
the leased asset is replaced with a lease receivable. If it is classified as operating, rental 
income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and the leased asset is 
depreciated by the lessor over its useful life. 
 
Specific U.S. GAAP and IFRS differences related to leases (in general) include: 
 

• Under U.S. GAAP, land and building elements are generally accounted for as 
a single unit, unless the land represents 25% or more of the total fair value of the 
leased property. Under IFRS, land and building elements must be considered 
separately, unless the land element is not material. This means that nearly all 
leases involving land and buildings should be bifurcated into two components, 
with separate classification considerations and accounting for each component. 

 
• Under U.S. GAAP, the renewal or extension of a lease beyond the original 

lease term, including those based on existing provisions of the lease 
arrangement, normally triggers a fresh lease classification. Under IFRS, if the 
period covered by the renewal option was not considered to be part of the initial 
lease term, but the option is ultimately exercised based on the contractually 
stated terms of the lease, the original lease classification under the guidance 
continues into the extended term of the lease; it is not revisited. 

 
• Under U.S. GAAP, income recognition for an outright sale of real estate is 

appropriate only if certain requirements are met. By extension, such 
requirements also apply to a lease of real estate. Accordingly, a lessor is not 
permitted to classify a lease of real estate as a sales-type lease unless 
ownership of the underlying property automatically transfers to the lessee at the 
end of the lease term, in which case the lessor must apply the guidance 
appropriate for an outright sale. IFRS guidance does not have a similar provision. 
Accordingly, a lessor of real estate (e.g., a dealer) will recognize income 
immediately if a lease is classified as a finance lease (i.e., if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee). 
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REVIEW QUESTIONS 3.1 
 
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of 
the information presented in the chapter. They do not need to be submitted in order to 
receive CPE credit. They are included as an additional tool to enhance your learning 
experience. 
 
We recommend that you answer each review question and then compare your response to 
the suggested solution before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter. 
 
Use the following for questions 1-3: Yawkey Industries was recently acquired by a 
European company and soon will be required to issue financial statements using IFRS. 
However, Yawkey will continue to issue U.S. GAAP financial statements to satisfy its 
regulatory requirements. 
 
1. Which of the following U.S. GAAP accounting policies related to the recognition of 

Yawkey’s revenue would most likely require modification in order to comply with the 
requirements of IFRS: 

  
a) Yawkey does not recognize revenue on its concrete sales unless the amount of 

cash to be received has been fixed 
b) Yawkey uses an incremental cost model to account for its customer loyalty 

programs 
c) Yawkey recognizes revenue on its equipment sales when the risks and awards 

associated with ownership have been transferred to the customer 
d) Yawkey recognizes revenue on the sales of real estate when the legal title has 

passed to the buyer 
 

2. The accounting for Yawkey’s employee compensation and benefits plans complies 
with the requirements of U.S. GAAP. However, in order to comply with IFRS 
requirements, Yawkey will need to discontinue: 

  
a) basing the periodic costs associated with their defined contribution pension plans 

on the contribution due in each period 
b) using calculated asset values to determine the expected returns on their pension 

plan assets 
c) using a fair value-based accounting approach to account for their stock options-

based bonus plan 
d) classifying share-based awards as liabilities 

 
3. Which of the following accounting policies related to Yawkey’s assets would not be 

compliant with the requirements of both IFRS and U.S. GAAP: 
  

a) Yawkey capitalizes its development costs 
b) Yawkey amortizes its intangible assets over their estimated useful lives 
c) Yawkey uses the FIFO method of accounting for its inventory 
d) Yawkey uses the straight-line method to depreciate most of its machinery 
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4. Which of the following scenarios describes the proper accounting for inventory: 
  

a) Company A excludes sales commissions from the balance sheet carrying value 
of inventories for IFRS purposes 

b) Company B reverses previous write-downs of inventory under U.S. GAAP (in 
certain circumstances) 

c) Company C includes the costs to store its inventory in the IFRS balance sheet 
carrying value 

d) Company D expenses all direct costs made to prepare their inventory for sale 
under U.S. GAAP 

 
5. With regard to the accounting for impairment of assets, which of the following 

scenarios correctly describes how the reversal of impairment losses can be taken: 
  

a) Company A is using U.S. GAAP accounting and reverses the impairment loss on 
goodwill 

b) Company B is using U.S. GAAP accounting and reverses the impairment loss on 
a long-lived asset 

c) Company C is using IFRS accounting and reverses the impairment loss on 
goodwill 

d) Company D is using IFRS accounting and reverses the impairment loss on a 
long-lived asset 

 
6. Which of the following scenarios correctly describes an accounting policy that is 

compliant with the requirements of IFRS: 
  

a) Company A considers land and building elements separately when accounting 
for their leases 

b) Company B occasionally reverses impairment losses on goodwill 
c) Company C uses the LIFO costing method to account for their inventories 
d) Company D uses a historical cost-based approach to account for its share-based 

bonus plan 
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES 
 
1. A: Incorrect. Revenue is recognized when the amount of cash to be received has 

been fixed under both U.S. GAAP and IFRS requirements. 
 

B: Correct. The IFRS accounting model for customer loyalty programs is very 
different from the incremental cost approach used by many U.S. GAAP preparers. 
This accounting policy would most likely require modification under IFRS. 

 
C: Incorrect. Revenue is recognized when the risks and rewards associated with 
ownership have been transferred to the customer under both U.S. GAAP and IFRS 
requirements. 

 
D: Incorrect. Revenue is recognized when legal title has passed to the buyer under 
both U.S. GAAP and IFRS requirements. 
 
(See page 3-3 of the course material.) 

 
 
2. A: Incorrect. Basing periodic costs associated with defined contribution pension 

plans on the contributions due in each period is permitted under U.S. GAAP and 
IFRS. 

 
B: Correct. Yawkey will need to discontinue using calculated asset values to 
determine the expected returns on their pension plan assets, as such treatment is 
not permitted under IFRS. 

 
C: Incorrect. Using a fair value-based accounting approach to account for stock 
options-based bonus plans is permitted under U.S. GAAP and IFRS. 

 
D: Incorrect. Classifying share-based awards as liabilities is permitted under U.S. 
GAAP and IFRS. 
 
(See page 3-5 of the course material.) 
 

 
3. A: Correct. The capitalization of development costs is permitted under IFRS, but not 

U.S. GAAP. 
 

B: Incorrect. The amortization of intangible assets over their estimated useful lives is 
permitted under IFRS and U.S. GAAP.  

 
C: Incorrect. The FIFO method of accounting for inventory is permitted under IFRS 
and U.S. GAAP. 

 
D: Incorrect. The straight-line method of depreciation is permitted under IFRS and 
U.S. GAAP. 
 
(See page 3-7 of the course material.) 
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4. A: Correct. Selling costs are excluded for the balance sheet amount of inventories 
under IFRS requirements. 

 
B: Incorrect. Reversals of previous inventory write-downs on inventory are not 
permitted under U.S. GAAP. 

 
C: Incorrect. Storage costs are excluded for the balance sheet amount of inventories 
under IFRS requirements. 

 
D: Incorrect. Direct costs made to prepare inventory for sale are included in the 
balance sheet amount of inventories under U.S. GAAP requirements. 
 
(See page 3-6 of the course material.) 

 
 

5. A: Incorrect. Reversals of impairment losses are not permitted under U.S. GAAP.  
 

B: Incorrect. Reversals of impairment losses are not permitted under U.S. GAAP. 
 

C: Incorrect. Reversals of impairment losses on goodwill are not permitted under 
IFRS. 

 
D: Correct. IFRS accounting rules permit the reversal of impairment losses on long-
lived assets under certain conditions. Such reversals are not currently permitted 
under U.S. GAAP. 
 
(See page 3-9 of the course material.) 
 

 
6. A: Correct. Land and building elements must be considered separately when 

accounting for leases under IFRS. 
 

B: Incorrect. Reversals of impairment losses on goodwill are not permitted under 
IFRS. 

 
C: Incorrect. Using the LIFO costing method to account for inventories is not 
permitted under IFRS. 

 
D: Incorrect. Using a historical cost-based approach to account for share-based 
bonus plans is not permitted under IFRS. 
 
(See page 3-10 of the course material.) 
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3.4 Liabilities 
 
3.4.1 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
While the sources of guidance under U.S. GAAP and IFRS differ significantly, the 
general recognition criteria for provisions are similar. For example, IAS 37, Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets, provides the overall guidance for 
recognition and measurement criteria of provisions and contingencies. While there is no 
equivalent single standard under U.S. GAAP, ASC 450, Contingencies, and a number of 
other statements deal with specific types of provisions and contingencies (for example, 
ASC 410-20 for asset retirement obligations and ASC 420 for exit and disposal 
activities). Further, the guidance provided in two Concept Statements in U.S. GAAP 
(CON 5, Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business 
Enterprises, and CON 6, Elements of Financial Statements), is similar to the specific 
recognition criteria provided in IAS 37.  
 
U.S. GAAP and IFRS require recognition of a loss based on the probability of 
occurrence, although the definition of probability is different under U.S. GAAP (where 
probable is interpreted as “likely”) and IFRS (where probable is interpreted as “more 
likely than not”). The interpretation of probable, as presented in the guidance for 
contingencies, could lead to more contingent liabilities being recognized as provisions 
under IFRS, rather than being disclosed only in the footnotes to a company’s financial 
statements. At the same time, IFRS has a higher threshold for the recognition of 
contingent assets associated with insurance recoveries by requiring that they be virtually 
certain of realization, whereas U.S. GAAP allows earlier recognition. 
 
Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS prohibit the recognition of provisions for costs associated 
with future operating activities. Further, U.S. GAAP and IFRS require information about a 
contingent liability, whose occurrence is more than remote but did not meet the 
recognition criteria, to be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
3.4.2 INCOME TAXES 
 
ASC 740, Income Taxes, and IAS 12, Income Taxes, provide the guidance for income 
tax accounting under U.S. GAAP and IFRS, respectively. Both pronouncements require 
entities to account for both current tax effects and expected future tax consequences of 
events that have been recognized (that is, deferred taxes) using an asset and liability 
approach. Further, deferred taxes for temporary differences arising from non-deductible 
goodwill are not recorded under either approach and tax effects of items accounted for 
directly to equity during the current year are also allocated directly to equity. Finally, 
neither U.S. GAAP nor IFRS permits the discounting of deferred taxes. 
 
In 2009, the IASB issued an exposure draft (ED) containing proposals for an 
International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) on income taxes that would replace 
the current guidance under IAS 12, Income Taxes, and its related interpretations. The 
ED seeks to clarify certain aspects of IAS 12 and reduce the income tax accounting 
differences between IFRSs and U.S. GAAP. 
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The ED proposes significant changes to the accounting for income taxes under IAS 12, 
including the following: 
 

• Uncertain Tax Positions – The ED proposes to address uncertainty as part of the 
guidance related to the measurement of current and deferred tax assets and 
liabilities. The measurement guidance will require the use of a probability-
weighted average amount of all possible outcomes, assuming there is an 
examination by the taxing authority with full knowledge of all relevant information. 
IAS 12 contains no guidance on accounting for uncertainty. 

 
• Definitions – Changes to the definition of “tax basis” and the addition of the 

definition of “tax credit” and “investment tax credit.” 
 
• Initial Recognition Exemption – Removal of the exception to the recognition of 

deferred taxes on the initial recognition of an asset or liability when a basis 
difference exists. The ED’s measurement approach addresses this situation. 

 
• Exceptions for Investments in Subsidiaries and Related Entities – Changes to the 

exception "relating to [recognizing] a deferred tax asset or liability arising from 
investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates, and [interests in] joint 
ventures." The proposed exception will relate only to foreign subsidiaries, joint 
ventures, and branches (not associates) that are essentially permanent in 
duration. 

 
• Deferred Tax Asset Recognition – Change to the recognition of deferred tax 

assets such that deferred tax assets will be recognized in full, less a valuation 
allowance (if applicable). The ED also includes additional guidance derived from 
ASC 740 on assessing deferred tax assets for realization (e.g., expenses related 
to tax planning strategies). 

 
• Tax Rate: Effect of Distributions – Replacement of the requirement for entities to 

use the undistributed rate (for distributions to shareholders) when measuring tax 
assets and liabilities with an expected-rate approach. To determine the 
appropriate rate (distributed versus undistributed), entities should consider past 
experiences as well as the intent and ability to make distributions during the 
period in which the deferred tax asset or liability is expected to be recovered or 
settled. 

 
• Recording Subsequent Changes in Deferred Taxes – Change in the allocation 

guidance to replace “backwards tracing” with an approach similar to that required 
by ASC 740. 

 
• Classification of Deferred Taxes – Change from presenting all deferred taxes as 

non-current to classifying deferred tax assets and liabilities as either current or 
non-current. 
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The exposure draft process for this revised Standard is ongoing. The IASB revised its 
exposure draft and reissued it in the second half of 2010. After reviewing comments 
received on the exposure draft, and giving further consideration to income tax guidance 
as a whole, the IASB indicated that a fundamental review of the scope of the current 
project on accounting for income taxes may occur after 2011. In the meantime, the IASB 
is developing proposals for more limited amendments. The revised project scope has the 
potential to eliminate certain differences with U.S. GAAP. 
 
3.5 Other U.S. GAAP and IFRS Differences 
 
3.5.1 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The U.S. GAAP guidance for financial instruments is contained in several standards. 
Those standards include, among others, ASC 320, Investments – Debt and Equity 
Securities, ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, ASC 840, Transfers and Servicing, ASC 
480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements. 
IFRS guidance for financial instruments, on the other hand, is limited to three standards 
(IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement, and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures). U.S. GAAP and 
IFRS require financial instruments to be classified into specific categories to determine 
the measurement of those instruments, clarify when financial instruments should be 
recognized or derecognized in financial statements, and require the recognition of all 
derivatives on the balance sheet. Hedge accounting is permitted under both. Both U.S. 
GAAP and IFRS also require detail disclosures in the notes to financial statements with 
regard to the financial instruments reported in the balance sheet. 
 
Specific U.S. GAAP and IFRS differences related to financial instruments are included in 
Exhibit 3.2. 
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Exhibit 3.2 – Existing U.S. GAAP and IFRS Differences in the Accounting for 
Financial Instruments  
 
 U.S. GAAP IFRS 

 
Use of fair value 
option 

Financial instruments can be 
measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value reported 
through net income, except for 
specific ineligible financial 
assets and liabilities. 

Financial instruments can be 
measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value reported 
through net income provided 
that certain criteria, which are 
more restrictive than under U.S. 
GAAP, are met. 
 

Day one profits Entities may recognize day 
one gains on financial 
instruments reported at fair 
value even when all inputs to 
the measurement model are 
not observable. 
 

Day one gains are recognized 
only when all inputs to the 
measurement model are 
observable. 

Debt vs. equity 
classification 

U.S. GAAP specifically 
identifies certain instruments 
with characteristics of both 
debt and equity that must be 
classified as liabilities. Certain 
other contracts that are 
indexed to, and potentially 
settled in, a company’s own 
stock may be classified as 
equity if they:  
 
(i) require physical settlement 
or net-share settlement, or  
(ii) give the issuer a choice of 
net-cash settlement or 
settlement in its own shares. 
 

Classification of certain 
instruments with characteristics 
of both debt and equity focuses 
on the contractual obligation to 
deliver cash, assets, or an 
entity’s own shares. Economic 
compulsion does not constitute 
a contractual obligation. 
Contracts that are indexed to, 
and potentially settled in, a 
company’s own stock are 
classified as equity when 
settled by delivering a fixed 
number of shares for a fixed 
amount of cash. 

Compound (hybrid) 
financial instruments 

Compound (hybrid) financial 
instruments (for example, 
convertible bonds) are not 
bifurcated into debt and equity 
components, but they may be 
bifurcated into debt and 
derivative components. 
 

Compound (hybrid) financial 
instruments are required to be 
split into a debt and equity 
component and, if applicable, a 
derivative component. 
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 U.S. GAAP IFRS 

 
Impairment 
recognition – 
Available-for- 
sale (AFS) debt 
instrument 

Under ASC 320, an entity may 
defer the portion of an 
impairment loss that is not 
“credit-related” in equity (OCI) 
if it does not intend to sell the 
security (and it does not 
anticipate that it will be forced 
to sell the security prior to 
recovery). If this is the case, 
only the credit-related 
impairment losses would be 
recognized in earnings. 
 

Under IAS 39, the entire 
impairment loss is recognized in 
earnings immediately. 

Hedge effectiveness 
– shortcut method 
 

Permitted. Not permitted. 

Hedging a 
component 
of a risk in a 
financial 
instrument 

The risk components that may 
be hedged are specifically 
defined by the literature, with 
no additional flexibility. 
 

Allows entities to hedge 
components (portions) of risk 
that give rise to changes in fair 
value. 

Effective interest 
method 

Requires catch-up approach, 
retrospective method or 
prospective method of 
calculating the interest for 
amortized cost-based assets, 
depending on the type of 
instrument. 
 

Requires the original effective 
interest rate to be used 
throughout the life of the 
instrument for all financial 
assets and liabilities. 

 
Other differences that currently exist include: (i) definitions of a derivative and embedded 
derivative, (ii) cash flow hedge – basis adjustment and effectiveness testing, (iii) normal 
purchase and sale exception, (iv) derecognition of financial assets, (v) foreign exchange 
gain and/or losses on AFS investments, (vi) recording of basis adjustments when 
hedging future transactions, (vii) macro hedging, (viii) hedging net investments, (ix) 
impairment criteria for equity investments, and (x) puttable minority interest. 
 
The FASB and IASB have begun separate projects that will radically overhaul the way in 
which reporting entities account for financial instruments. 
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The IASB will be issuing their new guidance on the accounting for financial instruments 
separately in three phases: 
 

• Phase 1 addresses the Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets 
 
• Phase 2 addresses the Impairment of financial instruments 

 
• Phase 3 addresses Hedge Accounting (derivatives)  

 
The IASB has also issued a separate exposure draft on the accounting for Financial 
Liabilities as part of this project.  The FASB’s new accounting rules will address the 
same subjects as the three IASB new phases; however, the FASB guidance will be 
combined into one exposure draft. 
 
The IASB and FASB are both expected to finalize their new accounting standards for 
financial instruments in late 2011. 
 
3.5.2 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 
 
U.S. GAAP has largely converged with IFRS in the area of business combinations. Upon 
the release of the recently revised business combination standards (IFRS 3 [Revised] 
and ASC 805), many historical differences related to a number of areas have been 
eliminated, although certain important differences remain. The new standards have 
eliminated historical differences related to a number of areas (e.g., the definition of a 
business, the accounting for restructuring provisions in a business combination, the 
determination of value for share-based consideration, accounting for in-process research 
and development and subsequent adjustments to assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed, etc.). In addition, there were some significant changes to practice under both 
frameworks; for example, both new standards require companies to recognize 
transaction costs (e.g., professional fees) as period costs. 
 
Under U.S. GAAP, the revised business combinations guidance continues the 
movement toward: (1) greater use of fair value in financial reporting, and (2) 
transparency through expanded disclosures. It changes how business acquisitions are 
accounted for under U.S. GAAP, and will affect financial statements at the acquisition 
date in subsequent periods. 
 
The business combinations standards under U.S. GAAP and IFRS are very close in 
principles and language, with two major exceptions: (1) full goodwill, and (2) the 
requirements regarding recognition of contingent assets and contingent liabilities. 
Significant differences continue to exist in subsequent accounting. Different 
requirements for impairment testing and accounting for deferred taxes are among the 
most significant.  
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3.5.3 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Despite differences in terminology, the accounting for subsequent events under SAS 1, 
Codification of Auditing Standards and Procedures, and IAS 10, Events after the 
Balance Sheet Date, is largely similar. An event that occurs after the balance sheet date 
but before the financial statements have been issued that provides additional evidence 
about conditions existing at the balance sheet date usually results in an adjustment to 
the financial statements. If the event occurring after the balance sheet date but before 
the financial statements are issued relates to conditions that arose subsequent to the 
balance sheet date, the financial statements are not adjusted, but disclosure may be 
necessary in order to keep the financial statements from being misleading. 
 
3.5.4 RELATED PARTIES 
 
Both ASC 850 and IAS 24 (both entitled Related Party Disclosures) have a similar 
reporting objective: to make financial statement users aware of the effect of related party 
transactions on the financial statements. The related party definitions are broadly similar, 
and both standards require that the nature of the relationship, a description of the 
transaction, and the amounts involved (including outstanding balances) be disclosed for 
related party transactions. Neither standard contains any measurement or recognition 
requirements for related party transactions. ASC 850 does not require disclosure of 
compensation of key management personnel as IAS 24 does, but the financial statement 
disclosure requirements of IAS 24 are similar to those required by the SEC outside the 
financial statements. 
 
3.5.5 EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
Entities whose ordinary shares are publicly traded, or that are in the process of issuing 
such shares in the public markets, must disclose earnings per share (EPS) information 
pursuant to ASC 260 and IAS 33 (both entitled Earnings Per Share and which are 
substantially the same). Both require presentation of basic and diluted EPS on the face 
of the income statement, and both use the treasury stock method for determining the 
effects of stock options and warrants on the diluted EPS calculation. U.S. GAAP and 
IFRS use similar methods of calculating EPS, although there are a few detailed 
application differences. 
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REVIEW QUESTIONS 3.2 
 
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of 
the information presented in the chapter. They do not need to be submitted in order to 
receive CPE credit. They are included as an additional tool to enhance your learning 
experience. 
 
We recommend that you answer each review question and then compare your response to 
the suggested solution before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter. 
 
1. Penny Publishing is currently being sued by one of its vendors for breach of contract. 

Under IFRS rules pertaining to contingencies, the minimum probability threshold 
under which Penny would be required to recognize a $1,000,000 loss in its current 
period statement of comprehensive income is:  

  
a) “reasonably possible” 
b) “more likely than not” 
c) “likely” 
d) “more than remote” 

 
2. Which of the following accounting policies is consistent with the accounting for 

impairment losses on debt securities classified as Available-for-Sale under IAS 39: 
  

a) Company A recognizes them entirely in earnings 
b) Company B recognizes them in earnings only if the losses are “credit-related” 
c) Company C records them in other comprehensive income in all cases 
d) Company D discloses them in the notes to the financial statements (without 

further recognition) 
 

3. Which of the following scenarios reflects an accounting treatment that is permitted 
under U.S. GAAP but not under IFRS: 

 
a) Company A reverses impairment losses taken on most assets through earnings 
b) Company B uses the percentage-of-completion method to recognize revenue on 

service contracts 
c) Company C uses the FIFO costing method to value inventory 
d) Company D regularly elects the shortcut method for fair value hedges 

 
4. Which of the following scenarios reflects an accounting treatment that is compliant 

with IFRS but not U.S. GAAP: 
 

a) Company A recognizes impairment losses in earnings only if they are considered 
“credit-related” 

b) Company B calculates the expected return on their pension plan assets using a 
calculated asset value 

c) Company C calculates the current amortized cost of its investments using each 
instrument’s original effective interest rate (when using the effective interest rate 
method) 

d) Company D reverses impairment losses taken on goodwill through earnings 
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Use the following for questions 5-6: ABC Bank, a U.S.-based financial institution, is 
preparing to issue its first set of IFRS financial statements. The Controller at the bank is 
currently reviewing its U.S. GAAP accounting policies for financial instruments to ensure 
compliance with IFRS. 

 
5. Which of the following ABC Bank U.S. GAAP accounting policies would also be 

permitted under IFRS: 
 

a) ABC Bank only recognizes day one profits on derivatives when the fair value 
inputs applicable to those instruments are unobservable 

b) ABC Bank accounts for their fair value hedges using the shortcut method 
c) ABC Bank determines the amount of impairment losses for their securities based 

on management’s intent to sell (or not sell) the instrument 
d) ABC Bank classifies its securities as Held-to-Maturity, Available-for-Sale and 

Trading 
 

6. Which of the following financial instruments currently owned by ABC Bank would 
most likely require different classifications on the balance sheet under IFRS and U.S. 
GAAP: 

 
a) a mortgage-backed security 
b) an interest rate swap 
c) a convertible bond 
d) a fixed rate bond 
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES 3.2 
 
1. A: Incorrect. A provision would not be accrued under IFRS if the probability of loss 

were merely “reasonably possible.”  
 

B: Correct. IFRS and U.S. GAAP require recognition of a loss based on the 
probability of occurrence, although the definition of probability is different under U.S. 
GAAP (where probable is interpreted as “likely”) and IFRS (where probable is 
interpreted as “more likely than not”). In this example, Penny Publishing would 
recognize a $1,000,000 loss on their statement of comprehensive income if such 
loss is deemed “more likely than not.” 

 
C: Incorrect. The minimum probability threshold for recording loss provisions is 
“likely” under U.S. GAAP (not IFRS).  

 
D: Incorrect. A provision would not be accrued under IFRS if the probability of loss 
were merely “more than remote.” 
 
(See page 3-15 of the course material.) 
 

 
2. A: Correct. Impairment losses taken on debt securities classified as AFS are 

recognized entirely in earnings. 
 

B: Incorrect. This is the U.S. GAAP treatment (in certain cases).  
 

C: Incorrect. Impairment losses taken on debt securities classified as AFS are 
recognized entirely in earnings. 

 
D: Incorrect. Impairment losses taken on debt securities classified as AFS are 
recognized entirely in earnings. 
 
(See page 3-19 of the course material.) 
  

 
3. A: Incorrect. Reversing impairment losses taken on most assets through earnings is 

permitted under IFRS, but not U.S. GAAP. 
 

B: Incorrect. Using the percentage-of-completion method to recognize revenue on 
service contracts is permitted under IFRS, but not U.S. GAAP. 

 
C: Incorrect. The FIFO costing method is permitted under both IFRS and U.S. GAAP.  

 
D: Correct. The shortcut method for fair value hedges is permitted under U.S. 
GAAP, but not IFRS. 
 
(See page 3-19 of the course material.) 
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4. A: Incorrect. Under IFRS, the entire impairment loss is recognized in earnings 
immediately. 

 
B: Incorrect. IFRS precludes the use of a calculated value and instead requires that 
the actual fair value of plan assets be used. 

 
C: Correct. IFRS requires the original effective interest rate be used when 
calculating the amortized cost of an investment using the effective interest rate 
method. However, U.S. GAAP requires a catch-up approach that includes using an 
updated effective interest rate when performing the amortized cost calculation. 

 
D: Incorrect. Reversals of impairment losses on goodwill are not permitted under 
IFRS. 
 
(See page 3-19 of the course material.) 
  

 
5. A: Incorrect. The recognition of day one profits on financial instruments is not 

permitted under IFRS when the fair value inputs applicable to those instruments are 
unobservable. 

 
B: Incorrect. The shortcut method for fair value hedges is not permitted under IFRS. 

 
C: Incorrect. The amount of impairment losses for securities is not based on 
management’s intent under IFRS.  

 
D: Correct. The classification of securities into different categories (e.g., Held-to-
Maturity, Available-for-Sale, and Trading) to determine the measurement of those 
instruments is permitted under both IFRS and U.S. GAAP. 
 
(See pages 3-17 to 3-19 of the course material.) 
 

 
6. A: Incorrect. The IFRS and U.S. GAAP accounting rules for MBS are generally the 

same. 
 

B: Incorrect. The IFRS and U.S. GAAP accounting rules for interest rate swaps are 
generally the same. 

 
C: Correct. A convertible bond is considered a “hybrid” instrument under IFRS and 
U.S. GAAP. Under IFRS, hybrid instruments are required to be split into a debt and 
equity component when applicable. However, U.S. GAAP does not require such 
bifurcation. 

 
D: Incorrect. The IFRS and U.S. GAAP accounting rules for fixed rate bonds are 
generally the same. 
 
(See page 3-18 of the course material.)  
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CHAPTER 3 SUMMARY 
 

• As a general rule, IFRS accounting standards are considered more broad and 
“principles-based” than the “rules-based” U.S. standards. IFRS generally lacks 
the “bright lines,” comprehensive guidance and industry interpretation that is 
normally associated with U.S. GAAP. 

 
• While IFRS and U.S. GAAP do contain differences, the general principles, 

conceptual framework and accounting results between them are often the same 
or similar. 

 
• Significant areas of U.S. GAAP and IFRS divergence include the following: 

 
- Revenue recognition. Revenue recognition under both U.S. GAAP and 

IFRS is tied to the completion of the earnings process and the realization of 
assets from such completion. However, U.S. GAAP guidance in this area can 
be very prescriptive and often applies to specific industry transactions. 
Conversely, a single standard (IAS 18) exists under IFRS which contains 
general principles for the recognition of revenue. 

 
- Expense recognition. Expense recognition rules under IFRS and U.S. 

GAAP are largely convergent. However, specific areas of divergence include 
the accounting for share-based payments and employee benefits. 

 
- Assets. The accounting for long-lived assets, inventory, intangible assets 

leases and the impairment of assets is largely similar under IFRS and U.S. 
GAAP. However certain differences do exist. For example, differences in the 
asset impairment testing model may result in assets being impaired earlier 
under IFRS. Also, IFRS prohibits (whereas U.S. GAAP permits) the use of 
the last-in, first-out inventory costing methodology. Other differences also 
exist related to the capitalization of interest and the depreciation of long-lived 
assets. In general, U.S. GAAP contains more specific rules related to these 
areas than the principles-based IFRS. 

 
- Liabilities. Specific areas of divergence include the accounting for income 

taxes and contingencies. The IASB and FASB are currently working on a joint 
project to eliminate many of the differences that exist related to the 
accounting for income taxes. Regarding contingencies, both IFRS and U.S. 
GAAP require recognition of a loss based on the probability of occurrence. 
However the definition of probable differs under U.S. GAAP (where it is 
interpreted as “likely”) and IFRS (where it is interpreted as “more likely than 
not”). This difference could lead to more contingent liabilities being 
recognized as provisions under IFRS. 

 
- Other U.S. GAAP and IFRS differences. These differences include the 

accounting for financial instruments, business combinations, subsequent 
events, related parties and earnings per share. 
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Chapter 4: Convergence 
 
Learning Objectives: 
 
After studying this chapter, participants should be able to: 
 

• Explain the objectives of the IASB/FASB “convergence” project. 
• Describe the joint convergence projects currently being conducted and the goals 

of these various projects. 
• Identify accounting practices that are consistent with the new financial 

statements presentation format (as proposed by the IASB and FASB). 
 
4.1 What Is “Convergence?” 
 
One thing most everyone in the financial reporting community can agree on is the need 
for a single set of high-quality globally accepted accounting standards. 
 
The question now is: how do we get there? There are currently two options that have 
been proposed to achieve this goal: 
 

1. “Converge” IFRS and U.S. GAAP, or 
2. Require U.S. companies to “adopt” IFRS.1 

 
The term convergence refers to the efforts by the IASB and FASB to reduce the 
numerous differences that exist between IFRS and U.S. GAAP. Convergence is 
designed to bring U.S. GAAP and IFRS closer together. The focus is on having similar 
general principles. Many have misinterpreted convergence as meaning the development 
of the same or "identical" standards. The reality is that convergence never really 
contemplated "identical" standards.  
 
In fact, the FASB and IASB have acknowledged that doing so is too difficult to 
accomplish. This is evident in the boards' recently issued business combinations 
standards that contain differences in certain requirements. And, based on the boards' 
current thinking on topics such as consolidations and leasing, differences likely will exist 
in future converged standards. 
 
However the IASB and FASB have both expressed a strong interest in converging IFRS 
and U.S. GAAP, with their ultimate goal being a single set of high quality financial 
reporting standards. 
 

                                                 
1 This option is discussed in further detail in Chapter 5: Adoption. 
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4.2 The Timeline 
 

 
The U.S. movement toward convergence with International Financial Reporting 
Standards has quickly gathered momentum over the past several years. IFRS has been 
rapidly gaining acceptance around the world, spurring many U.S. companies to assess 
the potential implications of applying the standards. 
 
Key events in the history of IFRS and the U.S. GAAP/IFRS convergence efforts have 
included the following: 
 
4.2.1 PHASE I – 2001 AND PRIOR 
 

• 1973: International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) formed. The 
IASC was founded to formulate and publish International Accounting Standards 
(IAS) that would improve financial reporting and that could be accepted 
worldwide. In keeping with the original view that the IASC’s function was to 
prohibit undesirable accounting practices, the original IAS permitted several 
alternative accounting treatments. 

 
• 1994: IOSCO (International Organization of Securities Commissions) 

completed its review of then current IASC standards and communicated its 
findings to the IASC. The review identified areas that required improvement 
before IOSCO could consider recommending IAS for use in cross-border listings 
and offerings. 

 
• 1994: Formation of IASC Advisory Council approved to provide oversight to 

the IASC and manage its finances. 
 

• 1995: IASC developed its Core Standards Work Program. IOSCO’s Technical 
Committee agreed that the Work Program would result, upon successful 
completion, in IAS comprising a comprehensive core set of standards. The 
European Commission (EC) supported this agreement between IASC and 
IOSCO and “associated itself” with the work of the IASC towards a broader 
international harmonization of accounting standards. 
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• 1997: Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) established to provide 
interpretation of IAS. 

 
• 1999: IASC Board approved a restructuring that resulted in the current 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The newly constituted 
IASB structure comprises: (1) the IASC Foundation, an independent organization 
with 22 trustees who appoint the IASB members, exercise oversight, and raise 
the funds needed, (2) the IASB (Board) which has 12 full-time, independent 
board members and two part-time board members with sole responsibility for 
setting accounting standards, (3) the Standards Advisory Council, and (4) the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) (replacing 
the SIC) and is mandated with interpreting existing IAS and IFRS standards, and 
providing timely guidance on matters not addressed by current standards. 

 
• 2000: IOSCO recommended that multinational issuers be allowed to use 

IAS in cross-border offerings and listings.  
 

• April 2001: IASB assumed standard-setting responsibility from the IASC. 
The IASB met with representatives from eight national standard-setting bodies to 
begin coordinating agendas and discussing convergence, and adopted the 
existing IAS standards and SIC Interpretations. 

 
• February 2002: IFRIC assumed responsibility for interpretation of IFRS. 

 
4.2.2 PHASE II – 2002 TO 2005 

 
• July 2002: EC required EU-listed companies to prepare their consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with IFRS as endorsed by the EC (effective in 
2005). This was a critically important milestone that acted as a primary driver 
behind the expanded use of IFRS. 

 
• September 2002: Norwalk Agreement executed between the FASB and the 

IASB. A “best efforts” convergence approach was documented in a 
Memorandum of Understanding in which the Boards agreed to use best efforts to 
make their existing financial reporting standards fully compatible as soon as 
practicable and to coordinate future work programs. 

 
• December 2004: EC issued its Transparency Directive. This directive would 

require non-EU companies with listings on an EU exchange to use IFRS unless 
the Committee of European Securities Regulators (CESR) determined that the 
national GAAP was “equivalent” to IFRS. Although CESR advised in 2005 that 
U.S. GAAP was “equivalent” subject to certain additional disclosure 
requirements, the final decision as to U.S. GAAP equivalency, and what 
additional disclosures, if any, will be required, has not been reached. 

 
• April 2005: SEC published the “Roadmap.” An article published by then SEC 

Chief Accountant discussed the possible elimination of the U.S. GAAP 
reconciliation for foreign private issuers that use IFRS. The Roadmap laid out a 
series of milestones, which if achieved, would result in the elimination of the U.S. 
GAAP reconciliation by 2009, if not sooner. 
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4.2.3 PHASE III – 2006 TO PRESENT 
 

• February 2006: FASB and IASB published a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MoU). The MoU reaffirmed the Boards’ shared objective to 
develop high quality, common accounting standards for use in the world’s capital 
markets, and further elaborated on the Norwalk Agreement. The Boards would 
proceed along two tracks for convergence: (1) a series of short-term standard 
setting projects designed to eliminate major differences in focused areas, and (2) 
the development of new common accounting standards. 

 
• July 2007: The SEC issued a proposed rule to eliminate the requirement for 

IFRS filers to reconcile to U.S. GAAP. 
 

• September 2008: The IASB and the FASB updated and reaffirmed their 
“Memorandum of Understanding” to converge all major accounting standards 
(such as revenue recognition and leasing) by 2011 in light of a possible move to 
IFRS. 

 
• November 2008: The SEC released for public comment a proposed roadmap for 

adoption of IFRS by public companies in the U.S. 
 

• February 2010: The SEC reaffirms its support for convergence and the 
development of a single set of global accounting standards. It also publishes an 
updated “work plan” for use by its staff. The completion of this work plan, 
combined with the ongoing convergence efforts, will allow the SEC to decide on 
an IFRS mandate in 2011. 
 

• April 2011: The IASB and the FASB issue a progress report on their 
convergence work. The report highlights the many areas where the boards have 
improved and converged accounting standards, and describes their plans for 
completion of the priority projects. 
 

• May 2011: The SEC staff issued a paper titled “Exploring a Possible Method of 
Incorporation.” The staff paper presents a possible framework, referred to by 
some as “condorsement,” that would involve converging existing IFRS and U.S. 
GAAP, and establishing a FASB endorsement process for future IFRS. Initially, 
the framework would be a staged convergence under which the FASB would 
bring U.S. GAAP closer to IFRS by addressing and evaluating differences 
between the sets of standards and incorporating individual IFRS into U.S. GAAP. 
Once U.S. GAAP and IFRS are substantially converged, the FASB would 
endorse any newly issued IFRS into U.S. GAAP on a go-forward basis. However, 
the FASB would retain the ability to modify or supplement IFRSs, subject to SEC 
oversight when doing so would be in the public interest or necessary for the 
protection of investors. 

 

Convergence 4-4 
 



4.3 The Consensus 
 
4.3.1 THE NORWALK AGREEMENT 
 
In September 2002, following a joint meeting at the offices in Norwalk, Connecticut, the 
FASB and the IASB (together, the “Boards”) formalized their commitment to the 
convergence of generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (U.S. 
GAAP) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) by issuing a 
memorandum of understanding (commonly referred to as ‘the Norwalk agreement’). 
The two Boards pledged to use their best efforts to: 

 
• Make their existing financial reporting standards fully compatible as soon as 

practicable; and 
 

• Coordinate their future work programs to ensure that once achieved, 
compatibility is maintained. 

 
It should be noted that “compatible” does not mean word-for-word identical standards, 
but rather means that there are no significant differences between the two sets of 
standards. 
 
To achieve compatibility, the Boards agreed, as a matter of high priority, to: 
 

a) Undertake a short-term project aimed at removing a variety of individual 
differences between U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards; 

 
b) Remove other differences between IFRSs and U.S. GAAP that will remain at 

January 1, 2005, through coordination of their future work programs; that is, 
through the mutual undertaking of discrete, substantial projects which both 
Boards would address concurrently; 

 
c) Continue progress on the joint projects that they are currently undertaking; and 

 
d) Encourage their respective interpretative bodies to coordinate their activities. The 

Boards agree to commit the necessary resources to complete such a major 
undertaking. 

 
4.3.2 MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 
After their joint meeting in September 2002, the FASB and the IASB issued the Norwalk 
Agreement, in which they “each acknowledged their commitment to the development of 
high quality, compatible accounting standards that could be used for both domestic and 
cross-border financial reporting. At that meeting, the FASB and the IASB pledged to use 
their best efforts: (a) to make their existing financial reporting standards fully compatible 
as soon as is practicable, and (b) to co-ordinate their future work programs to ensure 
that once achieved, compatibility is maintained.” 
 
At their meetings in April and October 2005, the FASB and the IASB reaffirmed that 
development of a common set of high quality global standards remains a strategic 
priority of both the FASB and the IASB.  
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In February 2006, the FASB and IASB issued a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU). 
The MoU set forth the relative priorities within the FASB-IASB joint work program in the 
form of specific milestones to be reached by 2008. That MoU was based on three 
principles: 
 

• Convergence of accounting standards can best be achieved through the 
development of high quality, common standards over time. 
 

• Trying to eliminate differences between two standards that are in need of 
significant improvement is not the best use of the FASB’s and the IASB’s 
resources – instead, a new common standard should be developed that 
improves the financial information reported to investors. 
 

• Serving the needs of investors means that the Boards should seek convergence 
by replacing standards in need of improvement with jointly developed new 
standards. 

 
Based on the progress achieved by the Boards through 2007 and other factors, the SEC 
removed the reconciliation requirement for non-U.S. companies that are registered in the 
United States and use IFRSs as issued by the IASB. The European Commission has 
also proposed that the European Union eliminate the possible need for U.S. companies 
with securities registered in European capital markets and with financial information 
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP to reconcile their accounts to IFRSs or provide 
other compensating disclosures. Additionally, a number of countries have adopted 
IFRSs on the basis that companies using IFRSs would be able to access capital more 
efficiently in the major economies throughout the world, which is now possible. 
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REVIEW QUESTIONS 4.1 
 
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of 
the information presented in the chapter. They do not need to be submitted in order to 
receive CPE credit. They are included as an additional tool to enhance your learning 
experience. 
 
We recommend that you answer each review question and then compare your response to 
the suggested solution before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter. 
 
Use the following for questions 1-3: An auditor is researching the ongoing convergence 
efforts of the IASB and FASB. 
  
1. The auditor learns that the primary goal of the convergence project is to: 

  
a) eliminate the FASB as an accounting standard setter 
b) require all future international and U.S. accounting standards to be identical 
c) create a single set of high quality financial reporting standards 
d) transfer oversight of the accounting profession to the SEC 
 

2. The auditor wishes to summarize the contents of the Norwalk Agreement in a memo 
to his manager. Which of the following statements accurately reflects the primary 
belief expressed in this agreement: 
  
a) U.S. GAAP should be eliminated 
b) the SEC should formally oversee the actions of the IASB 
c) U.S. companies should be required to issue financial statements prepared under 

IFRS 
d) the two organizations should work towards converging IFRS and U.S. GAAP 
 

3. Which of the following actions taken by the IASB would be most consistent with the 
objectives of the convergence project: 
  
a) the IASB issues a new accounting standard that requires all financial instruments 

to be measured at amortized cost 
b) the IASB submits an accounting standard that has been drafted by the FASB to 

its constituents for comment 
c) the IASB announces that they no longer support the terms of the Norwalk 

Agreement 
d) the IASB cancels all future joint projects 
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES 4.1 
 
1. A: Incorrect. There are currently no plans to eliminate the FASB as an accounting 

standard setter. 
 

B: Incorrect. Making IFRS and U.S. GAAP identical is not currently a goal of the 
convergence project. 

 
C: Correct. The primary goal of the convergence project is to create a single set of 
high quality financial reporting standards. 

 
D: Incorrect. Transferring oversight of the accounting profession to the SEC is not a 
goal of the convergence project. 
 
(See page 4-1 of the course material.) 
 

 
2. A: Incorrect. The Norwalk Agreement does not state that U.S. GAAP should be 

eliminated. 
 

B: Incorrect. The Norwalk Agreement does not state that the SEC should formally 
oversee the actions of the IASB. 

 
C: Incorrect. The Norwalk Agreement does not state that U.S. companies should be 
required to issue financial statements prepared under IFRS. 

 
D: Correct. The primary belief expressed in the Norwalk Agreement is that the IASB 
and FASB should work towards converging IFRS and U.S. GAAP. 
 
(See page 4-5 of the course material.) 
 

 
3. A: Incorrect. The issuance of such a standard would create a new divergence with 

U.S. GAAP, which would not be consistent with the objectives of the convergence 
project. 

 
B: Correct. By submitting a FASB accounting standard to its constituents for 
comment, the IASB would be promoting a joint standard setting process involving 
both organizations. 

 
C: Incorrect. The Norwalk Agreement formalized the IASB and FASB’s commitment 
towards convergence. Therefore, such an announcement would not be consistent 
with the objectives of the convergence project. 

 
D: Incorrect. The goal of the joint projects is convergence between IFRS and U.S. 
GAAP. 
 
(See page 4-5 of the course material.) 
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4.4 The Joint Projects 
 
Joint projects are those that the standard setters have agreed to conduct simultaneously 
in a coordinated manner. Joint projects involve the sharing of staff resources, and every 
effort is made to keep joint projects on a similar time schedule at each Board. Past and 
current joint projects conducted by the FASB and IASB include: 
 

• The Conceptual Framework 
• Business Combinations 
• Financial Statement Presentation 
• Revenue Recognition 

 
Other joint convergence projects include discussions on financial instruments, fair value 
and consolidation. Exhibit 4.2 provides a summary of these projects, as well as the most 
recent published update on their status. 
 
Exhibit 4.2 – Sample of Joint Convergence Projects (Spring 2012) 
 

Convergence topic 
 

Status as of Spring 2012 Estimated completion date 

Business 
combinations 

Project completed and common 
standards were published. 

Project completed in 2007. 
ASC 805 was issued in 2007. 
The revisions to IFRS 3 were 
issued in 2008. 
 

Financial 
instruments 
(replacement of 
existing 
standards) 

IASB: Issued IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments (Phase 1) in 2009. 
Phases 2 & 3 issued (in draft form) in 
2010. 
 
FASB: Released comprehensive new 
standard (in draft form) in 2010. 
 

2012-2013 

Financial statement 
presentation  

The IASB and FASB are currently 
engaging in outreach activities related 
to this topic. Currently, there is no 
indication as to when an exposure 
draft will be issued. 
 

TBD 

Intangible assets Inactive – the Boards decided in 2007 
not to add a project to their joint 
agenda. 
 

Not part of the active agenda. 

Leases The IASB and FASB published for 
public comment an exposure draft on 
Leases in August 2010. The Boards 
made revisions and voted 
unanimously to re-expose their 
revised proposals in July 2011. 
 

2012-2013 

Liabilities and equity 
distinctions 

Preliminary views/discussion paper 
published in the first half of 2008. 
Currently, there is no indication as to 
when an exposure draft will be 
issued. 

TBD 
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Revenue recognition The IASB and FASB published for 
public comment an exposure draft on 
Revenue in June 2010. A final 
standard is due in Q4 2011. 
 

2012-2013 

Consolidations The IASB issued IFRS 10 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities in May 2011. On 
November 3, 2011, the FASB issued 
a proposed Accounting Standards 
Update, Consolidation (Topic 810): 
Principal versus Agent Analysis. The 
Board will consider feedback received 
on the proposed Update during 
redeliberations. 
 

2011 
 

Derecognition FASB: Issued SFAS 166 and SFAS 
167 in 2009. 
 
IASB: The IASB has delayed the 
release of the new IFRS on 
derecognition to focus on other 
priorities. Currently, there is no 
indication as to when an exposure 
draft will be issued.  
 

IASB: TBD 

Fair value 
measurement 

FASB: Completed standard. 
 
IASB: Issued IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement in May 2011. This new 
standard is largely consistent with 
U.S. GAAP requirements. 
 

Project completed. 

Post-employment 
benefits 
(including 
pensions) 

FASB: Completed first stage of 
FASB-defined Project. The FASB is 
currently monitoring the work of the 
IASB to determine the next steps on 
the project. 
 
IASB: In April 2010, the IASB 
published an exposure draft Defined 
Benefit Plans. The comment period 
ended in September 2010. The IASB 
finalized the amendments to IAS 19 in 
2011 
 

IASB: 2011 
FASB: TBD 
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4.4.1 CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK PROJECT 
 
At their joint meeting in October 2004, the IASB and the FASB decided to add to their 
respective agendas a joint project to develop a common conceptual framework, based 
on and built on both the existing IASB Framework and the FASB Conceptual 
Framework, which both Boards would use as a basis for their accounting standards. 
 
The objective of the conceptual framework project is to develop an improved common 
conceptual framework that provides a sound foundation for developing future accounting 
standards. Such a framework is essential to fulfilling the Boards’ goal of developing 
standards that are principles-based, internally consistent, and internationally converged 
and that lead to financial reporting that provides the information capital providers need to 
make decisions in their capacity as capital providers. The new framework, which will 
deal with a wide range of issues, will build on the existing IASB and FASB frameworks 
and consider developments subsequent to the issuance of those frameworks. 
 
The two Boards reached the following tentative decisions about the approach to the 
project:  
 

• The project should initially focus on concepts applicable to business entities in 
the private sector. Later, the boards should consider the applicability of those 
concepts to other sectors, beginning with not-for-profit organizations in the 
private sector. 

 
• The project should be divided into phases, with the initial focus being on 

achieving the convergence of the frameworks and improving particular aspects of 
the frameworks dealing with objectives, qualitative characteristics, elements, 
recognition, and measurement. Furthermore, as the frameworks converge and 
are improved, priority should be given to addressing issues that are likely to yield 
benefits to the Boards in the short term, that is, cross-cutting issues that affect a 
number of their projects for new or revised standards.  

 
• The converged framework should be in the form of a single document. It should 

include a summary and a basis for conclusions.  
 
The Conceptual Framework project is being conducted in eight phases: 
 

A. Objective and Qualitative Characteristics 
 
B. Elements and Recognition 

 
C. Measurement 

 
D. Reporting Entity 

 
E. Presentation and Disclosure 

 
F. Purpose and Status 

 
G. Application for Non-profit Entities 

 
H. Remaining Issues 
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For each phase, the Boards plan to issue documents that will seek comments from the 
public on the Boards’ tentative decisions. The Boards will consider these comments and 
re-deliberate their tentative decisions. 
 
In September 2010, the IASB and the FASB announced the completion of the first phase 
of their joint project to develop an improved conceptual framework for IFRS and U.S. 
GAAP. The Boards reiterated in their announcement that the objective of the conceptual 
framework project is to create a sound foundation for future accounting standards that 
are principles-based, internally consistent, and internationally converged. The new 
framework builds on existing IASB and FASB frameworks. Through the completion of 
this first phase, the IASB revised portions of its framework, while the FASB issued 
‘Concepts Statement 8’ to replace ‘Concepts Statements 1 and 2.’ 
 
4.4.2 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS PROJECT 
 
In January 2008, the IASB and FASB completed the business combinations joint project. 
The objective of this project was to develop a single high quality standard of accounting 
for business combinations that would ensure that the accounting for M&A activity is the 
same whether an entity is applying IFRSs or U.S. GAAP. 
 
The business combinations project became part of the IASB initial agenda when it was 
formed in 2001. Accounting for business combinations had been identified previously as 
an area of significant divergence within and across the IASB’s jurisdictions. 
 
The IASB decided to split the project into two phases. During the first phase, the FASB 
and the IASB deliberated the issue of accounting for business combinations separately. 
The FASB concluded the first phase in June 2001 by issuing Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations (SFAS 141), and Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS 
142).2 The IASB concluded their first phase in March 2004 by issuing IFRS 3, Business 
Combinations. In these standards, both Boards required the use of the purchase method 
as one method of accounting for business combinations. 
 
During the second phase of the project, FASB and the IASB simultaneously addressed 
the guidance for applying the acquisition method, and decided to conduct this phase as 
a joint effort, with the objective of reaching the same conclusions and similar standards 
for accounting for business combinations.  
 
The result of the project is the issuance of a revised version of IFRS 3, Business 
Combinations, and an amended version of IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements. The FASB has issued SFAS 141(R), Business Combinations, and SFAS 
160, Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements.3 
 

                                                 
2 These standards are now referred to as ASC 805 Business Combinations, and ASC 350 Intangibles – 
Goodwill and Other in the FASB Codification. 
3 SFAS 160 is now part of ASC 810 Consolidation in the FASB Codification. 
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4.4.3 FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION PROJECT4 
 

In April 2004, FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) created a 
joint project on financial statement presentation. The objective is to create a common 
standard for the form, content, classification, aggregation and display of line items on the 
face of financial statements. The new guidelines are intended to help equity investors 
and other financial statement users better understand a business's past and present 
financial position and assess potential future cash flow.  
 
The project is being conducted in three phases: 
 
PHASE A  
 

The Boards completed deliberations on Phase A in December 2005, and on September 
6, 2007, the IASB published a revised version of IAS 1, Presentation of Financial 
Statements. This brought IAS 1 largely in line with ASC 220, Comprehensive Income. 
FASB decided not to issue an exposure draft on its Phase A conclusions, but rather to 
issue a combined exposure draft for Phases A and B. 
 
PHASE B  
 

On June 30, 2008, the Boards issued preliminary views on how financial information will 
be presented. The first working principle is that financial statements should portray a 
cohesive financial picture of an entity. Ideally, financial statements should be cohesive at 
the line-item level, thus to the extent practical, an entity would label line items similarly 
across the financial statements and present categories and sections in the same order in 
each financial statement. Classifications are based on the different functional activities of 
an entity using terminology similar to today’s cash flow statements. 
 
Exhibit 4.3 – Proposed Financial Statements Format 
 

Statement of financial 
position 

Statement of comprehensive 
income 

Statement of cash flows 

Business section 
Operating category 

Operating finance 
sub-category 

Investing category 

Business section 
Operating category 

Operating finance sub-
category 

Investing category 

Business section 
Operating category 

 
 

Investing category 
   
Financing section 

Debt category 
Equity category 

Financing section 
Debt category 

Financing section 
Debt category 

 Multi-category transaction 
section 

Multi-category transaction 
section 

   
Income tax section Income tax section Income tax section 
   
Discontinued operations 
section 

Discontinued operations 
section 

Discontinued operations 
section 

   
 Other comprehensive 

income (net of tax) 
 

                                                 
4 Adapted from the article “Shaking Up Financial Presentation” by Guy McClain and Andrew J. McLelland, 
Journal of Accountancy, Nov. 2008. 
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The business section includes both operating and investing categories. Operating 
assets and liabilities are those that management views as related to the central purpose 
or purposes for which the entity is in business and changes in those assets and 
liabilities. The investing category would include all assets and liabilities that 
management views as unrelated to the central purpose for which the entity is in business 
and any changes in those assets and liabilities. An entity would use its investing assets 
and liabilities to generate a return but would not use them in its primary revenue and 
expense generating activities. The financing section would include only financial assets 
and financial liabilities that management views as part of the financing of the entity’s 
business activities. Those are referred to as financing assets and liabilities. 
 
Exhibit 4.4 provides examples of how a consolidated balance sheet and statement of 
comprehensive income would look when prepared using the methods proposed under 
the joint financial statements presentation project. 
 
Management would choose the classification that best reflects their views of what 
constitutes its business (operating and investing) and financing activities and would 
explain them as a matter of accounting policy in the footnotes. Any changes in 
classification will be implemented through retrospective application to prior periods 
consistent with ASC 250, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, and IAS 8, 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.  
 
Extraordinary items (see "Extraordinary Items Share Exclusive Company," JofA, May 
2007) will not be presented in a separate section or category because the concept of 
extraordinary items is being eliminated. 
 
The proposed new financial statements format will also change the statement of cash 
flows as prescribed in ASC 230, Statement of Cash Flows, and IAS 7, Cash Flow 
Statements. Although the format of these statements will be similar under the new 
method, there are some significant changes:  

 
• First, the notion of cash equivalents is eliminated. The new statement will now 

report cash activity only. In addition, cash flow will be presented in the direct 
method. Under FASB Statement No. 95, cash flow is reported under either the 
indirect method (starting with net income) or the direct method (starting with top-
line revenue). The new model will start at the top of the statement of 
comprehensive income and work through each new section. 

 
• Second, a proposed new schedule would supply investors and analysts more 

information for predicting future cash flows. This schedule will reconcile the cash 
flow statement less transactions from equity using the direct method to the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
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Exhibit 4.4 – Examples of Financial Statements under Proposed Model 
 
Consolidated Balance Sheet 
 
 December 31, 20X7 December 31, 20X6
BUSINESS 
Operating assets and liabilities 
Short term 

Receivables 68,000 54,000
Less: Allowance for bad debts (2,000) (1,000)
Inventories 26,000 20,000
Prepaid Expenses 19,000 24,000

Short-term assets 111,000 97,000
Accounts payable (19,000) (16,000)
Accrued liabilities and other (56,000) (74,000)

Short-term liabilities (75,000) (90,000)
 
Long-term 

Property, plant, and equipment 34,000 24,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation (9,000) (6,000)
Goodwill 20,000 25,000
Intangibles 82,000 82,000
Less: Accumulated amortization (21,000) (14,000)
Other assets and liabilities, net (5,000) (3,000)

Net long-term assets 101,000 108,000
Net operating assets 137,000 115,000

 
Investing assets and liabilities 
Long-term 

Available-for-sale securities 2,000 3,000
Investment in affiliate – equity method 6,000 5,000
Total investing assets 8,000 8,000

Net business assets 145,000 123,000
 
FINANCING 
Financing assets 
Short-term 

Cash 92,000 94,000
Total financing assets 92,000 94,000

 
Financing liabilities 
Short-term 

Dividends payable (3,000) (3,000)
Short-term debt (14,000) (1,000)

Short-term financing liabilities (17,000) (4,000)
 
Long-term 

Long-term debt (71,000) (49,000)
Long-term financing liabilities (71,000) (49,000)
Net financing assets 4,000 41,000
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INCOME TAXES 
Short-term 

Income tax payable (8,000) (12,000)
 
Long-term 

Deferred tax assets, net 10,500 13,500
Net income tax assets 2,500 1,500

 
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
Assets classified as held for sale 20,000 22,000
Liabilities classified as held for sale (8,000) (8,000)

Net assets held for sale 12,000 14,000
 
EQUITY 

Common stock and add. paid in capital (47,000) (40,000)
Treasury stock 142,000 97,000
Retained earnings (250,750) (228,000)
Accumulated other comp. income (7,750) (8,500)

Total equity (163,500) (179,500)
 
 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 
 December 31, 20X7 December 31, 20X6
BUSINESS 
Operating  

Sales 384,000 315,000
Cost of goods sold (158,000) (130,000)

Gross profit on sales 226,000 185,000
Selling expenses (76,000) (57,000)
General administrative expenses (75,000) (64,000)
Other operating expenses (23,000) (30,000)

Operating income 52,000 34,000
 
Investing 

Equity in earnings of affiliate 2,000 2,000
Dividend income on securities 1,000 1,000

Investing income 3,000 3,000
 

Business income 55,000 37,000
 
FINANCING 

Interest expense (5,000) (3,000)
Financing expense (5,000) (3,000)

 
INCOME TAXES 

Current tax expense (9,000) (7,000)
Deferred tax expense (4,000) (2,000)

Income tax expense (13,000) (9,000)
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

Loss on discontinued operations, net of 750 
income tax benefit 

 
(2,250) -0-

 
Net income 34,750 25,000

 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale 
securities (investing) net of 250 and 500 of 
income tax benefit, respectively 

 
 

(750) (1,500)
 

Total Comprehensive Income 34,000 23,500
 
PHASE C 
 
The Boards will begin work on Phase C on the presentation and display of interim 
financial information for U.S. GAAP toward the end of Phase B. Tentatively, Phase C will 
address: 
 

• What financial statements should be included in interim financial statements 
 

• Whether interim financial information should be presented in condensed form 
 

• What comparative periods should be required 
 

• Whether guidance for nonpublic companies should differ from public companies  
 
The joint project will not address the recognition or measurement of assets, liabilities or 
transactions provided in other standards. In addition, the scope of the project does not 
include the notes to the financial statements, management discussion and analysis, pro 
forma measures, segment reporting, financial ratios, forecasts, non-financial information 
and ratios, and specific industry financial statements, except for how the decisions of this 
project may affect the financial statements of financial institutions. 
 
4.4.4 REVENUE RECOGNITION PROJECT 
 
Revenue is an important number to users of financial statements in assessing a 
company’s performance and prospects. However, revenue recognition requirements in 
U.S. GAAP have historically differed from those in IFRS. The requirements in U.S. 
GAAP comprise numerous standards – many are industry-specific and some can 
produce conflicting results for economically similar transactions. Although IFRSs contain 
fewer standards on revenue recognition, its two main standards have different principles 
and can be difficult to understand and apply beyond simple transactions.  
 
The objective of the joint IASB/FASB revenue recognition project is to clarify the 
principles for recognizing revenue and to create a joint revenue recognition standard for 
IFRSs and U.S. GAAP that companies can apply consistently across various industries 
and transactions. 
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By developing a common standard that clarifies the principles for recognizing revenue, 
the Boards aim to: 
 

• Remove inconsistencies and weaknesses in existing revenue recognition 
standards and practices 

 
• Provide a more robust framework for addressing revenue recognition issues 

 
• Simplify the preparation of financial statements by reducing the number of 

standards to which companies must refer 
 

• Improve comparability of revenue across companies and geographical 
boundaries. 

 
In June 2010, the IASB and the FASB published for public comment a draft standard to 
improve and align the financial reporting of revenue from contracts with customers and 
related costs. 
 
The proposed accounting model would create a single revenue recognition standard for 
IFRS and U.S. GAAP that would be applied across various industries and capital 
markets. The publication of the joint proposal represents a significant step forward 
toward global convergence in one of the most important and pervasive areas in financial 
reporting. The proposed standard would replace IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction 
Contracts, and related interpretations. In U.S. GAAP, it would supersede most of the 
guidance on revenue recognition in Topic 605 of the FASB Accounting Standards 
Codification. A final joint Standard is due by the end of 2011. 
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REVIEW QUESTIONS 4.2 
 
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of 
the information presented in the chapter. They do not need to be submitted in order to 
receive CPE credit. They are included as an additional tool to enhance your learning 
experience. 
 
We recommend that you answer each review question and then compare your response to 
the suggested solution before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter. 
 
1. Staff members of the IASB and FASB hold a meeting to discuss the creation of an 

outline that would guide the two organizations in the issuance of future accounting 
standards. This meeting is most likely associated with which of the following joint 
projects: 
 
a) Financial Statement Presentation project 
b) Business Combinations project 
c) Revenue Recognition project 
d) Conceptual Framework project 
 

Use the following for questions 2-3: Lansdowne Inc. is an aggregates company whose 
main line of business is paving roads. The company owns several trucks that are used 
to fulfill this purpose. The company also owns a portfolio of fixed income securities, 
which it holds solely for the purposes of generating investment income. 
  

2. Under the proposed new financial statement format, Lansdowne’s paving trucks and 
securities portfolio would be classified as ________ and ________ assets, 
respectively, in the “Business” section of their Statement of Financial Position. 
 
a) operating and financing 
b) operating and investing 
c) investments and equity 
d) investing and financing 
 

3. Which of the following line items would no longer appear on Lansdowne’s financial 
statements if the statements were to be prepared under the proposed new format: 
 
a) bad debt expense 
b) other comprehensive income 
c) extraordinary loss due to natural disaster 
d) loss on discontinued operations 
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES 4.2 
 
1. A: Incorrect. The objective of the financial statements presentation project is to 

create a common standard for the form, content, classification, aggregation, and 
display of financial statements. Such a meeting would most likely not be associated 
with this joint project. 

 
B: Incorrect. The objective of the business combinations project is to develop a 
single, high quality standard of accounting for business combinations. Such a 
meeting would most likely not be associated with this joint project. 

 
C: Incorrect. The objective of the revenue recognition project is to develop a single, 
high quality standard of accounting for recognition of revenue. Such a meeting would 
most likely not be associated with this joint project. 

 
D: Correct. The objective of the conceptual framework project is to develop an 
improved common conceptual framework that provides a sound foundation for 
developing future accounting standards. Such a meeting would most likely be 
associated with this joint project. 
 
(See page 4-11 of the course material.) 

 
 
2. A: Incorrect. The “Business” section of a Statement of Financial Position (under the 

proposed new format) would not include assets and liabilities that fall within the 
financing category. 

 
B: Correct. The “Business” section of a Statement of Financial Position (under the 
proposed new format) would include assets and liabilities that fall within the 
operating and investing categories. 

 
C: Incorrect. The “Business” section of a Statement of Financial Position (under the 
proposed new format) would not include assets and liabilities that fall within the 
investments and equity categories. 

 
D: Incorrect. The “Business” section of a Statement of Financial Position (under the 
proposed new format) would not include assets and liabilities that fall within the 
financing category. 
 
(See page 4-13 of the course material.) 
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3. A: Incorrect. Bad debt expense will continue to be reported under the proposed new 
financial statement format. 

 
B: Incorrect. Other comprehensive income will continue to be reported under the 
proposed new financial statement format. 

 
C: Correct. Extraordinary items will not be presented in a separate section or 
category, as the concept of extraordinary items is being eliminated. 

 
D: Incorrect. Losses on discontinued operations will continue to be reported under 
the proposed new financial statement format. 
 
(See page 4-14 of the course material.)  
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CHAPTER 4 SUMMARY 
 

• The movement toward International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as a 
single set of globally accepted accounting standards has quickly gathered 
momentum over the past several years. IFRS has been rapidly gaining 
acceptance around the world, spurring many U.S. companies to assess the 
potential implications of adopting the standard. 

 
• Many in the financial reporting community agree that there is a need for a single 

set of high-quality globally accepted accounting standards. There are currently 
two options that have been proposed to fulfill this need: 
 

• “Converge” IFRS and U.S. GAAP, or 
• Require U.S. companies to “adopt” IFRS. 

 
• The term “convergence” refers to the efforts by the IASB and FASB to eliminate 

the numerous differences that exist between IFRS and U.S. GAAP. Convergence 
is designed to bring U.S. GAAP and IFRS closer together.  

 
• In October 2002, the IASB and FASB formalized their commitment to the 

convergence of U.S. GAAP and IFRS by issuing the “Norwalk agreement”. This 
was followed by the issuance of a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) in 
February 2006 that set forth specific convergence-related milestones to be 
reached by 2008. 

 
• The IASB and FASB continue to work on a number of joint convergence projects, 

including projects related to: 
 

• The Conceptual Framework 
• Business Combinations 
• Financial Statement Presentation 
• Revenue Recognition 
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Chapter 5: Adoption 
 
Learning Objectives: 
 
After studying this chapter, participants should be able to: 
 

• List and describe the seven milestones for adopting IFRS in the United States 
(as discussed in the SEC “Roadmap”). 

• Identify practices that are consistent with the SEC’s timetable for adopting IFRS 
in the United States. 

• Recognize practices that are consistent with the authoritative guidance on 
preparing a company’s first set of IFRS financial statements (as outlined in IFRS 
1). 

• Describe the costs and benefits associated with adopting IFRS. 
 
As noted in the previous chapter, there are currently two options being pursued to create 
a single set of high-quality, globally accepted accounting standards. The first option 
involves the convergence of U.S. GAAP with IFRS. The second option, discussed in this 
chapter, involves formally adopting IFRS in the United States and dropping U.S. GAAP 
altogether. While this option has its advantages, it would also come with considerable 
costs to U.S. companies. 
 
5.1 IFRS and the SEC 
 
5.1.1 THE SEC “ROADMAP” 
 
In November 2008, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) published for 
comment its proposed ‘Roadmap for the Potential Use of Financial Statements Prepared 
in Accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards by U.S. Issuers.’ 
 
The SEC has long signaled that U.S. and foreign regulators should pursue a single set 
of high quality global accounting standards that would enhance the comparability of 
financial statements. In the Roadmap, the SEC repeated its belief that International 
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB may be the set of accounting 
standards that would best provide comparable financial information across increasingly 
global capital markets. The Commission had previously published a Concept Release on 
allowing U.S. issuers to prepare financial statements using IFRS, and approved a Rule 
in December 2007 that allows foreign private issuers to prepare financial statements 
using IFRS without reconciling to U.S. GAAP. 
 
Under the proposal, the SEC would decide in 2011 whether to proceed with rulemaking 
to require that U.S. issuers use IFRS. Although the Roadmap proposed by the SEC 
included allowing early adoption of IFRS beginning with filings in 2010, this proposal was 
subsequently withdrawn in 2010. 
 
The Roadmap spells out seven milestones that would influence the SEC’s 2011 decision 
on whether to move forward. The milestones are: 
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1. Improvements in Accounting Standards. The SEC notes that the current joint 
work plans of the two standard setters, as well as other work undertaken by 
them, furthers the goal of comprehensive, high-quality standards. The 
Commission continues to monitor the activities of both the FASB and the IASB 
and the progress of their efforts. The Commission will consider the degree of 
progress made by the FASB and the IASB in any future evaluation of the 
potential expanded role of IFRS in the reporting by U.S. issuers. When the 
Commission considers mandating use of IFRS by U.S. issuers in 2011, it will 
consider whether those accounting standards are of high quality and sufficiently 
comprehensive. 

 
2. Accountability and Funding of the IFRS Foundation. The Commission will 

carefully consider the degree to which the IFRS Foundation has a secure, stable 
funding mechanism that permits it to function independently and that enhances 
the IASB’s standard setting process. The SEC has proposed that a new 
“monitoring group” (comprised of various securities authorities) be established to 
provide oversight over the IFRS Foundation. The SEC will also evaluate the 
effectiveness of this oversight mechanism in making the determination whether 
mandating IFRS is in the public interest for the protection of investors and our 
markets. 

 
3. Improvement in the Ability to Use Interactive Data for IFRS Reporting. In 

May 2008, the Commission proposed rules to require companies to provide their 
financial statements to the Commission and on their corporate Web sites in 
interactive data format using the eXtensible Business Reporting Language 
(“XBRL”) in order to improve their usefulness to investors. Under those proposed 
rules, financial statement information could be submitted by public companies in 
interactive data format, and that financial information could then be downloaded 
directly into spreadsheets, analyzed in a variety of ways using off-the-shelf 
commercial software, or used within investment models in any of a number of 
other software formats. The Commission will consider the IFRS Foundation’s 
progress in assisting with the implementation of XBRL (from an IFRS 
perspective) prior to proceeding with rulemaking on IFRS for all U.S. issuers. 

 
4. Education and Training. The Commission will take into account the status of 

the overall education, training and readiness of investors, preparers, auditors and 
other parties involved in the preparation of financial statements prior to 
proceeding with rulemaking on IFRS for all U.S. issuers. 

 
5. Limited Early Use of IFRS Where This Would Enhance Comparability for 

U.S. Investors. The proposed Roadmap included a rule that would have allowed 
a limited number of U.S. issuers to use IFRS in filings beginning with fiscal years 
ending on or after December 15, 2009. However, this proposal was subsequently 
withdrawn in 2010 (as noted above). 

 
6. Anticipated Timing of Future Rulemaking by the Commission. After 

considering whether adequate progress has been made toward these 
milestones, the Commission would then determine whether or not to move 
forward with IFRS rulemaking in 2011. The SEC notes that it is already 
proceeding with the following actions to prepare for its decision: 
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- SEC staff has begun a comprehensive review of all SEC financial reporting 
rules in order to recommend amendments that would fully implement IFRS 
throughout the regulatory framework for registration and reporting under both 
the Securities Act and the Exchange Act. 

- The Office of the Chief Accountant will undertake a study on the implications 
for investors and other market participants of implementing the use of IFRS 
by U.S. issuers and report its findings to the Commission. The SEC 
anticipates that the report will be made publicly available.  

 
7. Implementation of the Mandatory Use of IFRS. The proposed Roadmap 

indicates that in proceeding along the Roadmap and as part of evaluating 
whether to mandate IFRS adoption by U.S. issuers, the SEC will need to 
consider the following: 

 
- Whether to address, as part of a rule making IFRS mandatory for U.S. 

issuers, the various sets of accounting principles, other than IFRS, currently 
accepted from foreign private issuers in their filings with the SEC and their 
requirement to reconcile to U.S. GAAP.  

 
Although the year 2011 has come and gone, the SEC continues to deliberate on the 
implementation of IFRS in the United States. Currently, there is no timeline for a final 
decision. 
 
5.1.2 THE SEC “WORK PLAN” 
 
The comment period for the Securities and Exchange Commission’s (SEC) proposed 
IFRS Roadmap ended in April 2009; U.S. companies waited for several months for the 
SEC to announce its next steps on adopting IFRS. The anticipated announcement came 
in February 2010 when the SEC issued a formal statement supporting convergence and 
the development of a single-set of global accounting standards. The statement provided 
an overview of the SEC’s IFRS activities to date, summarized certain aspects of the 
input received on the IFRS Roadmap, and presented an approach going forward for 
IFRS in the U.S.  
 
Most importantly, the SEC has directed its staff to execute a Work Plan, the completion 
of which, combined with the completion of ongoing convergence efforts, will allow it to 
decide on a mandate in 2011. This is consistent with the timing outlined in the proposed 
IFRS Roadmap. The SEC statement was significant, as it put this Commission on record 
for supporting the movement to IFRS.  
 
The Work Plan outlines a detailed set of activities that the SEC staff will undertake to 
provide the SEC with the information it needs to make a determination of whether, when, 
and how to incorporate IFRS into the U.S. financial reporting system. The Work Plan 
addresses the following six areas of concern that were highlighted in comments on the 
SEC’s proposed IFRS Roadmap: 
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1. Sufficient development and application of IFRS for the U.S. domestic 
reporting system. Before the SEC decides whether to incorporate IFRS into the 
U.S. financial reporting system, it will first determine whether the standards are 
sufficiently developed and applied. To help make this determination, the SEC 
staff will analyze whether the standards are comprehensive, auditable, and 
enforceable, and allow financial statement comparability within and across 
jurisdictions. 
 

2. The independence of standard setting for the benefit of investors. The SEC 
staff will evaluate whether the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
is sufficiently independent for the benefit of investors. Specifically, the staff will 
analyze whether the IASB’s funding and governance structure supports an 
independent standard-setting process. Of particular concern, is whether the IASB 
can develop high-quality accounting standards that benefit investors while 
demonstrating independence from commercial and political pressures and 
maintaining accountability to investors through appropriate due process. 

 
3. Investor understanding and education regarding IFRS. Because of the 

differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS, the SEC staff will consider investors’ 
current understanding and familiarity with IFRS and how they become further 
educated. The extent to which investors will need further education will affect the 
scope and timing of transition to IFRS. 

 
4. Examination of the U.S. regulatory environment that would be affected by a 

change in accounting standards. The SEC staff will consider the impact not 
only on the manner in which the SEC fulfills its mission, but also on other areas 
of the regulatory environment such as regulatory filings with industry regulators, 
tax issues (e.g., use of the last-in-first-out (LIFO) method of accounting for 
inventory), statutory dividend and stock repurchase restrictions linked to financial 
reporting, the need to align audit regulation and audit standard setting with IFRS, 
and potential exemptions for broker-dealer and investment company reporting. 
The SEC staff will also examine the effect on adoption of IFRS for private 
companies. 

 
5. The impact on issuers, both large and small, including changes to 

accounting systems, changes to contractual arrangements, corporate 
governance considerations, and litigation contingencies. The SEC staff will 
assess the magnitude and logistics of the changes that issuers would need to 
undertake with respect to accounting systems, controls, and procedures; 
contractual arrangements; and corporate governance. The SEC will also assess 
legal issues associated with the lower threshold for recognition of litigation-
related loss contingencies under IFRS. 

 
6. Human capital readiness. The SEC staff will explore readiness considerations 

related to education and training for issuers, including audit committees, investor 
relations departments, specialists, attorneys, external auditors, regulators (e.g., 
SEC staff, PCAOB staff), state licensing bodies, professional associations, 
industry groups, and educators. The SEC staff will also explore the impact of 
adoption of IFRS on the availability of external audit services and audit quality. 
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The first two areas above focus on information that is relevant to the SEC’s 
determination of whether to incorporate IFRS into the U.S. financial reporting system, 
while the last four focus on the when and how (timing and scope) of potential adoption. 
The Work Plan is subject to further adjustments for new information or developments, 
and the SEC staff will provide public progress reports beginning no later than October 
2010, continuing until the Work Plan is completed. 
 
While the SEC did not define a date certain for IFRS adoption, the statement 
acknowledges that the first time U.S. companies could be required to report under IFRS 
would be approximately 2015 or 2016 (See Exhibit 5.1). 
 
Exhibit 5.1 – Possible IFRS Adoption Timeline 

 
 

2011 
 

2012 
 

2013 
 

2014 
 

2015 
 

2016 
 

 
 

Potential IFRS 
Early Adoption 

U.S. GAAP 
Reporting 

First IFRS 
Financial 

Statements 

January 1, 2013 
Transition Date 

Opening statement of 
financial position 

December 31, 2015 
Reporting Date 
Three years of 

financial statements 
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REVIEW QUESTIONS 5.1 
 

The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of 
the information presented in the chapter. They do not need to be submitted in order to 
receive CPE credit. They are included as an additional tool to enhance your learning 
experience. 
 
We recommend that you answer each review question and then compare your response to 
the suggested solution before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter. 
 
1. Which of the following statements summarizes the primary views of the SEC as 

expressed in its ‘Roadmap” document: 
  
a) a single set of global accounting standards is not desired 
b) IFRS may represent the best option for a single set of high quality global 

accounting standards 
c) U.S. GAAP must be preserved at all costs 
d) U.S. companies must begin preparing their financial statements using IFRS 

immediately 
 

2. Which of the following actions represents a movement towards accomplishing the 
seven adoption milestones outlined in the SEC Roadmap: 
  
a) colleges and universities in the U.S. continue teaching accounting courses using 

only U.S. GAAP literature 
b) the SEC phases out the XBRL 
c) the IASB and FASB suspend all standard setting activities until 2012 
d) various securities regulators around the world form a coalition to monitor the 

activities of the IASB 
 

3. Which of the following actions performed by an SEC staff member is the most 
consistent with the goals of the SEC “work plan” for IFRS adoption in the United 
States: 
  
a) Staff Member A approves the early adoption of IFRS for a U.S.-based tech 

company 
b) Staff Member B requires a large accelerated filer to file IFRS financial statements 

immediately 
c) Staff Member C deems IFRS to be auditable and enforceable 
d) Staff Member D requires the IASB to amend the International Accounting 

Standard on revenue recognition 
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES 5.1 
 
1. A: Incorrect. The SEC has long signaled that U.S. and foreign regulators should 

pursue a single set of high quality global accounting standards that would enhance 
the comparability of financial statements. 

 
B: Correct. In the Roadmap, the SEC repeated its belief that International Financial 
Reporting Standards, as issued by the IASB, may be the set of accounting standards 
that would best provide comparable financial information across increasingly global 
capital markets. 

 
C: Incorrect. The SEC has not expressed this view. 

 
D: Incorrect. There is no such requirement included in the Roadmap. 
 
(See page 5-1 of the course material.) 
 

 
2. A: Incorrect. The status of IFRS training and education efforts is a milestone that the 

SEC will consider prior to their 2011 decision. Colleges and universities teaching 
GAAP-only curriculum would not represent a movement towards accomplishing this 
milestone.  

 
B: Incorrect. The IFRS Foundation’s progress with assisting and implementing (not 
phasing out) XBRL is one of the milestones.  

 
C: Incorrect. Improvement in existing accounting standards is a milestone that the 
SEC will consider prior to their 2011 decision. Suspending all standard setting 
activities would not represent a movement towards accomplishing this milestone. 

 
D: Correct. Proper accountability and secure funding for the IFRS Foundation is a 
milestone that the SEC will consider prior to their 2011 decision. The formation of 
such a coalition would represent a movement towards accomplishing this milestone. 
 
(See page 5-2 of the course material.) 
 

 
3. A: Incorrect. The ability to early adopt IFRS that was originally included in the SEC 

Roadmap was subsequently withdrawn in 2010. 
 

B: Incorrect. Such an action is not consistent with the goals of the SEC Work Plan; 
the SEC will decide in 2011 whether or not to adopt IFRS in the United States. 

 
C: Correct. The SEC Work Plan includes a requirement that its staff members 
analyze whether IFRS are comprehensive, auditable and enforceable, and allow 
financial statement comparability within and across all jurisdictions. 

 
D: Incorrect. Such an action is not consistent with the goals of the SEC Work Plan; 
the SEC does not have the authority to perform such an action. 
 
(See page 5-4 of the course material.) 
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5.2 First-time Adoption (IFRS 1) 
 
As the adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) becomes a more 
likely possibility in the United States, many U.S. companies are beginning to think about 
what their initial financial statements will look like when they convert from U.S. GAAP to 
IFRS. Companies electing to adopt the financial reporting standards of the IASB are 
required to retrospectively apply the international standards that exist as of the 
company’s adoption of IFRS, to all periods presented as if they had always been in 
effect. However, in deliberating how to account for transition to IFRS, the IASB 
recognized there were certain situations in which the cost of a full retrospective 
application of IFRS would exceed the potential benefit to investors and other users of the 
financial statements. In other situations, the Board noted that retrospective application 
would require judgments by management about past conditions after the outcome of a 
particular transaction is already known. As a result, the IASB issued IFRS 1 First-time 
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, which sets forth the guidance 
for entities to follow when preparing their financial statements under IFRS for the first 
time. 
 
5.2.1 OBJECTIVE AND SCOPE 
 
The objective of IFRS 1 is to ensure that an entity’s first IFRS financial statements, and 
its interim financial reports for part of the period covered by those financial statements, 
contain high quality information that: 
 

a) Is transparent for users and comparable over all periods presented; 
 

b) Provides a suitable starting point for accounting in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs); and 

 
c) Can be generated at a cost that does not exceed the benefits. 

 
An entity must apply this IFRS in its first IFRS financial statements and each interim 
financial report, if any, that it presents in accordance with IAS 34, Interim Financial 
Reporting, for part of the period covered by its first IFRS financial statements. 
 
An entity’s first IFRS financial statements are the first annual financial statements in 
which the entity adopts IFRSs by an explicit and unreserved statement in those financial 
statements of compliance with IFRSs.  
 
5.2.2 KEY DATES 
 
Two key dates must be determined under IFRS 1: “first reporting date” and “transition 
date.” The “first reporting date” is the year-end date for the period for which IFRS is 
first applied. For example, December 31, 2015 would be the first reporting date for a 
calendar year-end company that elects to begin reporting under IFRS in its 2015 
financial statements. The “transition date” is the opening date of the earliest period for 
which full comparative financial statements under IFRS are presented. Based on the 
example above, if a U.S. company were required to present three years of comparative 
financial statements (2013, 2014 and 2015), the transition date would be January 1, 
2013. 
 

Adoption 5-8 
 



5.2.3 RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT 
 
An entity must prepare and present an opening IFRS statement of financial position at 
the date of transition to IFRSs. This is the starting point for its accounting in accordance 
with IFRSs. Any accounting policy elections effected in the “first reporting date” IFRS 
financial statements also must be applied to the company’s transition date (opening) 
balance sheet and applied consistently for all periods presented. 
 
When preparing an opening IFRS statement of financial position, an entity must: 
 

a) Recognize all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by IFRSs; 
 

b) Not recognize items as assets or liabilities if IFRSs do not permit such 
recognition; 

 
c) Reclassify items that it recognized in accordance with previous GAAP as one 

type of asset, liability or component of equity, but are a different type of asset, 
liability or component of equity in accordance with IFRSs; and 

 
d) Apply IFRSs in measuring all recognized assets and liabilities. 

 
However, as previously stated, the IASB recognized that there were certain areas for 
which the cost of retrospective application of IFRS may outweigh the benefits (and may, 
in fact, even be impossible). Therefore, IFRS 1 provides certain voluntary exemptions 
that relate to specific areas of accounting and provide for special accounting treatment 
as part of a company’s first-time adoption of IFRS. These exemptions include the 
following: 
 

• Business combinations: IFRS 1 allows a first-time adopter to elect to not 
restate the accounting under previous GAAP for business combinations that 
occurred before the transition date to IFRS. But, if a first-time adopter elects to 
restate any pre-transition date business combination, it must restate all 
subsequent business combinations. For example, if a company elects to restate 
a business combination that took place in 2007, it must restate all business 
combinations from 2007 forward. For companies that elect not to restate prior 
business combinations, the standard has certain requirements for those prior 
business combinations, such as: 

 
o The basis of accounting for the business combinations under previous 

GAAP cannot be changed. For example, a transaction accounted for 
using pooling of interests could not be changed, even though pooling is 
not permitted under IFRS. 

 
o Immediately after the business combination, the amounts allocated to 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the consummation date of the 
business combination represent their deemed costs (described later in 
this course) for the purposes of applying the relevant IFRS standards to 
such assets and liabilities post combination. 
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As a result of applying IFRS for the first time, other adjustments to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination may still be 
required, even though the business combination itself is not restated. Such 
adjustments are accounted for as an adjustment to retained earnings (not as an 
adjustment to goodwill), with limited exceptions. For example, if an entity elects 
to revalue its fixed assets as part of its adoption of IFRS, even if those fixed 
assets were originally acquired as part of a business combination, the effect of 
that revaluation is accounted for as an adjustment to retained earnings and not 
as an adjustment to the goodwill associated with the acquisition. Moreover, any 
consequential adjustments to minority interest and deferred tax also must be 
recognized, as appropriate. 

 
• Property, plant and equipment: In connection with its first-time adoption of 

IFRS, a company may elect to treat the fair value of property, plant and 
equipment at the date of transition as the “deemed cost” for IFRS.1 In addition, a 
company may elect to use a previous valuation of an item of property, plant and 
equipment (for example, a valuation previously performed for purposes of testing 
for an impairment of the carrying amount under ASC 360), at or before the 
transition date as the deemed cost for IFRS, as long as the company 
appropriately depreciates the item of property, plant and equipment in 
accordance with IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, from that measurement 
date forward. These exemptions may also be applied to investment property and 
certain intangible assets.  

 
• Employee benefits: For all defined benefit plans, IFRS 1 allows a company to 

reset to zero all cumulative actuarial gains and losses at the transition date, even 
if the company intends to select a different accounting treatment for such gains 
and losses going forward (for example, to use the corridor approach). If this 
exemption is used, it must be used for all employee benefit plans. This gives 
companies the ability to start their accounting under IFRS with a “clean state” as 
it pertains to actuarial gains and losses.  

 
• Foreign exchange differences: IFRS 1 provides a company with the option to 

restate to zero all of the cumulative translation differences arising on monetary 
items that form part of a company’s net investment in a foreign operation existing 
as of the transition date. However, all differences arising after the transition date 
must be accounted for in accordance with IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in 
Foreign Exchange Rates. 

 
• Compound financial instruments: Under IFRS, an instrument with 

characteristics of both debt and equity (e.g., a convertible bond) is subject to so-
called “split” accounting, whereby the issue proceeds are separated into their 
debt and equity components, which are then accounted for separately. On 
transition, IFRS 1 provides that split accounting need not be applied to a 
compound instrument if the liability component of that instrument is no longer 
outstanding at the transition date. 

 

                                                 
1 IFRS 1 defines deemed cost as “an amount used as a surrogate for cost or depreciated cost at a given 
date,” and indicates that subsequent depreciation of those assets assumes that the entity initially recognized 
the assets as of that given date and that its cost was equal to the deemed cost. 
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• Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures: IFRS 1 
provides that when a subsidiary converts (for the purposes of its standalone 
financial statements) to IFRS at a later date than its parent, the subsidiary may 
measure its assets and liabilities either in accordance with IFRS 1 as applied at 
the subsidiary level, or at the amounts at which they are included in the parent’s 
financial statements. A similar choice may be made by equity-method investees 
(termed “associates” under IFRS) or joint ventures that adopt IFRS later than the 
organization that exercises significant influence or joint control over them. 
However, if a parent adopts IFRS later than its subsidiaries, associates or joint 
ventures, the parent must measure the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries, 
associates or joint ventures in its consolidated financial statements at the same 
carrying amounts as reported in the IFRS-based standalone financial statements 
of the subsidiary, associate, or joint venture. 

 
• Share-based payment transactions: IFRS 1 provides companies with the 

choice of whether or not to apply the fair value approach in accounting for share-
based payment arrangements to equity instruments that vested before the 
transition date. As a result, companies converting to IFRS are required to apply 
the fair value approach in accounting for equity instruments only to those that 
remain unvested as of their transition date. In addition, IFRS 1 provides 
companies with the option of applying the requirements of IFRS 2 to liabilities 
arising from share-based payment transactions that were settled prior to the 
transition date. 

 
• Other voluntary exemptions: These include: 

 
- Designation of previously recognized financial instruments – allows 

any entity to make an available-for-sale designation at the date of 
transition to IFRS and to designate at the transition date any financial 
asset or financial liability as at “fair value through profit or loss” provided 
the asset or liability meets certain criteria. 

 
- Insurance contracts – allows an entity to use the transitional provisions 

provided in IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, upon first time adoption. IFRS 4 
restricts the changes in accounting policies for insurance contracts, 
including changes made by a first-time adopter. 

 
- Decommissioning liabilities – exempts a first-time adopter from 

applying the requirements of IFRIC 1, Changes in Existing 
Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar Liabilities, fully retrospectively 
in determining the IFRS carrying amount of the assets to which the 
decommissioning liabilities relate. 

 
- Leases – allows a first-time adopter to apply the transitional provisions in 

IFRIC 4, Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease.  
 

- Fair value measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities – 
allows entities to apply the valuation techniques within the international 
standards prospectively to transactions entered into after January 1, 
2004. 
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- Service concession arrangements – allows a first time adopter to apply 
the transitional provisions in IFRIC 12, Service Concession 
Arrangements. 

 
- Borrowing costs – allows a company to apply the transitional provisions 

of IAS 23, Borrowing Costs, at the date of transition to IFRS. 
 
While IFRS 1 allows for voluntary exemptions from restatement as described above, it 
also specifically prohibits restatement for certain transactions upon the initial adoption of 
IFRS, as the respective application in those areas would require judgments by 
management about past conditions after the outcome of the particular transactions. The 
mandatory exceptions are: (1) accounting for the derecognition of financial assets and 
liabilities, (2) retrospective hedge designation, (3) assets classified as held for sale, (4) 
discontinued operations, (5) some aspects of accounting for non-controlling interests, 
and (6) estimates. 
 
5.2.4 DISCLOSURES 
 
Reconciliations 
 
IFRS 1 requires companies to include a number of reconciliations in their first financial 
statements presented under IFRS as follows: 
 

 A reconciliation of the company’s equity previously reported under U.S. GAAP 
as of its transition date (in the example noted in section 5.2.2, January, 1 2013) 
to its equity restated under IFRS at that date; 

 
 A reconciliation of the company’s equity previously reported under U.S. GAAP 

as of the entity’s most recent annual financial statements under U.S. GAAP (or, 
31 December 2014 in our example) to its equity restated under IFRS at that 
date; and 

 
 A reconciliation of its last published U.S. GAAP total comprehensive income (or, 

31 December 2014 in our example) with its restated IFRS comprehensive 
income for the same period. 

 
For all three of the reconciliations required, companies must distinguish between GAAP 
differences and correction of errors. IFRS 1 further requires that companies that prepare 
their interim reports in accordance with IAS 34 must include reconciliations similar to 
those described above in respect of each interim period reported on in the first year that 
IFRS is adopted. 
 
Impairment losses recognized in connection with adoption of IFRS 
 
If the company recognized or reversed any impairment losses in preparing its opening 
IFRS balance sheet, IFRS 1 requires the company to include the disclosures required by 
IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, as if those impairment losses or reversals had been 
recognized in the period beginning with the transition date.  
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Periods Presented 
 
IFRS 1 requires a company to prepare and present an opening balance sheet as of its 
transition date (that is, 1 January 2013 in the above example). This opening balance 
sheet must be in accordance with the IFRS in effect as of the company’s first reporting 
date (that is, 31 December 2015). The opening balance sheet forms the starting point for 
subsequent reporting under IFRS. 
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REVIEW QUESTIONS 5.2 
 

The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of 
the information presented in the chapter. They do not need to be submitted in order to 
receive CPE credit. They are included as an additional tool to enhance your learning 
experience. 
 
We recommend that you answer each review question and then compare your response to 
the suggested solution before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter. 
 
1. Which of the following “statements of compliance,” included in an entity’s first set of 

IFRS financial statements, is consistent with the requirements of IFRS 1: 
  
a) Company A states that its financial statements comply with IFRS, except 

whereas noted 
b) Company B states that its financial statements comply with IFRS 
c) Company C states that its financial statements comply with its local GAAP and 

include a supplemental reconciliation to IFRS 
d) Company D states that its financial statements do not comply with IFRS 
 

Use the following for questions 2-4: Four companies have elected to adopt IFRS and are 
preparing their first set of IFRS financial statements. 

  
2. Which of the following accounting practices is most consistent with the requirements 

of IFRS 1: 
  
a) Company A applies IFRS only to the current reporting period results 
b) Company B restates the accounting for its business combinations that occurred 

prior to the IFRS transition date 
c) Company C retrospectively applies IFRS to all periods presented 
d) Company D recognizes items as assets and liabilities even if IFRSs do not permit 

such recognition 
 

3. Company D is an SEC registrant that adopts IFRS in 2015. The company will be 
required to provide IFRS audited financial statements for the years: 
 
a) 2015 only 
b) 2015 and 2014  
c) 2015, 2014, and 2013 
d) 2015, 2014, 2013, and 2012 

 
4. Which of the following accounting practices is optional under IFRS 1: 

 
a) Company A retrospectively applies IFRS to all periods presented 
b) Company B carries forward all cumulative actuarial gains and losses on its 

defined benefit plans 
c) Company C reconciles the company’s equity previously reported under U.S. 

GAAP to its equity restated under IFRS 
d) Company D includes disclosures regarding the reversal of any impairment losses 

recognized when preparing its opening balance sheet 
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES 5.2 
 
1. A: Incorrect. Reporting entities must comply with all IFRSs in accordance with IFRS 

1. Partial compliance is not permitted. 
 

B: Correct. An entity’s first IFRS financial statements are the first annual financial 
statements in which the entity adopts IFRSs, by an explicit and unreserved 
statement in those financial statements of compliance with IFRSs. 

 
C: Incorrect. Financial statements must comply with IFRS in order to be in 
compliance with IFRS 1. Such presentation is not permitted. 

 
D: Incorrect. Reporting entities must comply with all IFRSs in accordance with IFRS 
1. Piecemeal compliance is not permitted. 
 
(See page 5-8 of the course material.) 
 

 
2. A: Incorrect. IFRS 1 requires retrospective application. 
 

B: Incorrect. IFRS 1 permits first-time adopters to elect to not restate the accounting 
for certain business combinations. 

 
C: Correct. Companies electing to adopt the financial reporting standards of the 
IASB are required to retrospectively apply the international standards that exist as of 
the company’s adoption of IFRS to all periods presented as if they had always been 
in effect. 

 
D: Incorrect. When preparing an IFRS statement of financial position, an entity must 
recognize all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by IFRS. 
 
(See page 5-8 of the course material.) 
 

 
3. A: Incorrect. Three years are required (not one). 
 

B: Incorrect. Three years are required (not two). 
 

C: Correct. If an eligible U.S. issuer chooses to transition to IFRS, the proposed 
amendments would require that the first filing using IFRS be an annual report on 
Form 10-K containing three years of audited financial statements (2015, 2014, and 
2013 in this example). 

 
D: Incorrect. Three years are required (not four). 
 
(See page 5-8 of the course material.) 
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4. A: Incorrect. Companies electing to adopt IFRS are required to retrospectively apply 
IFRS to all periods presented under IFRS 1. 

 
B: Correct. For all defined benefit plans, IFRS 1 provides a company the option to 
reset to zero all cumulative actuarial gains and losses at the transition date. 

 
C: Incorrect. Companies electing to adopt IFRS are required to reconcile their equity 
previously reported under U.S. GAAP to their restated IFRS equity under IFRS 1. 

 
D: Incorrect. Companies electing to adopt IFRS are required to include such 
disclosures under IFRS 1. 
 
(See page 5-10 of the course material.) 

 
 

Adoption 5-16 
 



5.3 Assessing the Impact 
 
IFRS is rapidly gaining acceptance around the world, spurring U.S. companies to assess 
the potential implications of adopting the standard. By 2015, almost every country 
around the world could be using IFRS to some extent, including the United States. 
 
Company leaders need to get familiar with “big picture” issues to fully understand the 
impact a move to IFRS will have on their organizations. Gaining this perspective will help 
determine an approach that coordinates key constituents, considers the organization’s 
current state of readiness, and identifies priorities to inform the development of an 
eventual IFRS implementation strategy. 
 
Understanding the impact of IFRS on various aspects of a company is important to 
preparing a successful implementation. The planning process typically includes 
assessing technical accounting, tax, internal processes and statutory reporting, 
technology infrastructure and organizational issues. 
 
5.3.1 ACCOUNTING POLICY 
 
CFOs, controllers, and chief accounting officers should expect technical accounting 
challenges when moving from U.S. GAAP to IFRS. Companies will need to take into 
account more than measurable differences between the two sets of standards – it will 
also be necessary to develop a framework and approach that can be used to determine 
appropriate accounting. Key considerations include: 
 

• Principles versus rules. A move to principles-based accounting will require a 
change in mindset and approach. In U.S. GAAP, the volume of rules is large – 
perhaps larger than any other GAAP in the world. However, once the correct rule 
is identified, there should be a sound accounting outcome. IFRS has fewer 
detailed rules and more judgment is generally required to determine how to 
account for a transaction. Under IFRS, there is increased focus on the substance 
of transactions. Evaluating whether the accounting presentation reflects the 
economic reality and ensuring that similar transactions are accounted for 
consistently are important steps to determining the appropriate treatment under 
IFRS. Public company CEOs and CFOs will be required to make certifications on 
IFRS financial statements in filings with the SEC. Companies will need to ensure 
that when judgments are challenged, they can sufficiently support them. 

 
• Application considerations. Accounting differences between IFRS and U.S. 

GAAP will vary. Some differences will be significant; others will be seen in the 
details, or depend on the company’s industry. Accounting alternatives should be 
evaluated from a global perspective – not only for prospective policy-setting, but 
also in making elections and applying exemptions related to retrospective IFRS 
application upon initial adoption. Those companies that approach IFRS from a 
perspective of minimizing differences with U.S. GAAP may record adjustments 
only where required. Others that take the “fresh start” will consider adopting new 
accounting policies in additional areas where the outcome is more representative 
of the underlying economics. Overall, the technical accounting aspects of IFRS 
adoption will be challenging. 
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• First time adoption considerations. As discussed in section 5.2.3, IFRS 1 
grants limited exemptions from the need to comply with certain aspects of IFRS 
upon initial adoption, where the cost of compliance could potentially exceed the 
benefits to users of financial statements. Exemptions exist in many areas, such 
as business combinations, share-based payments, and certain aspects of 
accounting for financial instruments. Companies will need to decide which 
exemptions are the appropriate ones to use. 

 
Key action steps to be taken to assess these issues include: 
 

• Understand the key areas of IFRS and U.S. GAAP differences. There will be 
many differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS to assess. Some will require 
minor modifications and others will have a significant impact on the organization. 
Identifying these differences and determining the level of effort required by the 
organization to address these changes is an important step in developing an 
IFRS conversion strategy. 

 
• Determine the accounting policy impact of differences. The differences 

between IFRS and U.S. GAAP may also impact many current accounting 
policies. Some areas of accounting will require different policies under IFRS as 
compared with U.S. GAAP due to a clear difference in standards. In other areas, 
there will be no differences and in others still, there may or may not be 
differences, depending on a company’s choices under IFRS. Understanding and 
addressing the necessary policy changes will also be an important step towards 
conversion. 

 
5.3.2 TAX 
 
Understanding tax consequences of IFRS will be important for finance and tax 
executives to consider – if they’d like to help support appropriate tax results for the 
organization down the road. As with any tax accounting issue, the effort for an IFRS 
conversion will require close collaboration between finance and tax departments. Key 
considerations include: 
 
• Conversion timing. Consider developments around ASC 740, Income Taxes, 

(formerly SFAS 109). Should the FASB revise ASC 740, changes to the financial 
reporting of income taxes may occur in two stages: first the adoption of a revised 
ASC 740 standard for reporting under U.S. GAAP resulting from the convergence 
project underway by the IASB and FASB; and second the conversion to IAS 12, 
Income Taxes, in place of ASC 740 as a result of a full conversion to IFRS. In the 
absence of such a revision, adoption of IAS 12 would occur as part of a full 
conversion. 

 
• Differences in accounting for income taxes. Although IAS 12 and ASC 740 

have much in common, differences currently exist between the two standards. 
Many of these differences are expected to be eliminated as a result of the joint 
IASB/FASB convergence effort. However, some areas of divergence will remain, 
including, for example, uncertain tax positions, leveraged leases, and deferred 
taxes related to share-based payments.  
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• Tax accounting methods. Companies that make the most of a conversion to 
IFRS will approach the undertaking as more than a mere “IAS 12 vs. ASC 740” 
exercise. It is important to address the tax consequences of the pre-tax 
differences between IFRS and local GAAP because a conversion to IFRS requires 
changes to several financial accounting methods. Since the starting point in most 
jurisdictions for the calculation of taxable income is book income as reported in 
accordance with local GAAP, companies may need to re-evaluate their existing 
tax accounting methods. 

 
• Global tax planning. Global tax planning may need to be revisited to address the 

potential changes associated with conversion timetables in all jurisdictions and 
ultimately a full IFRS global conversion. For example, tax planning in connection 
with IFRS should consider changes in the global effective tax rate that may arise 
as a result of the following: 

 
o The requirement under IAS 12 rather than ASC 740 to recognize both 

current and deferred taxes on the intercompany sale of inventory and 
other assets. 

o The requirement under IAS 12 to recognize deferred taxes on exchange 
rate fluctuations for temporary differences of foreign subsidiaries that use 
the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. 

 
Key action steps to be taken to assess these issues include: 
 

• Determine changes to key tax positions, provisions, processes, and 
technology. An IFRS tax assessment is likely to identify tax positions and tax 
accounting methods that may be impacted by changes to financial reporting 
standards. Tax professionals should consider performing a high level impact 
analysis that highlights potential changes to the tax provision in the following 
areas: 
 

o Deferred income tax 
o Current income tax on a country-by-country basis 
o Indirect tax (VAT, GST, etc.) 
 

• Based on the results of this analysis, companies can begin to assess the impact 
of conversion on tax processes and technology. 

 
• Identify and inventory tax issues and opportunities. Another important step in 

a conversion to IFRS involves identification of first-time adoption issues, such as 
conversion elections available under transitional tax rules and other IFRS 
accounting standards that may have an impact. Taking an inventory of tax issues 
and planning opportunities, as well as developing a roadmap to address overall 
IFRS tax conversion issues, will be important to capture the tax related costs and 
benefits associated with a conversion. Additionally, a well thought out plan will 
help prioritize and incorporate significant tax issues into the overall conversion 
timeline. 
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5.3.3 INTERNAL PROCESSES AND STATUTORY REPORTING 
 
A move towards a single set of global accounting standards is expected to lead to 
greater efficiency and internal control improvements for multinational companies. To 
make this move and to realize benefits, a number of financial reporting processes will 
likely have to be evaluated and/or fine-tuned. Key considerations include: 
 

• Close and Consolidation. A move to IFRS may require changes in charts of 
accounts to ensure relevant information is captured appropriately. It could involve 
changing current corporate consolidation processes, or adjusting the existing 
close calendar. 

 
• Management Reporting. It is likely that metrics used as the basis for measuring 

performance in management reporting will be impacted by a change to IFRS. 
There may be a need to develop new performance metrics to measure 
performance and benchmark against competitors. 

 
• Internal Controls. A move to a new basis of accounting, including a shift from 

rules to principles and changes to financial systems, will affect the internal control 
environment. Documentation will need to be updated and processes put in place 
to mitigate new risks. 

 
• Statutory Reporting. For many U.S.-based multinational companies, IFRS 

statutory reporting is already a reality at some subsidiaries. Historically, statutory 
reporting has primarily been accomplished at international locations and has 
received less attention at a corporate level. However, in an IFRS environment, 
the potential for adoption of a consistent set of accounting standards at many 
locations causes a need for consistent application throughout the organization – 
it also creates an opportunity for standardizing and centralizing statutory 
reporting activities. 

 
Key action steps to be taken to assess these issues include: 
 

• Take an IFRS inventory. Inventory your current IFRS reporting requirements 
and locations to understand the extent to which you may already be reporting 
under IFRS, or where it is now permissible, and identify the resources you have 
within your organization to assist in the IFRS effort. 

 
• Review IFRS application. It is also important to assess how consistently IFRS 

accounting policies are applied at all IFRS reporting locations. 
 
5.3.4 TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
Changes in accounting policies and financial reporting processes can also have a 
significant impact on a company’s financial systems and reporting infrastructure. These 
changes may require some adjustments to financial reporting systems, existing 
interfaces and underlying databases to incorporate specific data to support IFRS 
reporting. CFOs will need to collaborate with their IT counterparts to review systems 
implications of IFRS. Key considerations include: 
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• Upstream Systems. The transition from local GAAPs to IFRS can often result in 
additional reporting requirements in complex areas such as taxes, financial 
instruments, share-based payments and fixed assets, to name a few. Not only 
may system adjustments be necessary to address these complex areas, but also 
modifications to the interfaces between these source systems and the general 
ledger may also be required. In instances where this information is currently being 
gathered through the use of complex spreadsheets, the adoption of IFRS may 
serve as a catalyst that some companies may need to bring about long overdue 
updates to these processes and make critical adjustments for supporting source 
systems. 

 
• General Ledger. IFRS conversions may require changes to the chart of accounts 

and modifications to capture IFRS-specific data requirements. In addition, during 
the transition to IFRS, general ledger reporting will likely need to accommodate 
multiple ledgers (under U.S. GAAP and IFRS) and the maintenance of multiple 
ledger structures during transition will require planning. In the long term however, 
conversions can also provide the opportunity to streamline your financial reporting 
systems by reducing the number of general ledgers previously required under a 
local GAAP reporting structure. 

 
• Reporting Data Warehouse. Current systems may not have the functionality to 

handle IFRS requirements, so changes in financial information requirements due 
to IFRS should be identified – and the impact of these requirements on the 
existing data models should be assessed. Valuation systems and actuarial models 
will also need to be evaluated to accommodate IFRS changes. 

 
• Downstream Reporting. The conversion to IFRS can also result in changes to 

the number of consolidated entities, mapping structures and financial statement 
reporting formats, all of which will require adjustments to the consolidation system. 
External reporting templates will need to be evaluated to identify changes 
necessary to support increased or different disclosures under IFRS. 

 
Key action steps to be taken to assess these issues include: 
 

• Determine IFRS impact on technical infrastructure. Once the scope and 
extent of technical accounting differences have been identified, an important next 
step is determining the impact on information systems and system interfaces. 
IFRS can have broad implications on front end systems, general ledgers, sub-
ledgers and reporting applications that may all need to be evaluated as part of an 
impact analysis. 

 
• Identify the impact on existing system projects. As new systems projects are 

scoped and planned, it is important to align these project requirements with the 
likely impact of IFRS reporting. 
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Exhibit 5.2 Potential Systems Impacts of U.S. GAAP/IFRS Differences 
 

Upstream 
Systems 

General Ledger Reporting Data 
Warehouse 

Downstream 
Reports and 

Systems 

Infrastructure 

Differences in 
the accounting 
treatment 
between current 
accounting 
standards and 
IFRS will likely 
create a need for 
some new input 
data 
 
Data and 
transactions that 
are captured, 
stored, and 
ultimately sent 
to/or used to 
support financial 
systems may not 
have all needed 
attributes or 
qualities, and 
may require 
configuration 
changes to 
accommodate 
these attributes 
 
Sub ledgers 
within the ERP 
may have 
additional 
functionality to 
support IFRS 
which is currently 
not being 
utilized, which 
could be 
implemented 
 
Transformation 
layers (if used) 
are not likely to 
have been 
designed with 
IFRS in mind; 
data 
sender/receiver 
structures may 
need to be 
modified 

Differences in 
the accounting 
treatment 
between current 
accounting 
standards and 
IFRS will likely 
drive changes to 
General Ledger 
design, and 
Chart of 
Accounts 
 
Multinational 
companies may 
ultimately realize 
a need to modify 
their book/ledger 
structure to 
ensure 
compliance with 
multiple financial 
reporting formats 
 
Multi-ledger 
accounting 
functionality 
within newer 
releases of ERPs 
should be 
considered for 
long-term 
solutions 
 
Differences that 
arise in 
accounting 
treatment 
between current 
accounting 
standards and 
IFRS may create 
a need for new 
expense 
allocations and 
other 
calculations 
 
Changes to IFRS 
will likely 
necessitate 

More extensive 
disclosure 
requirements in 
IFRS likely 
require 
consistent 
reporting and 
usage of 
financial data 
that may not be 
standardized in 
current data 
models 
 
Increased need 
for documented 
assumptions, 
sensitivity 
analyses, 
potential factors 
that could affect 
future 
development and 
may expand the 
scope of 
information 
managed 
financial systems 
 
Data governance 
functions and 
meta data 
repositories may 
need to be 
created or 
adjusted to 
reflect revised 
data models 
 
Current valuation 
systems may not 
have functionality 
to handle IFRS 
requirements 
 
Data 
warehouses may 
need to support 
consolidated 
financial 
information from 

The differences 
that arise in the 
accounting 
treatment 
between current 
accounting 
standards and 
IFRS will create 
a need for 
changes in 
reporting 
 
Assumption 
changes from 
period to period 
can introduce 
significant 
volatility and 
require detailed 
support for 
changes, 
requiring design 
of additional 
reports 
 
External 
reporting 
templates will 
likely require 
revisions to 
reflect IFRS 
requirements 
 
Increased 
disclosures such 
as sensitivity 
tests and roll-
forwards may 
require additional 
ad-hoc query 
capabilities 
 
Budget and 
forecasting 
systems will 
ultimately need 
to be adjusted to 
accommodate 
IFRS reporting 
standards 
 

Middleware 
carrying IFRS-
related 
transactions may 
be updated with 
additional detail 
by adding 
transactions or 
data attributes 
 
Rules engines 
affecting financial 
transactions may 
need to be 
updated or 
implemented 
 
Operational data 
stores may 
require 
modification and 
expansion to 
accept the 
greater level of 
detail required 
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Over time, the 
potential for 
acquisitions of 
companies using 
IFRS will 
increase; altering 
source systems 
and extract, 
transform, and 
load (ETL) tools 
to provide all 
needed data 
elements will 
make 
integrations 
significantly more 
efficient 

adjusting various 
processes, which 
may impact 
configuration of 
the financial 
applications 

multiple financial 
systems and 
ledgers 

Decision support 
systems 
comparing U.S. 
GAAP to IFRS, 
with 
reconciliations 
that may need to 
be created 

 
 
5.3.5 ORGANIZATIONAL ISSUES 
 
Organizational changes that are this pervasive require planning, communication, and 
training throughout the organization. Another important aspect of the planning process is 
considering organizational issues that, when identified up front, can help pave the way 
and support the eventual IFRS implementation. 
 
Key considerations for human resources and finance leaders to review include: 
 

• Organizational Readiness. An important step to assessing the impact of IFRS 
is to understand the company’s current awareness of IFRS and determine what 
type of education program will be needed. In addition to having an internal 
communication strategy, other awareness-building activities, such as executive 
briefing sessions and workshops, should also be considered to help develop 
consensus regarding IFRS initiatives. 
 

• Training and Learning. IFRS training should extend beyond the technical 
accounting personnel and may pose a significant challenge for organizations. A 
conversion to IFRS will require stakeholders throughout the company to be 
trained appropriately. This will require training or workshops to address ongoing 
learning needs. 

 
• Stakeholder Communication. Converting to IFRS also means anticipating the 

information and communication needs of external stakeholder groups, including 
the board, shareholders, lenders, and analysts, among others. For example, 
financial knowledge for board members related to IFRS will need to be 
supported. 
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Key action steps to be taken to assess these issues include: 
 

• Conduct a key stakeholder analysis. IFRS can have many impacts on an 
organization. Identifying target audiences and stakeholder groups impacted by 
IFRS and assessing their current level of understanding and communication 
needs is an important step in planning for the impacts of IFRS. 

 
• Develop IFRS communication and training plans. Communication and 

training will be an essential element in effectively planning for and managing the 
necessary changes resulting from an IFRS conversion. Establishing a proactive 
plan to address the near and long-term training and communication requirements 
for each stakeholder group can further support the overall IFRS plan. 

 
5.4 The Costs and Benefits of Adoption 
 
According to a study released by Accenture (an IFRS consulting firm), U.S. executives 
expect to pay more than their European counterparts did to convert to International 
Financial Reporting Standards. Depending on company size, they estimated spending 
between 0.1% and 0.7% of annual revenue to move from U.S. GAAP to the global rules, 
an endeavor publicly traded companies in Europe undertook in 2005 at an average cost 
of 0.05% of revenue. In addition, the executives expected to pay more than the 0.125% 
to 0.13% of revenue that the SEC estimated as the average for U.S. companies. 
 
The adoption of IFRS could be harder on American businesses for several reasons. For 
one, U.S. companies will have to run GAAP and IFRS simultaneously under the SEC's 
plan and in order to meet statutory and regulatory requirements outside the SEC's 
purview, such as for filings made with the IRS. In addition, the European experience is 
viewed to have been a bit easier because the countries' accounting rules were fairly 
similar to the principles-based IFRS, whereas GAAP is considered more rules-based, or 
prescriptive. 
 
Costs will likely depend on a company's industry, size and complexity, staffing abilities, 
and accounting policies. Smaller companies will likely have a disproportionately higher 
cost to begin the conversion process, if regulators mandate that they, as well as their 
larger counterparts, move to IFRS. Companies with revenue between $1 billion and $4.9 
billion – the lowest category in the Accenture survey – predicted they would spend 0.731 
percent of their revenue on the change. Compare that to the companies with revenue 
over $50 billion that expect to spend only 0.103% of their revenue. 
 
So in light of the substantial cost that U.S. companies will incur, why is this shift to 
International Financial Reporting Standards occurring? Four factors stand out: 
 

1. Globalization. The globalization of business and finance is the key factor driving 
the demand for a common set of high-quality, global accounting standards. IFRS 
has been successfully adopted by more than 12,000 companies in almost a 
hundred countries. The U.S. is the largest of the few remaining hold-outs. 

 
2. Complexity of current U.S. standards. Decades of detailed guidance and 

bright-line accounting treatments from multiple U.S. standard-setting bodies are 
increasingly difficult to navigate and apply. The result has been a higher cost of 
compliance and increasing incidents of mistakes in applying the standards.  
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3. Convergence difficulties. To date, the path to a common set of global 
standards has been an attempted convergence between IFRS and U.S. GAAP. 
Much good has been accomplished since the FASB and the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) agreed in 2002 to embark on an effort to 
align their standards. Both boards remain strongly committed to a convergence 
agenda. But complete convergence may elude the standard setters because of 
differing cultural, legal, regulatory and economic environments. Nonetheless, the 
difficulty and cost of maintaining two sets of standards may not be sustainable. 

 
4. Cost efficiencies. IFRS may represent a significant cost savings opportunity, 

since it affords the following advantages: 
 

a. Standardized, improved, and consistent set of accounting and financial 
reporting policies for both local statutory and consolidated reporting, 
which can improve the comparability of financial information and tax 
planning. 

 
b. Improved communication among subsidiaries – IFRS provides a universal 

accounting language, which can improve management reporting and 
decision making. 

 
c. More efficient use and availability of resources – IFRS provides an 

opportunity for developing centralized accounting processes through a 
shared-services approach, facilitating the efficient use of resources, 
standardizing training programs, eliminating divergent accounting 
systems, and reducing third-party fees related to local statutory reporting. 
 

d. Improved controls – IFRS allows for more control over statutory reporting 
to help reduce the risk related to penalties and compliance problems at 
the local level. 

 
e. Better cash management – Dividends that can be paid from subsidiaries 

are based on local financial statements. A change from local GAAP to 
IFRS can have significant effects on cash dividends, facilitating a 
consistent standard across countries that can help improve cash flow 
planning. 

 
Time will tell whether the benefits offered by a transition to IFRS outweigh the enormous 
cost that will certainly be incurred by U.S. companies in the near future. 
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REVIEW QUESTIONS 5.3 
 
The following questions are designed to ensure that you have a complete understanding of 
the information presented in the chapter. They do not need to be submitted in order to 
receive CPE credit. They are included as an additional tool to enhance your learning 
experience. 
 
We recommend that you answer each review question and then compare your response to 
the suggested solution before answering the final exam questions related to this chapter. 
 
1. Which of the following action steps would be the most appropriate when assessing 

the impact of adopting IFRS: 
 
a) Company A is reviewing its technology infrastructure and tax reporting processes 

for potential issues 
b) Company B is planning to maintain all of its existing U.S. GAAP accounting 

practices under IFRS  
c) Company C is planning to maintain its existing accounting systems without any 

significant modifications 
d) Company D is planning to adopt IFRS in its financial reports on a piecemeal 

basis over the next few years 
 

Use the following for questions 2-3: Wagner Co. is an SEC registrant that resides in the 
United States. Wagner is currently analyzing the costs and benefits of adopting IFRS for 
their SEC filings in 2011. Many of Wagner’s competitors are foreign-based companies 
that already report financial results using IFRS. 
 
2. Wagner’s technology costs associated with adoption will likely increase due to the 

project’s impact on their: 
 
a) security systems 
b) customer database  
c) upstream and downstream systems 
d) hardware requirements 
 

3. Which of the following represents a likely benefit for Wagner Co. by adopting IFRS: 
 
a) more detailed guidance on their most complex accounting topics 
b) improved comparability of financial information with their competitors  
c) significant cost savings opportunities (pre-adoption) 
d) formal oversight of the standard setting process by the SEC 
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SOLUTIONS AND SUGGESTED RESPONSES 5.3 
 
1. A: Correct. Companies wishing to assess the impact of adopting IFRS should 

review several areas of their business for potential issues including accounting, tax, 
technology, etc. 
 
B: Incorrect. Such an approach would not likely be appropriate due to the numerous 
differences that exist between U.S. GAAP and IFRS. 

 
C: Incorrect. Such an approach would not likely be appropriate due to the numerous 
differences that exist between U.S. GAAP and IFRS. 

 
D: Incorrect. A piecemeal approach towards adoption is not permitted under IFRS 
guidelines. 
 
(See pages 5-17 to 5-18 of the course material.) 
 

 
2. A: Incorrect. The adoption of IFRS will not likely have a significant impact on 

Wagner’s security systems. 
 

B: Incorrect. The adoption of IFRS will not likely have a significant impact on 
Wagner’s customer database. 

 
C: Correct. The adoption of IFRS will most likely have the greatest impact on 
Wagner’s upstream and downstream systems.  

 
D: Incorrect. The adoption of IFRS will not likely have a significant impact on 
Wagner’s hardware requirements. 
 
(See page 5-21 of the course material.) 
 

 
3. A: Incorrect. IFRS contains less detailed (and more “principles-based”) accounting 

guidance. 
 

B: Correct. The improved comparability of financial information with Wagner’s would 
represent a likely benefit resulting from the adoption of IFRS.  

 
C: Incorrect. Wagner would likely incur significant pre-adoption costs. 

 
D: Incorrect. The SEC does not formally oversee the standard setting process. 
 
(See page 5-24 of the course material.) 
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CHAPTER 5 SUMMARY 
 

• In November 2008 the SEC published for comment its proposed ‘Roadmap for 
the Potential Use of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards by U.S. Issuers.’ In the Roadmap, 
the SEC repeated its belief that International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the IASB may be the set of accounting standards that would best 
provide comparable financial information across increasingly global capital 
markets. The SEC Roadmap and SEC Work Plan (released in 2010) spell out 
several milestones that would influence the SEC’s 2011 decision on whether to 
move forward with the adoption of IFRS in the United States. 

 
• IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, sets 

forth the guidance for entities to follow when preparing their financial statements 
under IFRS for the first time. Companies electing to adopt IFRS are required to 
retrospectively apply the international standards that exist as of the company’s 
adoption of IFRS, to all periods presented as if they had always been in effect 
(with certain “voluntary exemptions”). IFRS 1 also requires companies to include 
a number of reconciliations in their first financial statements presented under 
IFRS, including reconciliations of the company’s equity and comprehensive 
income previously reported under U.S. GAAP. 

 
• IFRS is rapidly gaining acceptance around the world, spurring U.S. companies to 

assess the potential implications of adopting the standard. Company leaders 
need to get familiar with “big picture” issues to fully understand the impact a 
move to IFRS will have on their organizations. 
  

• The adoption of IFRS is expected to be very costly for U.S. companies. Costs will 
likely depend on a company's industry, size, complexity, staffing abilities, and 
accounting policies. However, IFRS may represent a significant cost savings 
opportunity, since it affords the following advantages: 
 

- Standardized financial reporting. 
- Improved communication among subsidiaries. 
- More efficient use and availability of resources. 
- Improved controls. 
- Better cash management. 
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Glossary 
 
  
Accrual basis – An accounting basis that requires the effects of transactions and other 
events to be recognized when they occur (and not as cash or its equivalent is received 
or paid). 
 
Asset – A resource controlled by an entity as a result of past events and from which 
future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity. 
 
Comparability – This term included in the IASB Framework refers to the ability of users 
to compare the financial statements of an entity (a) through time and (b) to other entities 
in order to evaluate their relative financial position, performance and changes in financial 
position. 
 
Condorsement – A common term used to describe an SEC framework that would 
involve converging existing IFRS and U.S. GAAP and establishing a FASB endorsement 
process for future IFRS. 
 
Convergence – Ongoing project initiated by the FASB and IASB to reduce the 
differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS and ultimately create one single set of global 
accounting standards. 
 
Current cost – A measurement basis under IFRS; it represents the amount of cash or 
cash equivalents that would have to be paid (received) if the same or an equivalent 
asset (liability) was acquired (settled) currently. 
 
Discussion paper – A comprehensive overview of an accounting issue issued by the 
IASB. It is not considered to be authoritative accounting guidance, but rather a 
discussion of a particular issue. It is normally published to invite public comment. 
 
Elements of financial statements – Broad classes that represent the financial effects 
of transactions and other events included on financial statements. The elements directly 
related to the measurement of financial position in the balance sheet are assets, 
liabilities and equity. The elements directly related to the measurement of performance 
in the income statement are income and expenses.  
 
Equity – The residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. 
 
Expenses – Decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of 
outflows or depletion of assets or incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in 
equity, other than those relating to distributions to equity participants. The definition of 
expenses encompasses losses as well as those expenses that arise in the course of the 
ordinary activities of the entity. 
 
Exposure draft – A document issued by the IASB that sets out a specific proposal in the 
form of a proposed accounting standard (or amendment to an existing standard). 
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Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) – A private, not-for-profit organization 
whose primary purpose is to develop generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) 
within the United States in the public's interest. The FASB's mission is "to establish and 
improve standards of financial accounting and reporting for the guidance and education 
of the public, including issuers, auditors, and users of financial information.” 
 
Financial capital – The net assets or equity of an entity.  
 
Financial statements – Presentation of financial data including balance sheets, income 
statements and statements of cash flows, or any supporting statement that is intended to 
communicate an entity’s financial position at a point in time and its results of operations 
for a period then ended. 
 
Financing activities – Changes in the size and composition of the contributed equity 
and borrowings of an entity. 
 
First reporting date – The year-end date for the period for which IFRS is first applied 
(as defined in IFRS 1). 
 
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements – A 
document issued by the IASB that describes the basic concepts by which financial 
statements are prepared under IFRS. 
 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) – Conventions, rules and 
procedures necessary to define accepted accounting practice at a particular time. The 
highest level of such principles is set by the FASB. 
 
Going concern – The assumption that an entity will continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future. 
 
Historical cost – A measurement basis under IFRS; it represents original cost of an 
asset to an entity.  
 
Income – Increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of 
inflows or enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities that result in increases in 
equity, other than those relating to contributions from equity participants. The definition 
of income encompasses both revenue and gains. 
 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) – A privately funded, London-
based organization whose goal is to establish a single set of enforceable global financial 
reporting standards. 
 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) – A committee 
appointed by the Trustees to assist the IASB in establishing and improving IFRS for the 
benefit of users, preparers, and auditors of financial statements. 
 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) – International standards, 
interpretations and the “Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements” adopted by the IASB. 
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International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Foundation – The legal entity 
under which the IASB operates. The IFRS Foundation is governed by a board of 22 
trustees. 
 
Investing activities – The acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other 
investments not included in cash equivalents. 
 
Joint projects – Projects that the IASB and FASB have agreed to conduct 
simultaneously in a coordinated manner to address various accounting issues. 
 
Liability – The present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the settlement of 
which is expected to result in an outflow from the entity of resources embodying 
economic benefits. 
 
Measurement – The process of determining the monetary amounts at which the 
elements of the financial statements are to be recognized and carried in the balance 
sheet and income statement.  
 
Notes to the financial statements – Supplementary information included in financial 
statements that must: (1) present information about the basis of preparation of the 
financial statements and the specific accounting policies used, (2) disclose the 
information required by IFRSs that is not presented elsewhere in the financial 
statements, and (3) provide information that is not presented elsewhere in the financial 
statements, but is relevant to an understanding of any of them. 
 
Operating activities – The principal revenue-producing activities of a reporting entity. 
They generally result from the transactions and other events that enter into the 
determination of profit or loss. 
 
Physical capital – The productive capacity of an entity based on, for example, units of 
output per day. 
 
Present value – A measurement basis under IFRS; it represents the present discounted 
value of the future net cash inflows (outflows) that the item is expected to generate 
(incur) in the normal course of business. 
 
Principles-based accounting – Guidance that provides a conceptual basis for 
accountants to follow instead of a list of detailed rules. 
 
Realizable value – A measurement basis under IFRS; assets are carried at the amount 
of cash or cash equivalents that could currently be obtained by selling the asset in an 
orderly disposal; liabilities are carried at their settlement values; that is, the undiscounted 
amounts of cash or cash equivalents expected to be paid to satisfy the liabilities in the 
normal course of business. 
 
Recognition – The process of incorporating in the balance sheet or income statement 
an item that meets the definition of an element and satisfies the criteria for recognition 
set out in the IFRS Framework. The Framework states that an item that meets the 
definition of an element should be recognized if: (1) it is probable that any future 
economic benefit associated with the item will flow to or from the entity, and (2) the item 
has a cost or value that can be measured with reliability. 
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Relevance – The usefulness of information to the decision-making needs of users. The 
relevance of information is affected by its nature and materiality. 
 
Reliability – The ability of financial information to represent faithfully the transactions 
and other events it represents. 
 
Roadmap – A proposal issued by the SEC outlining seven milestones that would 
influence the Commission’s 2011 decision on whether to formally adopt IFRS in the 
United States. 
 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) – An independent agency of the United 
States government which holds primary responsibility for enforcing the federal securities 
laws and regulating the securities industry, the nation's stock and options exchanges, 
and other electronic securities markets. 
 
Standards Advisory Council (SAC) – Part of the IASB Structure; it provides a forum 
for participation by organizations and individuals with an interest in international financial 
reporting, and diverse geographical and functional backgrounds. The objectives of the 
SAC is to: (1) give the IASB advice on agenda decisions and priorities in its work, (2) 
inform the IASB of the views of SAC members on major standard-setting projects, and 
(3) give other advice to the IASB or the Trustees. 
 
Statement of cash flows – A financial statement that provides information that enables 
users to evaluate the changes in net assets of an entity, its financial structure (including 
its liquidity and solvency), and its ability to affect the amounts and timing of cash flows in 
order to adapt to changing circumstances and opportunities. 
 
Statement of changes in equity – A financial statement that is used to bridge the gap 
between the amount of equity the owners have in the business at the beginning of the 
accounting period and the amount of their equity at the end of the period. 
 
Statement of comprehensive income – A financial statement that presents all items of 
income and expense recognized in a period. 
 
Statement of financial position – A financial statement that presents an entity’s assets, 
liabilities and owner’s equity as of a specific date. It is also referred to as a balance 
sheet. 
 
Transition date – The opening date of the earliest period for which full comparative 
financial statements under IFRS are presented. 
 
Understandability – A qualitative characteristic of financial statements under the IASB 
Framework. Information provided in financial statements should be readily 
understandable by users. 
 
Voluntary exemptions – Specific exceptions included in IFRS 1 that provide for special 
accounting treatment as part of a company’s first-time adoption of IFRS. 
 
XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language) – An international information 
format designed specifically for business information, also referred to as ‘interactive 
data’ by the SEC. 
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